Development of a Medication Management Program for Developmental Support Workers

by © Julia Bennett

A report submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of

the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Nursing

Faculty of Nursing Memorial University of Newfoundland

December 2023

St. John's Newfoundland and Labrador

Abstract

Background: Medication errors are a worldwide health care problem, which poses a risk to patients, caregivers, and the healthcare system. This risk can be mitigated through effective medication management. At Momentum Developmental Support, developmental support workers (DSWs) provide 24-hour residential care for adults with intellectual disabilities, province wide (Newfoundland). However, DSWs receive minimal training in medication management. Consequently, this could lead to a rise in medication errors, negatively impacting client safety. **Purpose:** The aim of this practicum project is to develop a medication management program to improve DSWs' knowledge, confidence, and skills about medication management. **Methods:** Three key methods were used to develop the medication management resource: 1) an extensive literature review, 2) consultations with managers and DSWs at Momentum, and 3) an environmental scan of available resources. Results: The literature review identified a lack of medication knowledge, confidence, and skills among DSWs, primarily attributed to the absence of hands-on training, which could potentially lead to medication errors. Consultations further confirmed the lack of consistent training and resources for medication management, with a preference for classroom-based learning as the most effective teaching strategy. The environmental scan aligned with these findings, emphasizing the significance of combining theoretical and practical learning in a classroom setting while highlighting the challenges associated with online learning. Conclusion: A half-day medication management workshop was developed to strengthen DSW's knowledge, confidence, and skills about medication management. Key Words: medication management, developmental support workers, educational workshop, knowledge

Acknowledgements

The completion of this challenging program is an accomplishment I am extremely proud of; however, this would not have been possible without the support and encouragement I received from several people throughout this journey.

Thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Abubaker Hamed, for all your help and guidance over these last few semesters. The knowledge and expertise you shared with me had a positive impact on my growth and experience throughout this practicum project.

Thank you to my co-workers and colleagues who assisted me in the development of this project and encouraged me throughout this entire degree. This would not have been possible without your feedback, expertise, and unwavering support.

Thank you to my parents for always supporting my life goals and encouraging me to work hard. They provided the motivation and determination I needed whenever things got tough. I am fortunate to have such supportive and loving parents in my life.

Thank you to my partner, Michael, for loving, supporting, and encouraging me throughout this degree. Even amid several life changes (i.e., moving, pregnancy, new baby), he always made sure I had time to complete my schoolwork, even if that meant doing extra household tasks. I love you !

Finally, thank you to my baby boy, Cohen, the absolute joy of my life, for motivating me to finish this degree. The tiring days/nights of schoolwork and parenting were worth it to advance my education/career; but also ensure you have the most fulfilling life. I love you endlessly!

ii

Table of Contents

Abstract
Acknowledgementsi
Introduction1
Objectives
Overview of Methods
Summary of the Literature Review
Summary of Consultations
Summary of Environmental Scan11
Summary of the Resource
Discussion of Advanced Nursing Practice (ANP) Competencies
Next Steps19
Conclusion
References
Appendix A: Literature Review
Appendix B: Literature Summary Tables85
Appendix C: Consultation Report119
Appendix D: Environmental Scan Report 146
Appendix E: Medication Management Resource Error! Bookmark not defined

Introduction

Medication errors are a worldwide health care problem, which poses a risk to patients, caregivers, and the healthcare system (Godfrey et al. 2013). There are many negative impacts associated with medication errors such as increased length of stay for patients, increased healthcare costs, and poor caregiver mental health (McCarthy et al., 2017; Sim et al., 2022; Treiber & Jones, 2018). Effective management of medications can prevent medication errors and the negative consequences associated with these errors. According to The College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador (CRRNL) (2019), medication management is an important aspect of quality client-centered care, which involves more than just the administration of medication, but instead a combination of knowledge, skill, critical thinking, and decisionmaking. While licensed caregivers (i.e., registered nurses [RN]) typically provide hospital-based care, unlicensed caregivers (i.e., developmental support workers [DSWs] provide much of community-based care. Although unlicensed caregivers are permitted to engage in medication management tasks with proper education and training (Shore et al., 2022), education and training in the home care setting is not held to high standards (Godfrey et al., 2013). Consequently, caregivers lack proper education on medication management, putting them at a high risk of making medication errors (Burgdorf et al., 2022). This could significantly influence client safety, putting them at risk of an adverse drug event (ADE) (Assiri et al., 2018).

At Momentum Developmental Support, unlicensed caregivers called developmental support workers (DSWs) provide care for clients with intellectual disabilities. As part of onboarding and orientation, DSWs receive only an hour of medication management training. This is a gap in training at it is not nearly enough time or educational content to ensure DSW's are well versed in medication management. The findings from consultations support this

indicating that 100% of managers rated the current medication management program as fair, with 66% of them feeling only somewhat comfortable engaging in medication management tasks. In relation, 46% of DSWs reported witnessing a coworker make a medication error at least once. The goal of this project was to develop a medication management program for DSWs. This required an extensive literature review, consultations, and an environmental scan. The findings from three methods were compared to determine similarities and differences and use the most significant findings to inform the development of the medication management program. Offering this training to developmental support workers may help strengthen their knowledge, confidence, and skills about medication, thereby leading to improved client safety.

Objectives

The overall goal of the practicum was to develop a medication management program for developmental support workers. The key practicum objectives were to:

- Identify current learning resources and evaluate their applicability to the proposed medication management program, informing both the content and the most effective teaching strategies.
- 2. Assess whether developmental support workers have the knowledge and confidence related to medication management.
- Determine and understand the specific local needs regarding the medication management training for DSWs at Momentum.
- Identify and engage with key stakeholders within Momentum to gather information and recommendations, contributing to the development of a medication management program for DSWs.

- 5. Identify strategies and interventions that have been used to address medication management issues.
- 6. Develop a medication management program for developmental support workers based on the principles of Experiential Learning Theory and Knowles' Adult Learning.
- 7. Demonstrate advanced nursing practice competencies.

Overview of Methods

There were three main methods used to inform the development of this practicum project. This included an extensive literature review to examine medication management as an issue among unlicensed and licensed caregivers, as well as proposed interventions, consultations with key stakeholders to gather local information and data, and an environmental scan to review and examine the current learning resources about medication management. Three drafts of the literature review, consultation report, and environmental scan report were submitted for feedback and revisions were made accordingly.

Methods

Summary of the Literature Review

For the literature review (See Appendix A), the following databases were used: Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health (CINAHL), PubMed, Cochrane library, and Google Scholar. Google Scholar and government websites were also used to search for grey literature. Quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods research studies published in English only were included in this review. The following key words were used: "*direct support professional*", "*medication management*", "*impact of medication errors*", "*training programs*", "*unlicensed caregiver*", "*nurse*", "*home support worker*"," *medication error*", "*workshop*", "*education*", "*strategies*", "*knowledge*", "*confidence*", and "*skills*". Limits for this literature review consisted of articles published in peer-reviewed journals and dated 2013-2023, with the exception of literature used to describe theories. Literature summary review tables were used to summarize key findings from the discussed studies (See Appendix B).

Literature Review Key Findings

The main findings of the literature review were related to the impacts of medication errors, contributing factors, and interventions associated with medication errors among unlicensed and licensed caregivers. The lack of knowledge, skills, and confidence about medication management among unlicensed versus licensed caregivers was also discussed throughout the literature. The literature review highlighted the consequences of medication errors on clients, the healthcare system, and caregivers. Clients frequently experienced adverse drug events (ADEs) and extended hospital stays. The associated costs, both in terms of length of stay and ADE treatment, had significant impacts on the healthcare system. Caregivers, on the other hand, commonly experienced challenges related to mental health and self-confidence.

There were two main contributing factors associated with medication errors, individual and organizational factors. The individual factors include lack of training and education, unclear communication, and stress (Ali et al., 2021; Bengtsson et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022; Hammoudi et al., 2018; Wondmieneh et al., 2020; Yousef et al., 2021). On the other hand, the organizational factors include workload, distractions during medication administration, and lack of clear policies/guidelines regarding medication management (Ali et al., 2021; Bengtsson et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Hammoudi et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022; Hammoudi et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022; Hammoudi et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022; Hammoudi et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022; Hammoudi et al., 2018; Wondmieneh et al., 2020; Yousef et al., 2021).

A number of studies examined the impact of medication training and education on medication knowledge, skills, and confidence. The authors of these studies noted statistically

significant differences or positive feedback related to medication management education and training (Dubovi et al., 2017; Holland et al., 2013; Goodwin et al., 2022; Mariani et al., 2017; Vital & Nathanson, 2023). For example, Mariani et al. (2017), found a statistically significant difference between the number of students who passed the medication skills knowledge assessment in the group who received two simulations (57%), compared to the group who only received one simulation (28%) (p=.02).

Quality improvement projects were examined as an intervention in four studies, where two of these studies noted statistically significant results (Frye & Rushanan, 2023; Ganaden and Mitchell, 2018; Sim et al., 2022; Wagner, 2022). In particular, Frye and Rushanan (2023) found a statistically significant increase in mean medication management competency from 99.68 pre intervention to 124.24 post intervention (p= .006).

Four studies explored medication reconciliation as an intervention for medication management and all noted statistically significant results related to medication reconciliation and medication management (Aiezza et al., 2021; Hron et al., 2015; Stuijt et al., 2021; Young et al., 2015). For instance, Hron et al. (2015) found a statistically significant difference noted for non-intercepted medication reconciliation errors pre intervention (59) (4.1 per 1000 admissions) and post intervention (36) (2.0 per 1000 admissions) (p= 0.02).

While there were significant results noted among all three interventions, the most statistically significant effects were noted among studies that involved education and training. In addition, education and training was considered an important factor for preventing medication errors. As a result, the focus of my practicum project was to develop a medication management program for unlicensed caregivers (DSWs) at Momentum Developmental Support.

Theoretical Frameworks

Two theoretical frameworks (The Knowles' adult learning theory and the Kolb's experiential learning theory) were used to guide the development of the medication management program.

Knowles' Adult Learning Theory

Knowles' adult learning theory contains a set of principles that are applicable to adult learners (Collins, 2004) (see Figure 1). Knowles' adult learning theory can be applied to support DSWs in learning about medication management by recognizing that adults learn best when the material is relevant to their lives and when they can apply what they learn immediately (Knowles, 1978). This theory was used to guide the content of the medication management program. For example, incorporating real-life scenarios based on current practice into the workshop using case studies and simulation allow participants to engage in self-directed discussion, relate to practice, and share experiences, which is beneficial. Furthermore, adult learners often connect prior life experience and knowledge to the learning process, so acknowledging and incorporating their existing knowledge into the training via a pre-test questionnaire can promote engagement and allow participants to determine areas of opportunity. As adult learners are self-directed, providing an opportunity for a reflection exercise with questions related to the simulation experience can allow participants to determine their future learning goals for medication management and develop a plan to meet these goals. Finally, adults appreciate a positive learning environment, so accommodating for different learning styles via various educational strategies further support the application of Knowles' adult learning theory in medication management training for DSWs.

Figure 1

Diagram of Knowles' Adult Learning Theory



The Kolb's Experiential Learning Theory

The Kolb's (1984) experiential learning theory involves four domains including experience, perception, cognition, and behavior, where learning is viewed as a holistic approach, as opposed to an intellectual or physical approach. According to Sharlanova (2004), this theory involves a cyclical process, which involves doing, observing, thinking, and planning (see Figure 2). The doing phase involves actively completing a task either individually or as a group. The observing phase involves reflecting on the task that was completed to determine feelings about the task and what could be done differently. The thinking phase is when the learner tries to make sense of the task that was completed, while the planning phase involves planning to test a theory differently for future. This theory was mainly used to inform the different educational strategies for the medication management workshop such as simulation (doing phase), reflection (observing phase), case studies (thinking phase), and lecture (planning phase). The experiential learning theory guides participants in practicing hands-on skills, but also in the development of learning through reflection and critical thinking.

Figure 2

Diagram of Kolb's Experiential Learning Theory



Summary of Consultations

Methods

Data for consultations was collected using a questionnaire developed using Microsoft

Forms. This consisted of four closed-ended and 14 open-ended questions and was based on consultation plan objectives. The training manager emailed the link to all managers and DSWs at Momentum. Employees who volunteered to complete the questionnaire clicked the online link and completed the questionnaire, which took approximately 15 minutes. A total of 275 surveys were distributed to DSWs and managers at Momentum, and only 31 participants completed the online survey. The link for the questionnaire remained open for 24 hours. To ensure quality of data, the questionnaire was set up so consultants could only view their own responses. This was done when developing the questionnaire, by enabling permissions in Microsoft Forms. This minimized the risk of response bias. In addition, the questionnaire was anonymous, and did not include any personal information.

Consultation Key Findings

The consultations revealed findings regarding medication management training among managers and DSWs at Momentum (See Appendix C). There were differences in the quantitative data among the managers and DSWs; however, the qualitative data was similar between both groups. As shown in Table 1, 31 employees chose to volunteer to complete the questionnaire. Of these participants, 90% (n=28) were DSWs and 10% (n=3) were managers at Momentum Developmental Support. Among DSWs, many rated the current medication management training at Momentum as good (46%) or excellent (39%) and reported feeling very comfortable engaging in medication tasks such as medication preparation (75%), administration (82%), documentation (82%), and storage (85%). The majority of DSWs (71%) agreed that the current medication management training adequately prepares employees. In addition, 46% reported experiencing a co-worker make a medication error, with two or three times being the most common occurrence of these errors (42%). In comparison, all managers who completed the questionnaire agreed that

the current medication management training at Momentum would be rated as fair, and 66% reported feeling somewhat comfortable for medication preparation, administration, documentation, and storage. Only 34% of managers agreed that the current medication management training adequately prepares employees. All managers indicated that they experienced a co-worker make a medication error at least once (66%).

Table 1

Quantitative Results of Consultation Questionnaire

Questions	DSWs (n=28)	Managers (n=3)
Rating of current medication	46% (good)	100% (fair)
management training program	39% (excellent)	
Current training adequately	71% (agreed)	34% (agreed)
prepares employees		
Comfort level engaging in	Very Comfortable	Somewhat Comfortable
medication tasks	75% (medication preparation)	66% (medication preparation)
	82% (administration)	66% (administration)
	82% (documentation)	66% (documentation)
	85% (storage)	66% (storage)
Experienced a coworker make a	46%	100%
medication error		
Occurrence of medication errors	42% (two or three times)	66% (at least once)
by coworkers		

In addition, to the quantitative results, four major themes were also identified among the

qualitative data collected from DSWs. These four themes are *safe medication procedures*, *DSW knowledge and competence, educational strategies, and classroom-based learning*. Safe medication procedures were associated with medication management, while DSW knowledge and competence was related to the need for a medication management training program at Momentum. A variety of educational strategies and classroom-based learning was suggested when suggesting content and a mode of delivery for a medication management program.

The three common themes identified among the qualitative data in the management group were: *safe medication skills, standardized procedures, and experiential learning*. Similar to the DSWs, safe medication skills were used to define medication management. However, lack of consistency in training (i.e., standardized procedures) was related to the need for a medication management program at Momentum. In addition, experiential learning was associated with content and the mode of delivery of the medication management program. The quantitative results found a greater perception of need for a medication program at Momentum among managers versus DSWs. Nevertheless, qualitative results were consistent between both groups indicating a need for a medication management program.

Summary of Environmental Scan

Methods

For the environmental scan, data was collected from the literature search by searching four health-related websites in NL and Canada: *The College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador (CRNNL) (2019), The Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP) Canada (2020), Alberta Health Services (2022) and The College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta (n.d.).* These were the only websites which yielded resources that were applicable to unlicensed caregivers. These websites included information about medication

management such as important medication management tips, medication management programs, information about medication management practices, learning activities, and case scenarios about medication errors/medication management. Resources such as self-study medication management course and medication assistance program manual were also obtained from the literature search of these four websites, whereas case-based scenarios were obtained from consultations with the two local community-care agencies (*Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health*).

The information collected from community-care agencies was collected via email, as this was the preferred method by the director of both agencies (*Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health*). A questionnaire was emailed to the directors to ask them about their current medication management training (i.e., mode of delivery, content included, barriers, and resources). Any shared resources were able to be extrapolated to unlicensed caregivers and contained a variety of medication management information and educational strategies, which was pertinent to the development of my resource.

Environmental Scan Key Findings

The findings from the environmental scan (See Appendix D) were based on consultations with two local community-care agencies and resources pertinent to medication management in NL and Canada obtained from a literature search. There were three major themes identified through consultations: *theoretical and practical learning, classroom-based learning, and difficulty with online learning*. The training program for medication management aimed to integrate theoretical and practical learning for employees at both agencies. The current training emphasizes theoretical and practical aspects of medication management, providing employees with a well-rounded understanding of the subject. In-person learning was a mode of delivery

associated with each agency's medication management training, specifically for practical skills. For example, at *Parallel Health*, employees complete the theoretical component online and then meet with a nurse 1:1 to complete the practical skills (i.e., preparing, administering, and documenting medication). Difficulty with online learning was associated with the amount of time it takes to complete the online course, lack of insight into questions that are wrong on the medication quiz, and no access to a trainer/manager to ask questions.

There were four websites based in NL and Canada that had medication management resources available. In addition, *Blue Sky Family Care* shared two resources that are currently being used in their medication management training. There were two main themes associated with the literature and community-care agency resources: **educational strategies and lecture content.** Varieties of educational strategies were used in several resources (i.e., lecture, casebased scenarios, and quizzes) to make learning interactive and fun. Furthermore, all the resources shared important information related to medication management (i.e., rights of medication administration, documentation, storage) that should be included in lecture content before practical skills are completed.

Summary of the Resource

The medication management resource is a half-day workshop designed for DSWs (See Appendix E). A half-day workshop was an effective way to plan in-person training as consultations revealed this was the most preferred mode of delivery for training among this population. When participants were asked how they would like to learn about medication management, the most common responses were in-person and practical training. In addition, three studies promoted the use of a one-day medication management workshop for front-line employees (Dyer & Holmes, 2013; Siva, 2014; Thomas et al., 2021). Various learner

characteristics need to be considered for participants who will be completing this workshop. For instance, DSW experience ranges from less than one year to 15+ years, and education levels vary from high school diploma to master's degree. In relation, there are some differences in ethnicity (i.e., white, African American). Due to the large variance in learner characteristics, the program was tailored to the population to ensure it was basic, but informative.

Workshop Preparation

The workshop should take place in a training room or classroom that provides sufficient space for hands-on practical skill training with mannequins. As many of the educational strategies used in the training require interaction with others and feedback/supervision from the instructor, there is a maximum of 12 participants and a minimum of four participants per session. All DSWs will be required to complete the workshop. The training manager will keep track of DSWs who have completed the workshop and will be responsible for notifying DSWs when they are registered for a session. The training manager will send the class roster to the instructor. The instructor should be a nurse or another professional with a clinical background. The workshop is expected to last approximately 3.5 hours, including a 20-minute break and a 10-minute break throughout. The instructor should review the resource manual and the PowerPoint for the workshop before each session. The program consists of theoretical and practical content, which is taught using various educational strategies. Using various educational strategies targets the principles of Knowles' (1978) adult learning theory, which indicates that not all adults learn the same way. The resource manual describes these activities in detail for the instructor.

Introductions/Pre-Test

The workshop begins with an introduction to the instructor, the workshop, and participants. An icebreaker activity is used make introductions fun and interactive. After

introductions, participants complete a medication management pre-test questionnaire. The purpose of this pre-test is to assess the baseline knowledge of participants. The pre-test questionnaire consists of 10 multiple choice/true or false questions regarding medication management. Participants have approximately 10 minutes to complete the pre-test questionnaire, which will not be corrected until the post-test is completed. The decision to incorporate a pre and post-test in this context was informed by the insights derived from the existing literature. This will help evaluate the extent of improvement the workshop has on DSWs' learning outcomes in terms of medication management.

Lecture

Information obtained from the literature review and environmental scan was used to develop the PowerPoint slides (lecture), which will be used to deliver most of the theoretical content for the workshop. The use of a lecture is an important part of this workshop to ensure participants have baseline knowledge about medication management before engaging in practical skills. The lecture will take approximately an hour to be completed, and it includes content about medication management (i.e., define medication management, types of medication errors, proper storage, administration, and documentation). Throughout the lecture, the instructor will model important practical skills such as medication preparation, administration, and documentation. Participants are expected to apply theoretical knowledge to practice via critical thinking, problem solving, and practical skills. Many interventions for medication management found in the literature included a lecture and other educational strategies and noted statistically significant or positive impacts (Dubovi et al., 2017; Frye & Rushanan, 2023; Ganaden & Mitchell, 2018; Goodwin et al., 2022; Holland et al., 2013; Mariani et al., 2017; Sim et al., 2022; Vital & Nathanson, 2023). In relation, the environmental scan (i.e., consultations with key stakeholders)

revealed that a lecture is necessary for medication management training with unlicensed caregivers to provide them with baseline knowledge. A lecture supports Kolb's (1984) experiential learning theory, as learning from an instructor via lecture is considered one of the four cyclical processes learners must engage in: planning. In relation, Knowles' (1978) adult learning theory indicates that adult learners must have background knowledge of information that is being taught to determine if it is relevant to their practice.

Case Studies

Case studies are another educational strategy used in this workshop to allow DSWs to apply theoretical knowledge through critical thinking and problem-solving exercises. The literature review and consultations determined that the use of different educational strategies such as case studies was a critical component of learning for this population (Dubovi et al., 2017; Goodwin et al., 2022; Mariani et al., 2017; Vital & Nathanson, 2023; Wagner, 2022). In addition, the environmental scan revealed the use of case studies among other medication management programs (i.e., Blue Sky Family Care). The goal for using case studies is for DSWs to work in groups (3-4 people) to solve medication management scenarios. Once completed, one participant from each group reads their case study and answers aloud to receive feedback and promote additional learning. This takes approximately 30 minutes to complete. Case studies allow participants to engage in the thinking phase of Kolb's (1984) experiential learning theory. Furthermore, this activity allows participants to share knowledge from experience, which is a major component of Knowles' (1978) adult learning theory.

Simulation

The literature review revealed simulation as a common and statistically significant way to increase medication management knowledge (Dubovi et al., 2017; Mariani et al., 2017; Sim et

al., 2022; Vital & Nathanson, 2023). Similarly, consultations revealed that DSWs want more hands-on practice. Simulation is used in this workshop to give participants the opportunity to practice critical thinking, problem solving, and practical skills. DSWs will be divided into small groups (3-4 people) and each group is assigned a simulation scenario. The simulation scenarios are related to a client who is in 24-hour care and is due for medication. The purpose of the simulation scenarios is to give DSWs the opportunity to practice skills such as preparing (i.e., three checks), administering, and documenting medication. In addition, other components are added to the simulation scenario to make DSWs think critically as a group. For example, the client may refuse to take the medication or vomit after taking it. In these scenarios, DSWs will need to apply theoretical content to help them solve the issue and think critically. The instructor will provide feedback and ask questions to promote critical thinking and problem-solving skills as DSWs engage in the simulation. Simulations take approximately 40 minutes to complete. After simulations, DSWs complete a reflection exercise (approximately 10 minutes). This is a self-directed exercise designed to assist DSWs in reflecting on their simulation experience and identifying both strengths and areas for improvement. Simulations and reflection allow participants to engage in many components of Kolb's (1984) experiential learning theory such as doing and observing. Meanwhile, this activity promotes hands-on experience so participants can directly relate it to practice and focuses on learning via problem solving vs content-oriented, as indicated by Knowles' (1978) experiential learning theory.

Posttest/Workshop Evaluation

At the end of the workshop, DSWs will complete a posttest- questionnaire (approximately 10 minutes), which is the same as the pre-test questionnaire that was completed at the beginning of the workshop. Once this is completed, the instructor will read answers aloud

so participants can correct their pre and posttest. A comparison of the scores on both tests should be an indicator of how much participants learned. Participants will also have 5 minutes to complete an anonymous written evaluation form about the workshop. This will help determine the effectiveness of the workshop, as well as changes that need to be made. The instructor will collect written evaluation forms, as well as pre and posttests to use for workshop evaluation. Participants do not require a specific score to pass the workshop. All participants will be emailed a certificate of completion within 24 hours of completing the workshop.

Discussion of Advanced Nursing Practice (ANP) Competencies

Throughout this course, I had the opportunity to engage in three advanced practice nursing (APN) competencies: research, education, and leadership. All these competencies are important in nursing practice, especially when dealing with complex situations.

Research

As an advanced practice nurse, research involves commitment to generating, synthesizing, critiquing, and applying evidence (Canadian Nurses Association (CNA), 2019). Throughout this practicum course, I conducted a thorough literature review, participated in consultations, and performed an environmental scan. These activities collectively yielded a wealth of relevant research material for my chosen topic and significantly enhanced my research skills. I also critically appraised some of this research using different critical appraisal tools such as the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) (2014) critical appraisal tool and the Lincoln and Guba (1986) framework for trustworthiness to determine if it was suitable to use in the development of my project. Moreover, I synthesized research and data gathered from various methods, including consultations and surveys, to derive meaningful insights from the results.

Finally, I had to determine which research findings and data were directly relevant to the development of my project.

Education

Education involves commitment to professional competence, as well as growth and learning for colleagues, clients, and families (CNA, 2019). The development of this practicum project was a professional learning experience that allowed me to apply the knowledge and skills learned throughout the master's program. Applying this knowledge to a change initiative project has increased my level of professional confidence and competence. The overall goal of this practicum project was to develop an educational resource for developmental support workers; thus, increasing growth and learning for colleagues, and consequently clients and families. A consultation plan was used to identify the learning needs of the organization. The literature was consulted to determine if similar learning needs were identified among other populations. Based on these findings, a plan for half-day medication management workshop was developed. This created an opportunity for more professional growth and development, as I had the opportunity to collaborate with others (i.e., environmental scan) and learn about the resources other organizations have used for medication management training.

Leadership

Leadership involves nurses who become leaders in their organization and promote change (CNA, 2019). In completing this practicum, I was able to apply theories of project and change management to develop a resource based on organizational needs. Additionally, I had the opportunity to identify an area where change was required and take steps to initiate change. When the workshop is implemented at Momentum, I will be a mentor in the introduction of this workshop; therefore, continuing my leadership competencies.

Next Steps

As implementation was not a requirement for this practicum project, one of the next steps would involve getting approval from the training manager to implement this workshop. I would provide background information about the project and review the resource manual with the training manager. This would provide an opportunity for discussion, feedback, and questions. Once approval is granted from the training manager, there would need to be discussions about possible instructors for the workshop, besides myself. The training manager is responsible for developing the annual training plan based on organizational needs, seeking out potential instructors, and ensuring employees are compensated for training. I am likely to serve as the primary instructor until other suitable instructors can be identified and acquainted with the workshop's content and instructions.

Conclusion

Medication management is an important aspect of client-centered care that must be considered by both public and private health care agencies. Through review of the related literature, consultations with DSWs and key stakeholders, and performing an environmental scan, it was determined that medication management is needed for DSWs at Momentum Developmental Support. These results were consistent with the literature, which revealed that unlicensed caregivers (i.e., DSWs) do not receive consistent medication management training. Consequently, client safety and client outcomes are not as optimal as they should be. The implication of these findings was a starting point for change within this organization. This change included the development of a half-day medication management workshop to support DSWs in the development of medication management skills and competence, thereby contributing to improved client outcomes.

References

Aiezza, M., Bresciani, A., Guglielmi, G., Massa, M., Tortori, E., Marfella, R., Aliberti, E., & Iannuzzi, A. (2021). Medication review versus usual care to improve drug therapies in hospitalised older patients admitted to internal medicine wards. *European Journal of Hospital Pharmacy.*, 28(3), 160–164. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/ejhpharm-2019-002072</u>

Alberta Health Services. (2022). *Medication assistance program manual*. <u>https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/info/seniors/if-sen-map-program-in-alberta.pdf</u>

- Ali, L., Saifan, A., Alrimawi, I., & Atout, M. (2021). Nurses' perceptions toward factors that cause medication errors in Jordan: A qualitative study. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 57(3), 1417–1424. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12707
- Assiri, G. A., Shebl, N. A., Mahmoud, M. A., Aloudah, N., Grant, E., Aljadhey, H., & Sheikh, A. (2018). What is the epidemiology of medication errors, error-related adverse events and risk factors for errors in adults managed in community care contexts? A systematic review of the international literature. *BMJ Open*, 8(5), e019101–e019101.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019101

- Bengtsson, M., Ekedahl, A.-B. I., & Sjöström, K. (2021). Errors linked to medication management in nursing homes: an interview study. *BMC Nursing*, 20(1), 69–69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-021-00587-2
- Burgdorf, J. G., Chase, J.-A. D., Whitehouse, C., & Bowles, K. H. (2022). Unmet Caregiving Needs Among Sepsis Survivors Receiving Home Health Care: The Need for Caregiver Training. *Journal of Applied Gerontology.*, *41*(10), 2180–2186. https://doi.org/10.1177/07334648221104084

- Canadian Nurses Association (2019). Advanced practice nursing: A Pan-Canadian Framework. Ottawa, ON: Author. <u>https://www.cna-aiic.ca/-/media/cna/page-content-pdf-en/apn-a-pan-canadian-framework.pdf</u>
- Castaldo, A. (2022). Factors contributing to medication errors: A descriptive qualitative study of Italian nursing students. *Nurse Education Today.*, *118*.
- College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta. (n.d.). *Medication administration self-study course*. https://studywithclpna.com/medicationadministration/
- College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2019). *Medication management*. <u>https://crnnl.ca/site/uploads/2022/03/medication-management.pdf</u>
- Collins, J. (2004). Education techniques for lifelong learning: Principles of adult learning. *Radiographics*, 24(5), 1483–1489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1148/rg.245045020</u>
- Dionisi, S., & Di Simone, E. (2022). Medication errors' cause analysis in home care setting: A systematic review. Public Health Nursing, 39(4), 876-897.
- Dubovi, I., Levy, S. T., & Dagan, E. (2017). Now I know how! The learning process of medication administration among nursing students with non-immersive desktop virtual reality simulation. *Computers and Education*, 113, 16–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.05.009
- Dyer, P., & Holmes, C. (2013). Diabetes training for nurses: The effectiveness of an inpatient diabetes half-day workshop. *Journal of Diabetes Nursing*, 17(3), 86-94. https://diabetesonthenet.com/wp-content/uploads/jdn17-3-86-94-1.pdf
- Frye, S. K., & Rushanan, S. G. (2023). Promoting Medication Management Skills Among Home Health Occupational Therapists: A Quality Improvement Project. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, 35(2), 108–113. https://doi.org/10.1177/10848223221127438

- Ganaden, R. E., & Mitchell, L. (2018). Implementing a Comprehensive Unit-Based Safety
 Program (CUSP) to Enhance a Culture of Patient Safety and Improve Medication Safety
 in a Regional Home Care Program. *Quality Management in Health Care*, 27(3), 130–135.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/QMH.000000000000180
- Godfrey, C. M., Harrison, M. B., Lang, A., Macdonald, M., Leung, T., & Swab, M. (2013).
 Homecare safety and medication management: a scoping review of the quantitative and qualitative evidence. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports*, *11*(2), 357–371. https://doi.org/10.11124/01938924-201311020-00007
- Goodwin, J., White, S., O'Malley, M., Hurley, E., O'Donovan, A., & Kelly, P. (2022). "It"s good to have the knowledge and the confidence': Mental health student nurses' views of a medication workshop. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, *31*(4), 1011–1020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.13012</u>
- Hammoudi, B. M., Ismaile, S., & Abu Yahya, O. (2018). Factors associated with medication administration errors and why nurses fail to report them. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 32(3), 1038–1046. https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12546
- Holland, A., Smith, F., McCrossan, G., Adamson, E., Watt, S., & Penny, K. (2013). Online video in clinical skills education of oral medication administration for undergraduate student nurses: A mixed methods, prospective cohort study. *Nurse Education Today*, *33*(6), 663–670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2012.01.006</u>
- Hron, J.D., ManziI, S., Dionne, R., Chiang, V. W., Brostoff, M., Altavilla, S. A., Patterson, A., & Harper, M. B. (2015). Electronic medication reconciliation and medication errors. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, *27*(4), 314–319.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzv046

- Institute for Safe Medication Practices Canada. (2020, December 22). Medications most frequently reported in harm incidents over the past 5 years (2015-2020). *ISMP Canada Safety Bulletin, 20*(11), 1-7. <u>https://ismpcanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/ISMPCSB2020-</u> i11-Medications-Reported-Harm.pdf
- Knowles, M. S. (1978). Andragogy: Adult Learning Theory in Perspective. *Community College Review*, 5(3), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/009155217800500302
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). *Experiential learning: experience as the source of learning and development*. Prentice-Hall.
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage Publications
- Mariani, B., Ross, J. G., Paparella, S., & Allen, L. R. (2017). Medication Safety Simulation to
 Assess Student Knowledge and Competence. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *13*(5), 210–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2017.01.003</u>
- McCarthy, B.C., Tuiskula, K. A., Driscoll, T. P., & Davis, A. M. (2017). Medication errors resulting in harm: Using chargemaster data to determine association with cost of hospitalization and length of stay. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74 *Suppl 4*(23), S102–S107. https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160848
- Public Health Agency of Canada [PHAC]. (2014). *Infection Prevention and Control Guidelines: Critical Appraisal Tool Kit*. <u>https://publications.gc.ca/collection_2014/aspc-phac/HP40-119-2014-eng.pdf</u>
- Sharlanova, V. (2004). Experiential learning. Trakia Journal of Sciences, 2(4), 36-39. http://tru.uni-sz.bg/tsj/Volume2_4/EXPERIENTIAL%20LEARNING.pdf
- Shore, C. B., Maben, J., Mold, F., Winkley, K., Cook, A., & Stenner, K. (2022). Delegation of medication administration from registered nurses to non-registered support workers in

community care settings: A systematic review with critical interpretive synthesis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *126*, 104121–104121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.104121

- Sim, M. A., Ti, L. K., Mujumdar, S., Chew, S. T. H., Penanueva, D. J. B., Kumar, B. M., & Ang,
 S. B. L. (2022). Sustaining the Gains: A 7-Year Follow-Through of a Hospital-Wide
 Patient Safety Improvement Project on Hospital-Wide Adverse Event Outcomes and
 Patient Safety Culture. *Journal of Patient Safety*, *18*(1), E189–E195.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/PTS.000000000000725
- Siva. (2014). *Direct support service core training*. https://www.sivatraining.ca/ourprograms/direct-support-service-core-training/
- Stuijt, CCM., Bekker, C. L., van den Bemt, B. J. F., & Karapinar, F. (2021). Effect of medication reconciliation on patient reported potential adverse events after hospital discharge. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 17(8), 1426–1432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.10.012</u>

Thomas, C., Kurian, C., Houtmann, S., & Palmisiano, N. (2021). Efficacy of Half-Day Workshops for Internal Medicine Interns in Educating Breaking-Bad-News Discussions. *Palliative Medicine Reports*, 2(1), 132–136. https://doi.org/10.1089/pmr.2020.0097

Treiber, L. A., & Jones, J. H. (2018). Making an Infusion Error: The Second Victims of Infusion Therapy-Related Medication Errors. *Journal of Infusion Nursing*, 41(3), 156–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NAN.00000000000273</u>

- Vital, C. J., & Nathanson, B. H. (2023). Effects of the Interruption Management Strategy "Stay S.A.F.E." During Medication Administration. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, 48(2), 65–74. https://doi.org/10.1097/RNJ.000000000000404
- Wagner, E. A. (2022). Engaging Nursing Students in Quality Improvement: Teaching Safe Medication Administration. *Journal of Nursing Education.*, 61(5), 268–271. https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20220303-01
- Wondmieneh, A., Alemu, W., Tadele, N., & Demis, A. (2020). Medication administration errors and contributing factors among nurses: A cross sectional study in tertiary hospitals, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *BMC Nursing*, 19(1), 4–4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-0397-0
- Young, L., Barnason, S., Hays, K., & Do, V. (2015). Nurse Practitioner–led Medication
 Reconciliation in Critical Access Hospitals. *Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, 11(5), 511–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2015.03.005
- Yousef, A., Abu Farha, R., & Da'meh, K. (2021). Medication administration errors: Causes and reporting behaviours from nurses perspectives. *International Journal of Clinical Practice.*, 75(10), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcp.14541

Appendix A: Literature Review

Development of a Medication Management Program for Developmental Support Workers A Literature Review

Medication management is an essential part of health that helps ensure the safety of others (i.e., clients, patients). According to the College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador (CRNNL) (2019) medication management is a part of client-centered care and involves more than just the administration of medication, but instead a combination of knowledge, skill, critical thinking, and decision-making. There are various components to medication management such as training, quality assurance measures (i.e., ensuring rights of medication administration are followed, and proper storage and disposal of medications), documentation, and organizational factors (i.e., staffing levels) (Strube-Lahmann et al., 2022). However, if medications are not managed properly, there is a high risk of medication errors; therefore, posing a risk to patient safety (Godfrey et al., 2013). Despite the importance of medication management, medication errors are the most common mistake in health care that affect patient safety (Berland & Bentsen, 2017; Cheragi et al., 2013). Castaldo (2022) defines medication error as "any preventable event that may cause or lead to inappropriate medication use or patient harm while the medication is in control of the health care professional" (p.1). While hospital and long-term care settings employ mostly licensed professionals (i.e, Registered Nurse [RN], Licensed Practical Nurse [LPN]), much of community care is delivered by unlicensed caregivers such as home support workers (HSWs), and developmental support workers (DSWs) (Burgdorf et al., 2022). Additionally, as the nursing shortage continues, there will be a need for more delegation of medication administration to unlicensed caregivers in the community setting (Shore et al., 2022). These two classifications of unlicensed caregivers are very similar, as they perform many of the same duties (i.e., assisting with activities of daily

living); however, DSWs receive additional training to work directly with individuals with intellectual disabilities (ID).

Whether licensed or unlicensed, errors and mistakes are an inevitable part of life (Gilbert & Jeong-ah, 2018). Although eliminating all medication errors is unrealistic, it is logical to consider the level of training and education required for caregivers to administer medications. Among licensed professionals there are many factors that contribute to medication errors such as education and training, organizational culture, reporting system, and management behavior (Vrbnjak et al., 2016). Meanwhile, Burgdorf et al. (2022) noted that a lack of training and knowledge is the most common reason for medication errors among unlicensed caregivers. Due to the various levels of education among this population, there needs to be a focus on creating standard medication management training and resources for these caregivers.

Many interventions have been implemented to improve medication management practices among licensed and unlicensed caregivers. However, the most common interventions were focused on education and training (Dubovi et al., 2017; Goodwin et al., 2022; Holland et al., 2013; Mariani et al., 2017; Vital &Nathanson, 2023), quality improvement (QI) training (Frye & Rushanan, 2023; Ganaden & Mitchell, 2018; Sim et al., 2022; Wagner, 2022) , and medication reconciliation (Aiezza et al., 2021, Hron et al., 2015; Young et al., 2015; Stuijt et al., 2021). Overall, most authors of the above-mentioned studies found statistically significant results between medication education and training, QI training, and medication reconciliation and medication management among nursing students and nurses.

While all these interventions reported some statistically significant impacts, education and training interventions have the most statistically significant results. Based on the literature, my project will involve the development of a medication management education program for

DSWs. Despite the evidence indicating that education and training interventions are effective, there are several gaps in the literature such as the best mode of delivery for a medication management program, and a lack of theoretical frameworks to guide these interventions. To address the mode of delivery gap, my program will be delivered using a half-day workshop and a variety of educational strategies that were used in the literature (i.e., simulation, lecture, problem-based learning). Consultations with DSWs and managers at Momentum Developmental Support revealed that employees prefer classroom-based training using a variety of educational techniques (i.e., hands on practice, discussion, lecture). Similarly, Goodwin et al. (2022) delivered medication management education using a two-day workshop with a variety of educational strategies; however, this workshop provided more in-depth content (i.e., intramuscular injections, recognizing and naming medications) than what is required for my target population. As a result, a half day workshop will be more appropriate for my program, as it is tailored toward the needs of the DSWs at Momentum. In addition, my program will be based on Kolb's experiential learning theory and Knowles' Adult Learning Theory.

According to Berland and Bentsen (2017), medication management in home care is not held to high standards. Godfrey et al. (2013) indicated that inconsistencies in medication training among unregulated care providers lead to ill equipped caregivers and decreased patient safety. Consequently, when caregiver training needs are not met, client needs are not met either. In fact, 1 in 3 unlicensed caregivers noted an unmet need for medication administration (Burgdorf et al., 2022).

Consistent with the literature, the medication management training available to unlicensed caregivers in the community setting in Newfoundland and Labrador varies within each organization. At Momentum Developmental Support, DSWs complete a basic medication

management training session during orientation (approximately 1 hour), which involves an online module and reviewing the medication management policy. However, there is no opportunity to practice hands-on or use critical thinking skills in relation to medication administration, which can contribute to an increased number of medication errors. According to Domm et al. (2021), critical thinking skills are essential in medication management to recognize when timely actions are needed to ensure safe and competent care.

As a result of the need for medication management training among unlicensed caregivers, I conducted an extensive literature review to determine the importance of medication management in health care. Additionally, through this literature review, I examined strategies or interventions that can be used to provide effective medication management training. To ensure consistency with the literature, the terms patient and client are used interchangeably throughout this literature review to indicate a consumer of health care. Furthermore, the term caregiver used throughout this literature review refers to any licensed or unlicensed health care provider (i.e., RN, LPN, HSW, DSW).

Literature Review Methods

For this literature review, the following databases were used: Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health (CINAHL), PubMed, Cochrane library, and Google Scholar. Grey literature was also obtained from google and government websites. Quantitative and qualitative research studies published in English only were included in this review. The following key words were used: "direct support professional", "medication management", "impact of medication errors", "training programs", "unlicensed caregiver", "nurse", "home support worker"," medication error", "workshop", "education", and "strategies". Limits for this literature review consisted of articles published in peer-reviewed journals and dated 2013-2023, with the exception of literature used to describe theories. The quantitative research studies were critically appraised using the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) critical appraisal toolkit (2014). The qualitative research studies were critically appraised using the Lincoln and Guba (1985) framework for trustworthiness. A literature summary review table was used to summarize some of the discussed studies (see Appendix B).

Literature Review

This literature review provides an overview of the prevalence of medication errors, common types of medication errors, and contributing factors. In addition, this review also examines the impact of medication errors on client safety, the healthcare system, and caregivers. Furthermore, strategies and interventions that can be used to improve medication management practices are discussed, as well as my proposed intervention to improve medication management among DSWs.

Medication Errors

Medication errors are a prevalent issue worldwide that can be prevented with proper medication management skills. According to Assiri et al. (2018), a medication error is a preventable event that results when medications are not managed properly, which may lead to inappropriate medication use or patient harm. Godfrey et al. (2013) indicated that medication management is a complex process that contributes to patient safety. This involves monitoring, reconciliation, documentation, and administration skills to ensure patients achieve desired outcomes. When components of the medication management process are not followed diligently, these can be contributing factors to the occurrence of medication errors.

Incidence and Prevalence of Reported Medication Errors
Although medication management is a prevalent issue globally, there is very limited literature available that examined the prevalence of medication errors among different countries. However, there was some literature related to the prevalence and incidence of medication errors worldwide, as well as in the United States (US), Canada, and Newfoundland and Labrador (NL).

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) (2022) approximately 237 million medication errors occur annually in Europe, and 66 million of these are deemed clinically significant. Two high-quality systematic reviews (Alshehri et al., 2017; Assiri et al., 2018) and a medium-quality cross-sectional study (Rasool et al., 2022) examined the prevalence of medication errors worldwide. A medication error rate of 2% to 94% was noted among these studies, with 5% to 41.3% of these medication errors related to hospital admissions, and 22% related to readmissions after discharge.

In comparison, McDade (2023) and the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (2019), noted that medication errors are one of the most common errors in health care with approximately 100,000 to 400,000 medication errors reported annually in the US. This results in approximately 7000 deaths, consequently making medication errors the third leading cause of death in the US (Makary & Daniel, 2016). A high-quality literature review (James 2013) and systematic review (Ferrah et al., 2017) determined the prevalence of medication errors among several long-term care homes in the US. A medication error rate of 13-31% was noted among several long- term care homes, with an ADE rate of 1.2-7.3 per 100 resident months. The severity of these errors was classified as mild (42-60%), moderate (3-36%), and severe (0-1%) In addition, these medication errors resulted in an unplanned hospitalization rate of 3951 per 100,000 person years.

In Canada approximately 7531 medication incidents were reported from 2015-2020 among long-term care, hospitals, community pharmacy, and home/community care (The Institute for Safe Medication Practices [ISMP], 2020). The top two medications that involved medication errors were insulin (459 incidents) (6.1%), and hydromorphone (447 incidents) (5.9%), which are considered high alert medications. Similarly, the Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI) (2016) reported that the three most common drugs that lead to medication errors are insulin (9%), hydromorphone (7%), and heparin (4%). In relation, one fifth (19%) of Canadian nurses acknowledged making occasional or frequent medication errors for patients in their care over a one-year period (Statistics Canada, 2015). Although there are not a vast range of statistics for Canada, the literature that is available suggests that medication errors are an issue in this country.

While there is limited data about the prevalence rates of medications errors in NL, a medium-quality cross-sectional study by O'Brien et al. (2013) reported an increase in medication errors in Western Newfoundland during transition (transfer from hospital to long-term care) of elderly patients to the new long-term care. The rate of medication errors per 1000 resident days were as follows: pre-transition (1.1), transition (2.7), and post-transition (1.5).

Despite the fact that literature about the prevalence of medication errors is limited in some countries, the literature that was available clearly indicates that medication errors are an issue.

Contributing Factors to Medication Errors

There are many different individual and organizational factors that contribute to medication errors. Examining these factors can promote awareness and ensure effective strategies are implemented to reduce these factors. As a result, this can decrease medication

errors and improve patient safety. Three qualitative descriptive studies (Ali et al., 2021; Bengtsson et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022), three medium-quality cross-sectional studies (Hammoudi et al., 2018; Wondmieneh et al., 2020; Yousef et al., 2021), and one high-quality systematic review (Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022) identified common individual and organizational contributing factors for medication errors.

Individual Factors

One of the most common individual contributing factors identified was lack of knowledge and training (Ali et al., 2021; Bengtsson et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Wondmieneh et al., 2020; Yousef et al., 2021). When caregivers did not receive adequate medication training, medication management skills were not based on best practice guidelines. As a result, this caused an increased number of medication errors. Furthermore, unclear communication was noted to be a contributing factor that caused distress among caregivers (Ali et al., 2021; Bengtsson et al., 2021; Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022; Hammoudi et al., 2018; Yousef et al., 2021). Many caregivers reported feeling inferior to some members of the team (i.e., physicians) due to futile communication. Consequently, some caregivers did not seek assistance or ask for clarification when needed which contributed to increased medication errors and healthcare costs. Meanwhile, stress was another common contributing factor that caused caregiver burnout and fatigue (Ali et al., 2021; Bengtsson et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022; Yousef et al., 2021). This had an impact on the quality of care that caregivers were able to provide and increased the chances of a medication error being made. In addition, caregiver mental health was also affected.

Organizational Factors

Workload was one of the most common organizational factors contributing to medication errors among licensed and unlicensed caregivers (Ali et al., 2021; Bengtsson et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022; Hammoudi et al., 2018; Yousef et al., 2021). Increased workload resulted in increased stress and missed tasks for caregivers which often resulted in medication errors. In addition, many caregivers who made a medication error due to increased workload reported needing time off for mental health, which also increased healthcare costs. In relation, interruptions during medication administration were another contributing factor that caused caregivers to become distracted during medication preparation; therefore, missing important steps such as the double check principle (Ali et al., 2021; Bengtsson et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Wondmieneh et al., 2020; Yousef et al., 2021). This often resulted in an increased number of medication errors and ADEs. Finally, a lack of clear guidelines/policies was also an organizational contributing factor (Bengtsson et al., 2021; Castaldo, 2022; Dionisi & Di Simone, 2022; Hammoudi et al., 2018). When clear guidelines/policies were not implemented, care was provided based on various levels of knowledge and experience. As a result, medication management practices were not consistent and caused increased medication errors, as well as increased healthcare costs due to these errors.

In conclusion, there are three common individual (lack of knowledge and training, unclear communication, and caregiver burnout and fatigue) and organizational factors (workload, interruptions during mediation administration, and lack of clear policies and guidelines) that contribute to medication errors. These contributing factors are similar for unlicensed and licensed caregivers and can contribute to several different types of medication errors.

Types of Medication Errors

Three medium-quality cross-sectional studies, two high-quality systematic reviews, and one medium-quality retrospective case-control study identified three common types of medication errors which are wrong dose, wrong time, and wrong medication. The first type of medication error was related to wrong dose (Blignaut et al., 2017; Cheragi et al., 2013; Choi et al., 2016; Keers et al., 2013; Parand et al., 2016; Wondmieneh et al., 2020). Caregivers who reported a wrong dose medication error noted that interruptions and patient acuity level was associated with this type of error, as well as lack of pharmacological knowledge. Meanwhile, wrong time was the second most common medication error (Blignaut et al., 2017; Choi et al., 2016; Hammoudi et al., 2018; Keers et al., 2013; Parand et al., 2016; Wondmieneh et al., 2020). High patient workload and shortage of staff were often associated wrong time errors, as caregivers reported feeling overwhelmed with their caseload and not having adequate time to provide quality care. The last commonly reported type of medication error was related to wrong medication (Choi et al., 2016; Parand et al., 2016; Wondmieneh et al., 2020). Individual and organizational factors were associated with this type of error, as some studies reported factors such as stress and lack of knowledge, while others reported inconsistent policies and unclear interdisciplinary communication.

Similarly, at Momentum Developmental Support, most medication errors are related to wrong dose, wrong time, and wrong medication. Although the medications are in blister packs at this agency, many errors occur when DSWs detach the wrong blister; therefore, resulting in clients receiving the wrong medication and dose at the incorrect time.

While there are many types of medication errors, these three common ones that reoccur in the literature. Many of the contributing factors associated with these errors were related to the

common factors identified such as lack of knowledge and stress. These types of medication errors were also similar among licensed and unlicensed caregivers.

Unreported Medication Errors

Unreported medication errors can have an impact on the actual prevalence and incidence rate of medication errors. Data collected to determine prevalence and incidence of medication errors is typically extracted from incident reports (Westbrook et al., 2015). Incident reports are a tool used to report events (i.e., medication errors or near misses) that may have harmed a patient or had the potential to harm a patient (Mitchell et al., 2016). However, incident reporting is influenced by many barriers and facilitators; therefore, it may be difficult to provide an accurate number of the incidence and prevalence of these errors. A medium-quality cross-sectional study by Westbrook et al. (2015) confirmed this through direct observation of 180 nurses who administered 7451 medications in total. Through these observations, it was noted that 2043 medication administrations had ≥ 1 error; however, none of these errors had been reported. There are several facilitators for incident reporting such as open communication, constructive feedback, non-punitive actions, teamwork, and transactional or transformational leadership (Farag & Anthony, 2015; Farag et al., 2017). Meanwhile, common barriers to reporting include fear of judgement, blame, or retaliation, workplace culture, reporting system, and lack of time (Castaldo, 2022; Vrbnjak et al., 2016).

While there are already many alarming statistics for medication errors, being aware of factors that facilitate incident reporting can help ensure caregivers feel comfortable reporting when necessary; therefore, providing an accurate representation of these data.

Medication Errors Among Healthcare Workers

Medication errors are common among all healthcare workers who have the ability to administer medications, whether licensed or unlicensed. This section will discuss the rates of medication errors, as well as contributing factors among licensed versus unlicensed caregivers.

Unlicensed Caregivers

An unlicensed caregiver is considered a paraprofessional who can assist individuals with healthcare needs. These caregivers don't typically require a higher level of education (i.e., university degree); therefore, certain skills such as medication administration require supervision or delegation by a licensed professional (i.e., HSW, DSW) (Godfrey et al., 2013). Erickson et al. (2020) noted that many unlicensed caregivers have reported not understanding the complex drug regimens for those with ID, which means these individuals are particularly at risk for medication errors. In fact, individuals with ID have a higher percentage of hospital admissions due to ADE than the general population (1.61% vs 0.7%) (OR=2.47) (Erickson et al., 2020).

Two high-quality systematic reviews (Godfrey et al., 2013; Parand et al., 2016) and a medium-quality cross-sectional study (Stube-Lahmann et al., 2022) examined medication errors among unlicensed caregivers working in home care. Godfrey et al. (2013) and Parand et al. (2016) reported a medication error rate of 12% to 92.7% among unlicensed caregivers, with dosage error being the most common. In relation, education and knowledge regarding medication was considered a major contributing factor for many of these errors. In comparison, Strube-Lahmann et al. (2022) noted a medication error rate of 41.6% in a 12- month period among 107 home care services. Many of the errors that occurred in these settings were due to failure to comply with the double check principle.

Licensed Caregivers

A licensed caregiver is a professional who must complete required academic training before becoming licensed to practice independently (i.e., RN, LPN) (Al-Jumaili, 2017). Two medium-quality cross-sectional studies (Blignaut et al., 2017; Cheragi et al., 2013), a mediumquality observational study (Choo et al., 2013), and a high-quality literature review (Al-Jumaili, 2017) examined medication errors among licensed caregivers. Blignaut et al. (2017) and Cheragi et al. (2013) revealed a medication error rate of 65.55% to 94% among licensed caregivers. In addition, there was a near miss rate of 31.37%. Lack of pharmacological knowledge, excessive workload, interruptions (i.e., phone ringing, taking orders from a physician, and patient acuity were the main causes of these errors. In fact, there was a statistically significant relationship between wrong dose errors and interruptions (OR=2.56) (p<0.05), and wrong dose errors and patient acuity (OR=10.55) (p<0.05). Deviation from safe medication practices (i.e., no patient identification) was also a contributing factor in 75-100% of medication errors. Choo et al. (2013) reported that 90% of nurses were distracted during medication administration and 5024 errors occurred due to non-compliance with medication procedures. In contrast, Al-Jumaili (2017) noted an ADE rate of 1.89 to 10.9 per 100 resident-months in nursing homes with unlicensed and licensed caregivers. Again, the most common reason for medication errors was related to staff knowledge.

Developmental Support Workers

There have not been any studies conducted that examined the prevalence of medication errors among DSWs directly. However, in 2022, at Momentum Developmental Support, DSWs participated in a needs assessment via an online survey regarding the current training plan. Through this assessment it was determined that 73% of employees were not satisfied with the current online medication management module delivered via the online learning system named

Practicare. In relation, 65% of employees reported that they require more medication management training (i.e., proper procedures for preparing, administering, and documenting medication), and they would prefer this training to be in-person (80%). The results of this needs assessment were not surprising based on the increased number of medication error incident reports the organization had been receiving. These findings are consistent with the literature which indicate that more medication training is required in this setting, especially for caregivers who assist those with ID.

Impact of Medication Errors

Medications errors typically result from poor medication management practices (Blignaut et al., 2017). As such, the consequences of medication errors do not just impact one aspect of the healthcare system. In this section, I discussed the impact of medication errors on clients, healthcare costs, and caregivers.

Clients

Adverse Drug Events

Client safety is one of the most important health-related outcomes. When medications are not managed properly, the risk of medication errors increase, consequently impacting client safety. Preventable ADEs are one of the most common consequences of medication errors (Iwasaki et al., 2021). According to Wolfe et al. (2018), a preventable ADE is a drug event that is caused by medication errors such as omission, incorrect dose, time, or medication. Two medium-quality cross-sectional studies (Burgdorf et al., 2022; Mayahara et al., 2014), a mediumquality case-series (Levkovich et al., 2022) and a high-quality systematic review (Assiri et al., 2018) examined the relationship between medication errors and ADEs.

Burgdorf et al. (2022) examined the prevalence of ADEs among sepsis survivors which were related to unmet caregiver needs, while Mayahara et al. (2014) focused on the relationship between ADEs and caregiver adherence to PRN (as needed) medication regime. Burgdorf et al. (2022) found statistically significant differences in sepsis survivors who experienced an ADE versus sepsis survivors who did not, such as increased impairment in cognitive function (86% vs 79%, p<0.001), increased need for medical procedures/treatment (79% vs 75%, p<0.001), required additional medical equipment (86% vs 84%, p<0.001), and increased supervision and monitoring (89% vs 86%, p<0.001). Mayahara et al. (2014) found that clients who experienced an ADE related to caregivers not adhering to administering the analgesic PRN regime had a mean pain score of 0.37 ($p \le .001$). Additionally, PRN analgesic medication errors were associated with higher levels of pain (p=0.046). The most common error was giving a sedative instead of an analgesic which resulted in a significantly higher pain level (p=0.024). In comparison, Levkovich et al. (2022) determined the incidence and prevalence of medication emergency team (MET) activations associated with ADEs. Several consequences of MET activations for ADEs such as tachycardia due to omission of beta-blocking agents (10.9%), hypotension from cumulative toxicity (9.8%), and inappropriate use of antihypertensives (10.9%). Moreover, Assiri et al. (2018) investigated the prevalence of medication errors and ADEs among adults in various healthcare settings. Many consequences of ADEs were revealed such as emergency room (ER) visits, hospitalization, and increased outpatient visits. In addition, patients taking more than seven medications (OR=3.3) and >80 years old (OR=4.4) had an increased risk of ADEs.

In summary, medication errors have the potential to cause serious harm to patients. According to the CIHI (2016), there have been many gaps over the years in measuring harm;

however, Canadian hospitals are currently collaborating to determine how to address these gaps and ensure there are improvements made for patient safety. While the current literature lacks specific details about the effects of such errors (e.g., fall, seizure), it is likely that future research will provide these details after addressing the measuring harm gap.

Length of Hospital Stay

Four medium-quality studies determined the impact of medication errors on length of hospital stay (LOS) (McCarthy et al., 2017; Moore et al., 2022; Schlosser et al., 2020; Zheng et al., 2022). McCarthy et al. (2017) used a case control design, while Moore et al. (2022) completed a retrospective observational study. In addition, Schlosser et al. (2020) conducted a retrospective analysis, and Zheng et al. (2022) conducted a randomized controlled trial (RCT). McCarthy et al. (2017) determined the impact of three classes of medications in relation to medication errors and LOS. Meanwhile, Moore et al. (2022) examined the relationship between implementation of a nurse specialist for medication coordination and LOS for patients with Parkinson's. Schlosser et al. (2020) examined the use of post-operative opioid use in relation to medication errors and LOS, and Zheng et al. (2022) determined the impact of medication reconciliation on medication errors and LOS for patients undergoing orthopedic surgery.

McCarthy et al. (2017) noted three main classes of drugs associated with medication errors: chemotherapy (38%), corticosteroids (14%), and opioids (11%). The LOS (days) for the case group (did experience a medication error) versus control group (did not experience a medication error) for each class of drugs were as follows: chemotherapy (5.0-11) vs (4.0-7.0) (p=0.005), corticosteroids (4.0-7.8) vs (3.7-5.3) (p= 0.235), opioids (4.8-16.0) vs (4.2-7.2) (p=0.251). Chemotherapy was the only drug class noted to have a statistically significant result. In comparison, Moore et al. (2022) found that the implementation of a nurse specialist to

coordinate medications for patients with Parkinson's led to less medication errors and therefore reduced LOS over a period of five years. The results for LOS in 2010, 2014, and 2015 were as follows: 2010 (24 days), 2014 (12 days), 2015 (9 days). Schlosser et al. (2020) reported statistically significant results which indicated that lower doses of morphine milligram equivalent (MME) were associated with decreased risk of medication errors and decreased LOS (p<0.001). Those who received lower MME also had an increased chance of being discharged 1day post-op due to decreased medication errors versus those who had higher doses of MME (41.2% vs 19.6%). Additionally, there was a 15.3% reduction in readmission rates for ADEs related to medication errors for those who had lower MME. In relation, Zheng et al. (2022), reported 506 medication discrepancies found among 260 patient charts when medication reconciliation was completed. Statistically significant results were reported for those who received medication reconciliation. There was a reduced mean LOS (days) related to decreased medication errors for those who received medication reconciliation versus those who did not receive medication reconciliation (16.3 vs 20.7) (p=0.03). In addition, there were no readmissions among those who received medication reconciliation, compared to three readmissions for those did not receive medication reconciliation. A shortened time between first admission and reimplantation of a new prosthesis was noted among those who received medication reconciliation (due to decreased medication errors and risk of complications) versus those who did not (57.3 days vs 70.5 days, p=0.002).

To conclude, medication errors have been shown to have a significant impact on LOS among hospitalized patients. This is due to the fact that there are often complications (i.e., ADEs) that happen as a result of medication errors. Consequently, this increases the acuity of care, and often requires a longer LOS.

Healthcare Costs

The cost of healthcare in Canada continues to increase annually (CIHI, 2022). In fact, this is the consensus for worldwide healthcare. Medication errors often lead to increased emergency room visits, hospital visits, or longer length of stay; therefore, increasing healthcare associated costs (Elliott et al., 2021). Healthcare costs throughout the literature were associated with LOS/hospitalization and treatment.

Three medium-quality cross-sectional studies (Shamliyan and Kane, 2016; Sim et al., 2022; Slight et al., 2018), a medium-quality retrospective observational study (Moore et al., 2022), a medium-quality retrospective case-control (Choi et al. (2016), and a medium-quality retrospective cohort study (George et al., 2021) examined costs associated with medication errors. Shamliyan and Kane (2016) examined drug harm in Medicare beneficiaries from 2000-2008, while Sim et al. (2022) evaluated the implementation of a patient safety strategy as part of a QI project from 2012-2016. Slight et al. (2018) estimated the cost of ADEs in US hospitals from overriding medication alerts. Moore et al. (2022) examined the relationship between implementation of a nurse specialist for medication coordination and cost of LOS for patients with Parkinson's. Moreover, Choi et al. (2016) estimated treatment costs associated with medication errors in two US hospitals from 2005-2006, while George et al. (2021) examined the impact of ADEs on health care resource utilization and costs among patients treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors.

Shamliyan and Kane (2016) found that the cost of healthcare hospitalizations due to ADEs increased from \$9 billion in 2000 to \$44 billion in 2008. Furthermore, anticoagulants, cardiovascular drugs, hormones, analgesics, and systemic agents were considered the top medications associated with medication errors and ADEs among nurses, where treatment costs

were greater than \$1 billion. Results for LOS were for in-hospital ADE were reported to be statistically significant, as they were greater than ADEs that occurred outside of hospital (6.5 vs 5.6, respectively; p<0.0001). In comparison, Sim et al. (2022) noted findings that indirectly demonstrate the financial impact of medication errors on healthcare costs. Due to the implementation of the patient safety strategy, ADE rates decreased from 11.6% to 5.4% (p=0.017), which was statistically significant. This also resulted in a cost savings of 20,600 bed days and \$29.2 million US. Meanwhile, Slight et al. (2018) found that the most common medication alerts were drug-allergy, drug-drug interaction, duplicate drug, and drug dosing. Of 78.8 million medical alerts in US hospitals in 2014, approximately 5.5 million were inappropriately overridden. This resulted in 196,600 ADEs, consequently costing the health care system between \$871 million to \$1.8 billion.

Moore et al. (2022) revealed that implementation of a nurse specialist to oversee medication coordination can decrease medication errors; therefore, decreasing LOS and costs associated with LOS. The mean LOS for 2010, 2014, & 2015 were as follows: 24 days, 12 days, and 9 days, respectively. The mean costs per patient associated with each LOS was \$9190.32, \$4595.16, \$446.37, respectively. Meanwhile, the mean costs for LOS for 30 patients based on these averages were \$275,709.60, \$137,854.80, \$103,391.10. As implementation of the nurse specialist became more prevalent throughout the years, medication errors and LOS decreased, saving the healthcare system thousands of dollars. Moreover, Choi et al. (2016) indicated that treatment costs associated with medication errors were noted to range from \$8439-\$8898 among two US hospitals. George et al. (2021) reported that patients who experienced an ADE had double the risk of an inpatient stay (hazard ratio-2.2) and 80% higher risk of an emergency room visit (hazard ratio-1.8) than patients who did not experience an ADE. The 6-month total costs for

LOS were considered statistically significant as results indicated that LOS was higher among patients with an ADE versus those without an ADE (\$99,037 vs \$74,736, respectively) (p <.001). In addition, ADE-related treatment costs averaged $$2359 \pm 7496 per patient per month, with 89.9% of these costs related to in-patient visits.

In conclusion, medication errors have been shown to have an impact on healthcare costs associated with LOS/hospitalization and treatment. Increasing medication management skills among caregivers will help decrease medication errors, consequently, this can be a starting point to decrease healthcare costs worldwide.

Caregivers

Although it is not commonly discussed, medication errors can have devastating and longlasting impacts on caregivers (Athanasakis, 2019). This includes the impact on mental health and self-confidence.

Mental Health

Mental health is an important aspect of an individual's overall well-being. Caregivers are often exposed to many stressors in the work environment that can impact mental health. According to Bobbette et al. (2022), 1 in 3 workers who support people with ID report moderate to severe stress at work. Medication errors are one of the major stressors in healthcare. The impact on mental health is so significant that caregivers are often referred to as second victims of these errors (Robertson & Long, 2018).

Three qualitative research studies (Athanasakis, 2019; Kuppadakkath et al., 2022; Morrudo Garcia et al., 2019) and one medium-quality cross-sectional study (Treiber & Jones, 2018) examined the impact of medication errors on caregiver mental health. Athanasakis (2019) conducted a meta-synthesis, Kuppadakkath et al. (2022) used a phenomenological design, and Morrudo Garcia et al. (2019) used a descriptive exploratory design. Athanasakis (2019) and Kuppadakkath et al. (2022) explored nurses' lived experiences of medication errors, while Morrudo Garcia et al. (2019) examined the consequences of drug therapy errors from a nursing point of view. In comparison, Treiber and Jones (2018) determined the impact of second victim syndrome on nurses.

Athanasakis (2019) identified two main themes associated with nurses' mental health and medication errors: moral impact and emotional impact. Many nurses felt morally impacted when they had to decide to report or not report their medication error; therefore, compromising their career. In addition, many nurses reported feelings of guilt and felt their professional identity had been impacted. The emotional impact was associated with feelings of fear (most common), anger, stress, panic, and trauma. As a result of the emotional impact, symptoms such as depression, insomnia, nightmares, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), and thoughts of suicide were reported. Similarly, one of the main themes that emerged from Kuppadakkath et al. (2022) was the psychological impact on individual nurses, coworkers, patients, and families. It was noted that many nurses had difficulty engaging in their role after a medication error and felt frustrated and emotionally stressed. Furthermore, the pressure and stress of making a medication error made many nurses leave their job, causing staff attrition. Patients and families reported feelings of distress and dissatisfaction with care which also impacted nurses' mental well-being.

In addition, Morrudo Garcia et al. (2019) reported several impacts on individual mental health such as administrative proceedings (dismissal, verbal, and written warnings), withdrawal from work for training, and many emotional consequences such as fear, shame, and uncertainty. One of the major impacts to mental health was exposing individuals who made a medication error to the entire team. Treiber and Jones (2018) found that over half (56%) of participants had

reported making at least one medication error. The most common errors were incorrect dose, and incorrect drug. Many strong emotional responses were associated with these errors such as fear, anger, frustration, and disappointment. Visceral symptoms such as vomiting were also reported with these emotions.

In summary, medication errors have a negative impact on caregiver mental health. While medication errors are not intentional, this does not eliminate the valid feelings that caregivers experience when a medication error is made. Many of these impacts are not noticeable, such as decreased self-confidence.

Self- Confidence

Two medium-quality cross-sectionals (Melnyk et al., 2018; Quillivan et al., 2016), a high-quality systematic review (Seys et al., 2013), and a qualitative descriptive study (Mahat et al., 2022) were used to determine the relationship between medication errors and selfconfidence. Melnyk et al. (2018) examined the relationship between caregiver health and medication errors, while Quillivan et al. (2016) assessed the influence of patient safety culture on second victims. In relation, Seys et al. (2013) determined the impact of adverse events on second victims. Furthermore, Mahat et al. (2022) discussed the negative emotions experienced by health care staff after a medication error.

In their cross-sectional study, Melynk et al. (2018), asked participants to complete the professional quality of life scale. Questions on this Likert scale included items related to self-confidence, productivity, and feeling worn out such as "I am not as engage with my patients today as I used to be", and "I believe I can make a difference through my work". Items were rated 1 (never) to 5 (very often), with a higher total score indicating a higher professional quality of life and increased self-confidence. Out of 1790 nurses who made medication errors, 56.04%

had a score of 0-11 on this scale, indicating a low professional quality of life, and decreased selfconfidence. Quillivan et al. (2016) indirectly found an association between decreased professional self-confidence and medication errors. It was noted that poor patient safety culture measures such as punitive responses to medication errors and a lack of organizational support after a medication error led to professional stress and decreased self-confidence. Two aspects of patient safety culture were assessed: non-punitive responses to medication errors and organizational support. It was reported that non-punitive responses to medication errors and organizational support were significantly associated with increased self-confidence (p = 0.001) (p<0.01), respectively. In Seys et al. (2013), medication errors were determined to have an impact on caregivers' professional lives. Several studies noted caregivers feeling personally responsible for the event which cause intense reactions and feelings of anguish. Additionally, caregivers were afraid of losing their self-confidence and feared that colleagues would think they delivered poor quality of care due to making a medication error. In comparison, Mahat et al. (2022) revealed many negative emotions such as stress, which led to feelings of devastation. As a result, caregivers reported questioning their own competence, which also decreased their self-confidence.

The literature suggests that medication errors have a harmful effect on caregivers' selfconfidence. While some of these studies indirectly measured the effect of medication errors on self-confidence, these results still provide valuable information that can be used to ensure effective resources are implemented to prevent decreased self-confidence after a medication error.

Summary of the Impact of Medication Errors

In conclusion, medication errors have been shown to have a significant impact on clients, healthcare costs, and caregivers. The most obvious impacts are those related to clients, such as ADEs and Length of Hospital Stay. As a result of the impact on clients, healthcare costs are also directly impacted. While the impact on caregivers is not as apparent, medication errors also have a long-lasting effect on caregiver's mental health and self-confidence. The impacts of medication errors can be prevented through several interventions such as medication training and education, QI training, and medication reconciliation.

Prevention of Medication Errors

Although medication errors can never fully be eliminated, they can be prevented with proper medication management skills. Healthcare organizations must ensure effective strategies and interventions are implemented to improve medication management practices. When safe medication management practices are reinforced, there is decreased risk of medication errors. This section will discuss potential strategies and interventions to address this issue such as medication training and education, QI projects, and medication reconciliation.

Medication Training/Education

The need for additional medication training and education is a common theme throughout the literature (Assiri et al.,2018; Burgdorf et al., 2022, Mayahara et al., 2014). Five studies examined the impact of medication management training and education on medication management skills and noted significant results. There were two high-quality randomized controlled trials (RCT) (Mariani et al., 2017, Vital & Nathanson, 2023), a medium-quality nonrandomized controlled trial (NRCT) (Dubovi et al., 2017), a medium-quality mixed methods NRCT /phenomenological study (Holland et al., 2013), and a phenomenological study (Goodwin et al., 2022). Three different modes of delivery were used for these interventions including

simulation or simulation/lecture with case scenarios (Dubovi et al., 2017; Mariani et al. 2017; Vital & Nathanson, 2023), lecture and online video (Holland et al., 2013), and a workshop with lectures and case-studies (Goodwin et al. 2022).

Dubovi et al. (2017) evaluated the effectiveness of a virtual reality simulation for learning medication administration procedures. One group received virtual simulation for one semester, and the other group received normal lectures. A pre-test and post-test were completed by both groups at the beginning and end of the semester. Dubovi et al. (2017) noted a statistically significant difference in overall mean knowledge pre-and post-test scores between the group who received virtual simulation training (55 vs 93) versus normal lectures (51 vs 52) (p<0.001). There was also a statistically significant difference noted between two subscales: medication administration sequence and basic procedural concepts. The mean pre and post-test scores for medication administration sequence were as follows: INT (32 vs 83), CT (38 vs 41) (p<0.001). Additionally, the mean pre and post-test score for basic procedural concepts for the simulation group were 67 vs 98, and 65 vs 57 in the normal lecture group (p<0.001, which was also considered statistically significant.

Mariani et al. (2017) examined impact of additional 1-1.25 hours of simulation training for nursing students based on the Jeffries Simulation Theory and the International Association for Clinical and Simulation Learning (INACSL) Standards of Best Practice. There were 43 students in the intervention group and 43 in the control group. Those in the intervention group received two simulation sessions (medication skills training, and two-person medication administration), while the control group only received one simulation session about medication skills training. Mariani et al. (2017), found a statistically significant difference between the number of students who passed the medication skills knowledge assessment in the group who received two simulations (57%), compared to the group who only received one simulation (28%) (p=.02). Furthermore, the group with two simulations also scored significantly higher than the group with one simulation when between group scores for the medication safety critical element checklist were compared (70.4% vs 56.1%, p=.028).

Vital and Nathanson (2023) measured the impact of an interruption management strategy "Stay S.A.F.E" during medication administration with nursing students. One group received two educational PowerPoints: Stay S.A.F.E strategy and medication safety practices, while the other group only received the PowerPoint about medication safety practices. Students then participated in three simulations where they were interrupted during medication administration to measure the impact of the intervention. Similarly, Vital and Nathanson (2023) found that the group who received two PowerPoint presentations had a shorter median return time (secs) to primary task in simulation 2 versus the group who only had one PowerPoint presentation (11.9 vs 18.9, respectively) (p=.007). This was a statistically significant result. In addition, the INT group also showed statistically significant mean times for all three simulations (30.1 vs 12.4 vs 13.0) (p<001). In addition, when interrupted by a nurse who wanted to give report, the group had received two PowerPoint presentations showed a statistically significant improvement in the percentage of nurses giving the appropriate response (not taking report) during simulation 2 and 3 (5.0% and 5.6%, respectively) (p=.002) (p=.008). There was also a statistically significant decrease in mean frustration scores across three simulations among this group (23.4 vs 19.3 vs 12.4) (p= .034).

Holland et al. (2013) evaluated the use of an online video for medication administration. The intervention group received standard teaching (lectures and skill classes) and unlimited access to an online video clip of medication administration, while the control group only

received standard teaching. Performance and satisfaction were measured using objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) and a satisfaction survey. There was statistically significant association between group and OSCE outcome, as the group who had access to the online video were more likely to pass the assessment, as opposed to the group without the video (79.2% vs 65.5 %, respectively) (p= 0.021). Based on the percentage of highly satisfied responses on the satisfaction survey, satisfaction levels were statistically significantly higher among the group who received the intervention, compared to the group who did not (48% vs 0%, respectively) (p<0.05) Furthermore, two major themes were identified: classroom learning and transfer to practice. Students noted that classroom learning was beneficial for learning from peers and the use of additional resources such as a video was beneficial as it could be used as a reference point. Group discussions were also a valuable learning strategy, and many students noted that learning the basics in the classroom helped them feel confident in practice.

In contrast, Goodwin et al. (2022) examined student nurses' views of a two-day medication workshop that involved several educational strategies such as lecture and problembased learning. There was a total of 32 student nurses who participated in the study. Data was collected using focus groups. Three main themes were revealed among student nurses who participated in the medication workshop: developing confidence regarding medication management, reflections on learning, and enhanced awareness of medication errors. Many of the participants reported that the medication workshop helped them identify any knowledge deficits; therefore, improving their overall confidence with medication administration. In relation, it also helped participants improve communication between other healthcare providers. When reflecting on learning gained from the workshop, participants noted that the workshop was a fun way to learn and help them apply learning to practice. Students also liked how the workshop contained

practical and theoretical learning material. Furthermore, many students reported an increased awareness of medication errors and noted that this workshop helped reduce the stigma associated with making an error. Finally, participants reported increased confidence in the ability to report a medication error. Overall, the medication management workshop was noted to have a positive impact on student confidence and competence related to medication management.

All studies reported either statistically significant differences or positive feedback related to medication management education and training. Furthermore, these studies used a variety of educational strategies to deliver the medication management content such as simulation, lectures, group discussion, videos, and a workshop. Three of studies used simulation or simulation/lecture with problem-based learning as an educational strategy and noted statistically significant results associated with these strategies and medication management knowledge (Dubovi et al., 2017; Mariani et al., 2017; Vital & Nathanson, 2023). In comparison, Goodwin et al. (2022) used a workshop that involved lecture and problem-based learning reported positive experiences associated with this workshop. Additionally, Holland et al. (2013) only used a lecture but found statistically significant results between the use of lecture and medication management knowledge. As a result of the statistically significant results/ positive feedback associated with these educational strategies, lecture, simulation, and problem-based learning will be implemented into my program.

Jie-hui (2016) indicated that simulation is a beneficial educational strategy for healthcare professionals as it provides a realistic clinical environment where learners can integrate knowledge, skills, and critical thinking. Meanwhile, Pan et al. (2018) reported that problembased learning is important in health care, as it helps participants face the practice-learning gap, and encourages active learning through reflection, teamwork, problem-solving skills, and the

integration of knowledge. In addition, Aloush (2019) noted that when lectures are used as an educational strategy in health care, there should be a focus on the need-to-know elements which will help foster decision-making skill. The use of these strategies is consistent with Knowles' adult learning principles which indicate that everyone learns differently, and adults learn best through sharing experiences (Knowles, 1978). Additionally, the use of methods such as simulation and problem-based learning give participants the opportunity to practice hands-on learning, reflection, and planning which is related to the experiential learning theory (Kolb, 1984). As a result, education and training sessions about medication management have been shown to be effective and can be based on learning theory.

Quality Improvement Projects

QI projects are an important part of reorienting healthcare processes and improving patient outcomes. According to Wagner (2022), QI projects associated with medication administration help healthcare professionals develop critical thinking, reasoning, and prioritization skills. Three medium-quality studies (Frye and Rushanan, 2023: Ganaden and Mitchell, 2018; Sim et al., 2022) and one moderately trustworthy study (Wagner, 2022) examined the impact of QI projects in relation to medication management. Frye and Rushanan (2023) and Ganaden and Mitchell (2018) used an uncontrolled before after (UCBA) design, while Sim et al. (2022) used a cross-sectional, and Wagner (2022) used a qualitative descriptive design. Four different modes of education were used in the QI projects including a 1-hr online module, 40-minute lecture, simulation, and 10-days of observations.

Frye and Rushanan (2023) examined the impact of a QI project designed to promote medication management competence based on the knowledge to action framework in a large academic home health agency. Education about medication management was delivered with a 1-

hr online module with videos, accompanied by a pre and post-test. In relation, Ganaden and Mitchell (2018) examined if a QI project involving a comprehensive unit-based safety program would enhance patient safety and improve medication safety. Staff completed a baseline survey of the culture of patient safety, received a 40-minute lecture about safety science, and identified safety concerns. Members of the leadership team attended meetings to determine which interventions could be implemented to improve patient safety (i.e., job shadowing). Staff also completed a post survey about the patient safety culture. Sim et al. (2022) examined the impact of a three-phase patient safety strategy quality improvement project from 2012 to 2016 to reduce the incidence, prevalence, and severity of ADEs, and improve patient safety. Phase one involved identifying common areas of harm such as medication administration and incorrect patient identification. In phase two, a strength, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) analysis was completed to determine root causes, and in phase three simulation training was provided. Chart reviews were conducted from 430,860 admissions from 2012 to 2018.

Two studies reported statistically significant results associated with medication QI projects (Frye and Rushanan, 2023; Sim et al., 2022). In Frye and Rushanan (2023) there was a statistically significant increase in mean medication management competency from 99.68 pre intervention to 124.24 post intervention (p= .006). The two areas with the largest mean increases were finding information about medications via agency resources (pre-test= 4.97) (post-test = 7.06) (p= .004), and documentation (pre-test = 5.57) (post-test = 7.71) (p= .006), which were all statistically significant. In relation, Sim et al. (2022) found a statistically significant decrease in ADEs (11.6% to 5.4 %) (p=0.017), and preventable ADEs (5.7% to 2.0%) (p= 0.006). Moreover, the percentage of ADEs causing permanent harm, death, or needing intervention to sustain life decreased from 8.4% to 2.6%. The hospital-wide patient safety grade also increased from 46.5%

to 58.3%, and there was an 82% increase in voluntary reporting. Meanwhile, Ganaden and Mitchell (2018) reported that patient safety culture score increased from 70% to 76.8%. In relation, there was an increase in the number of incident reports received over the duration of a year (2 vs 18, respectively), with a name identified on 54% of these reports. Furthermore, 84% of staff indicated that this QI project was a good or excellent experience.

In contrast, Wagner (2022) used two cohorts of nursing students (n=15) who completed 10 days of problem-based observations which involved monitoring RN-mentored medication administration to determine the impact of a QI project designed to examine nursing management of interruptions during medication administration. Four main themes were identified: "*frequency of interruptions*", "*prioritization and reasoning*", "*decision-based learning*", and "*QI in practice*". Students identified an increased awareness of the number of interruptions during medication administration that would require a nurse to stop the primary task (medication administration), as well as situations that could wait until the primary task was completed. Moreover, students learned how nurses maintain safety when interrupted such as repeating the rights of medication administration or starting the preparation process over. Students could also understand how this QI was beneficial to practice such as improved attitude toward medication safety, increased awareness of the importance of medication management practices, and learning skills to stay focused.

Frye and Rushanan (2023) and Sim et al. (2022) found statistically significant results related to QI projects and medication management. Although Ganaden and Mitchell (2018) did not report statistically significant results, based on the increases/decreases in mean percentages, the QI project was noted to have a positive impact on medication management skills such as

medication documentation. Furthermore, the common themes identified in Wagner (2022) indicated that this QI project had a positive influence on nursing students. Ganaden and Mitchell (2018) used lecture as an educational strategy in their QI project, while Sim et al. (2022) used simulation, and Wagner (2022) used problem-based learning. As these studies reported either statistically significant results or positive feedback related to the QI project, this indicates that these educational strategies are effective and should be incorporated into the medication management program for DSWs. This relates to Knowles' adult learning principles and Kolb's experiential learning theory, as participants are exposed to a variety of learning techniques, are active participants in the learning process, and can experience hands-on learning and reflection (Knowles, 1978; Kolb, 1984). Based on these findings, QI projects have been proven to be effective to prevent medication errors.

Medication Reconciliation

Medication reconciliation is a process whereby healthcare providers work collaboratively with patients, families, and other care providers to review medication information and ensure accuracy. It is an important component of medication management which allows medication information to be communicated consistently across transitions of care (ISMP, n.d.).

Three medium-quality nurse-led studies (Aiezza et al., 2021; Hron et al., 2015; Young et al., 2015; and one high-quality pharmacy-led study (Stuijt et al., 2021) determined the impact of medication reconciliation on medication management. Aiezza et al. (2021) used a NRCT, while Hron et al. (2015) and Young et al. (2015) used a UCBA design, and Stuijt et al. (2021) conducted a RCT. Aiezza et al. (2021) evaluated the prevalence and nature of potentially inappropriate medications in a group of hospitalized patients. One group (n=100) received medication by a nurse, while the other group (n=100) received usual care. Hron et al.

al. (2015) measured the impact of electronic medication reconciliation on medication errors. An electronic medication reconciliation tool was implemented, and nurses were trained to use it. This allowed nurses to complete a second medication reconciliation and identify any medication reconciliation errors that may have been made upon admission (using the paper chart). Furthermore, Young et al. (2015) examined the effect of using an advanced practice nurse (APN) for medication reconciliation to identify medication discrepancies in elderly cardiac patients. This intervention involved two phases where 200 medication records were reviewed. Phase one involved the usual medication reconciliation process implemented by the hospital/agency, whereas phase two involved the APN reviewing the medication list, documenting client history, updating medication lists, and preparing discharge medication lists. In comparison, Stuijt et al. (2021) assessed the effect of medication reconciliation by pharmacy on patient reported, potential ADEs post discharge. One group (n=138) received usual care, while the other group (n=83) received medication reconciliation performed by pharmacy.

Aiezza et al. (2021) noted that the group who received medication reconciliation was prescribed 7.5 ± 2.8 medications upon admission, versus 8.0 ± 2.4 in the group who did not receive medication reconciliation. After the intervention, there was a statistically significant difference between the mean drugs prescribed post-intervention among those who received medication reconciliation (6.1 ± 3.1) (p=0.002). Medication reconciliation found potential errors such as polypharmacy and continued use of drugs that were supposed to be discontinued which accounted for the change in mean number of prescriptions prescribed. In addition, there was also a statistically significant difference found at discharge as the group who received the intervention was found to take two units of medicine less than the group who did not receive the intervention (p<0.001). Additionally, the intervention was noted to decrease interactions between drugs by

46% (107 to 38) and decrease potentially inappropriate drugs by 38% (50 to 31) from preintervention to post-intervention. In comparison, Hron et al. (2015) found 1816 medication safety errors, of which 153 were related to medication reconciliation. There was a statistically significant difference noted for non-intercepted medication reconciliation errors pre intervention (59) (4.1 per 1000 admissions) and post intervention (36) (2.0 per 1000 admissions) (p=0.02). Additionally, the risk of an ADE related to admission medication reconciliation post-intervention was statistically significant, as it was lower than pre-intervention (RR=0.024; p<0.001). In Young et al. (2015) statistically significant differences were found between the proportions of patients with at least one medication discrepancy pre-intervention (94%) to post-intervention (81%) (p=0.005). Furthermore, the mean number of medication discrepancies per patient decreased from pre-intervention (8.09 ± 6.75) to post-intervention (4.32 ± 5.66) (p= 0.005) due to implementation of an APN for medication reconciliation. This was also considered statistically significant. Based on statistically significant results, the intervention was noted to be most effective at reducing discrepancies related to the following classes of drugs: bowel (p=.001), neurologic (p=.002), anti-anginal (p=0.024). Moreover, Stuijt et al. (2021) noted statistically significant results were reported as the medication reconciliation group reported a lower median number of potential ADEs compared to the group who did not receive medication reconciliation (1.1 vs 2.1) (p < 0.0001). Receiving the medication reconciliation intervention was alo associated with less potential ADEs (RR=0.5). Meanwhile, previous admission was associated with a higher number of potential ADEs (RR=1.3).

All studies noted statistically significant results related to medication reconciliation and medication management. While Stuijt et al. (2021) was pharmacy-led, the results of this study were still significant and related to the nurse-led studies. Therefore, these findings can be

extrapolated to provide evidence that medication reconciliation is an effective way to improve medication management. The process of medication reconciliation in these studies is related to the experiential learning theory, as nurses get the opportunity to practice completing the medication reconciliation, instead of relying on the pharmacy team (Kolb, 1984). Furthermore, Knowles' adult learning principles are evident in these interventions as learning to complete medication reconciliation is relevancy oriented and practical, as well as provides autonomy and self-direction (Knowles, 1978).

Summary of Interventions and Gaps in the Literature

While many of the interventions identified in the literature have a positive impact on medication management, the most statistically significant effects were noted among studies that involved education and training. Moreover, the literature identifies education and training as the basis of medication management as it increases the understanding of the medication process and improves confidence in medication administration; therefore, contributing to an increased quality of life for patients (Bologan, 2021). According to Sun et al. (2021) educational training addresses the learning needs of caregivers, consequently, improving competence and decreasing harmful effects to patients. Despite the numerous studies that noted the significant impact of education and training on medication management practices, there is a gap in the literature indicating the best mode of delivery for medication management education and training. Furthermore, many of the education and training interventions found in the literature were based on generalized medication errors, instead of the three most common errors: wrong dose, wrong time, and wrong patient. In addition, only one of these interventions (Mariani et al., 2017) was based on a theoretical framework.

Based on the results of the studies discussed, my proposed best practice for addressing medication management is the development of a medication management program that involves several different educational strategies in a classroom setting (i.e., simulation, lecture, problembased learning), is based on theoretical frameworks and addresses the three most common types of medication errors identified in the literature. Simulation was used for education and training interventions in Dubovi et al. (2017), Mariani et al. (2017), Vital and Nathanson (2023) as well as a QI project in Sim et al. (2022), and all noted statistically significant effects. Additionally, problem-based learning was used in four education and training interventions (Dubovi et al., 2017; Goodwin et al., 2022; Mariani et al., 2017, Vital and Nathanson, 2023). While statistically significant effects were only noted in three of these studies (Dubovi et al., 2017; Mariani et al., 2017, Vital & Nathanson, 2023), the findings from the qualitative data in Goodwin et al. (2022) indicate that the problem-based learning was an effective strategy to use for these interventions. Meanwhile, lecture was used in three education/training interventions (Goodwin et al., 2022; Holland et al., 2013; Vital & Nathanson, 2023), and one QI intervention (Ganaden and Mitchell, 2018). While statistically significant effects were only noted in two studies (Holland et al., 2013; Vital and Nathanson, 2023), the increase and decrease in proportions in Ganaden and Mitchell (2018) indicates that lecture was an effective strategy to use for this intervention. In addition, the constructive results found among the qualitative data in Goodwin et al. (2022) also indicates that lecture was an effective strategy. As lecture, simulation, and problem-based learning were common strategies used in the literature that generated statistically significant or positive results, these strategies were also chosen for the development of my resource. In the following section, I discussed my theoretical frameworks for my proposed resource, as well as linked my theoretical frameworks to my chosen educational strategies.

Medication Management Program for Developmental Support Workers

Education and training are crucial for anyone working in healthcare. To provide medication management education and training to DSWs, the medication management program will be delivered via a half-day workshop. Three studies promote the use of a one-day medication management workshop for front-line employees. (Dyer & Holmes, 2013; Siva, 2014; Thomas et al., 2021). According to Dyer and Holmes (2013), a half-day workshop has many benefits such as increased medication management knowledge and skills, improved quality of care, patient safety, and consistent care. In addition, a half-day workshop is typically developed for front-line employees. Furthermore, Siva (2014) noted that many direct support service core trainings (i.e., medication management) were completed in a half-day training session. Due to the busy schedule of health care workers, Thomas et al. (2021) noted that a half-day workshop is an effective way to provide education and training.

This medication management program will be informed by the results of the consultation plan, environmental scan, as well as the literature. Knowles' adult learning theory and Kolb's experiential learning theory will be used to the guide the development of this program. Knowles' adult learning theory will be used to guide the educational strategies for the delivery of the content, while Kolb's experiential theory will be used to guide the development of the workshop and content. In the following section, I will describe my theoretical frameworks and the medication management program.

Theoretical Frameworks

Two theoretical frameworks (The Knowles' adult learning theory and the Kolb's experiential learning theory) will be used to guide the development of the medication management program.

Knowles' Adult Learning Theory

The Knowles' adult learning theory contains a set of principles that are applicable to adult learners (Collins, 2004). This theory indicates that adult learners connect life experience and knowledge to learning, are relevancy-oriented and practical, learn best when they are active participants in learning, and not every adult learns the same way (Knowles, 1978). In relation, adults are autonomous and self-directed learners (Knowles, 1978). The Knowles' adult learning theory will be used to guide the content for the workshop. For instance, I will incorporate content where students must engage in discussion and share experiences such as reading a scenario and asking the group how they would solve the problem or how they have solved the problem in real clinical situations. This will provide learners with relevant learning material that can be applied to practice in connection with any previous knowledge and experience that participants may or may not have which is associated with Knowles' adult learning theory. Additionally, I will include content that requires participants to practice hands-on skills such as reading a medication record, preparing, administering, and documenting the medication. This will ensure learners are actively engaged in the learning process as per Knowles' adult learning theory. Mitchell and Courtney (2008) noted that reading materials for adults based on Knowles' adult learning theory should be prepared at an 8th grade reading level, be visually appealing, and have a suitable size font. Preparing the content based on the Knowles' adult learning theory will ensure the different needs of adult learners are taken into consideration so everyone has a positive learning experience.

The Kolb's Experiential Learning Theory

The Kolb's (1984) experiential learning theory was also used to guide the development of the training program. Kolb (1984) indicated that this theory involves four domains including

experience, perception, cognition, and behavior. While this is similar to the constructivist theory, the experiential learning theory involves the affective domain (i.e., emotions); therefore, learning is viewed as a holistic approach, as opposed to an intellectual or physical approach (Kolb, 1984). According to Sharlanova (2004), this theory involves active learning, with an emphasis on learning by reflection on experience. This is a cyclical process which involves doing, observing, thinking, and planning. The doing phase involves actively completing a task either individually or as a group. The observing phase involves reflecting on the task that was completed to determine feelings about the task and what could be done differently. The thinking phase is when the learner tries to make sense of the task that was completed, while the planning phase involves planning to test a theory differently for future. This theory will be used to inform the different modes of delivery for the medication management workshop. In the doing phase, participants will engage in a simulation and problem-based exercise as a group. In the observing phase, participants will have time to critically reflect and write about their simulation experience. During the thinking phase, participants will engage in group discussion about the simulation and how they can relate this to real clinical situations. The focus in this phase will be learning from each other. Finally, in the planning phase, participants will receive important tips and information about medication management via lecture. Participants can use this information to determine how they can plan to improve in the future. The goal is to have students engaged in active learning through activities such as simulation; however, this program will also allow for students to reflect on activities to determine what they learned, what could be improved, and a plan to improve for real-life clinical situations. When planning the content of this workshop, I need to ensure I incorporate realistic scenarios for the simulations and problem-based learning, as this was a need identified during the consultations with DSWs and managers at Momentum.

The experiential learning theory will guide participants in practicing hands-on skills, but also in the development of learning through reflection and critical thinking. Reflecting on learning through hands-on practice will allow participants to understand their strengths and opportunities regarding medication management. Consequently, medication management practices will improve, and quality care will be provided to patients.

Overview of the Medication Management Program

The medication management program for DSWs will be delivered via a half-day workshop. During consultations with DSWs and managers at Momentum, the majority preferred classroom-based learning with a variety of educational strategies. The goal is to improve medication management knowledge and practices among DSWs; therefore, leading to less medication errors, and improved quality of care for clients. The content of this workshop will focus on the three most common medications errors identified in the literature: wrong dose, wrong time, and wrong medication. In relation, there will also be information about medication preparation (i.e., 8 rights of medication administration, commonly confused medications), administration (i.e., patient identification), documentation (i.e., do not use abbreviations, medication administration record). A lecture, simulation, and problem-based learning will be the educational strategies used to deliver the content of this program.

The lecture will include brief content that is necessary for DSWs to know (i.e., rights of medication administration, storage of medications, disposal guidelines). DSWs will be given a copy of the PowerPoint lecture so they can add additional notes if needed. Questions will be also asked throughout the lecture to simulate group discussion. As per Knowles' adult learning theory, incorporating a lecture will help accommodate the needs of all adult learners, and it will give students an opportunity to plan for future improvements using information learned in the

lecture, as per Kolb's experiential learning theory. After participants learn the basic elements of medication management via lecture, they will engage in simulation-based training. This will allow participants to demonstrate practical skills (i.e., preparing and administering medications), as well as apply critical thinking skills when faced with a scenario (i.e., patient refuses medication or asks questions about prescribed medication). In addition, this will pose an opportunity for participants to reflect on their skills and how they would do things differently when faced with a similar scenario again. For problem-based learning, participants will have the opportunity to engage in several learning activities (i.e.., case scenarios) that will be facilitated by the training manager. This will encourage learners to brainstorm ideas together and identify the best possible solution to medication management scenarios that may appear in real clinical situations. This will ensure a variety of learning needs are accommodated as per Knowles' adult learning theory, and ensure participants have the opportunity to practice and reflect on knowledge as per Kolb's experiential learning theory.

Conclusion

The management of medications is an important part of healthcare that requires attention. Although licensed and unlicensed caregivers can manage medications, unlicensed caregivers do not receive the same training and education as licensed caregivers. While the prevalence of medication errors and ADEs are alarming worldwide, ensuring caregivers (especially unlicensed) have the proper education and training can help prevent these errors. While one of the main concerns regarding poor medication management is patient safety, this issue also affects healthcare organizations and caregivers.

To reduce the impact of poor medication management and lower the rate of medication errors, it is essential to have an education and training program available to unlicensed
caregivers. This program will provide support staff with the training they need to become competent in medication management procedures. To address diverse learning needs and promote inclusivity, it is crucial to design a program that incorporates various learning strategies, including lectures, simulations, and problem-based learning. This will ensure participants are motivated to learn; therefore, retaining as much information as possible. As a result, support staff will feel adequately training in medication management; therefore, increasing the quality of care.

References

- Aiezza, M., Bresciani, A., Guglielmi, G., Massa, M., Tortori, E., Marfella, R., Aliberti, E., & Iannuzzi, A. (2021). Medication review versus usual care to improve drug therapies in hospitalised older patients admitted to internal medicine wards. *European Journal of Hospital Pharmacy.*, 28(3), 160–164. https://doi.org/10.1136/ejhpharm-2019-002072
- Ali, L., Saifan, A., Alrimawi, I., & Atout, M. (2021). Nurses' perceptions toward factors that cause medication errors in Jordan: A qualitative study. *Perspectives in Psychiatric Care*, 57(3), 1417–1424. https://doi.org/10.1111/ppc.12707
- Al-Jumaili, A. (2017). Comprehensive literature review of factors influencing medication safety in nursing homes: Using a systems model. *Journal of the American Directors Association, 18*(6), 470-488. https://dx.doi.org/10.1016.j.jamda2016.12.069
- Aloush, S. M., (2019). Lecture-based education versus simulation in educating student nurses about central line–associated bloodstream infection–prevention guidelines. *Journal of Vascular Nursing*, 37(2), 125–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvn.2018.11.006
- Alqenae, F. A., Steinke, D., & Keers, R. N. (2020). Prevalence and Nature of Medication Errors and Medication-Related Harm Following Discharge from Hospital to Community Settings: A Systematic Review. *Drug Safety*, *43*(6), 517–537.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-020-00918-3
- Alshehri, G. H., Keers, R. N., & Ashcroft, D. M. (2017). Frequency and Nature of Medication Errors and Adverse Drug Events in Mental Health Hospitals: a Systematic Review. *Drug Safety.*, 40(10), 871–886. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40264-017-0557-7
- Assiri, G. A., Shebl, N. A., Mahmoud, M. A., Aloudah, N., Grant, E., Aljadhey, H., & Sheikh, A. (2018). What is the epidemiology of medication errors, error-related adverse events and

risk factors for errors in adults managed in community care contexts? A systematic review of the international literature. *BMJ Open*, *8*(5), e019101–e019101. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019101

- Athanasakis, E. (2019). A meta-synthesis of how registered nurses make sense of their lived experiences of medication errors. *Journal of Clinical Nursing.*, *28*(17/18), 3077–3095. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14917
- Bengtsson, M., Ekedahl, A.-B. I., & Sjöström, K. (2021). Errors linked to medication management in nursing homes: an interview study. *BMC Nursing*, 20(1), 69–69. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-021-00587-2
- Berland, A., & Bentsen, S. B. (2017). Medication errors in home care: a qualitative focus group study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(21-22), 3734–3741. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13745
- Blignaut, A. J., Coetzee, S. K., Klopper, H. C., & Ellis, S. M. (2017). Medication administration errors and related deviations from safe practice: an observational study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(21-22), 3610–3623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13732</u>\
- Bobbette, N., Campanella, S., Hamdani, Y., Thomson, K., & Lunsky, Y. (2022). Recognizing the mental health needs of direct support professionals: An essential workforce 2022 update. <u>https://www.camh.ca/-/media/files/azrieli-centre/azrieli-summaryreport-dsp-2022-pdf.pdf</u>
- Bologan, A.-I., (2021). Medication Management Education Program for Adult Learners Teaching Homeless Adults. Digital Commons @ SPU.
- Burgdorf, J. G., Chase, J.-A. D., Whitehouse, C., & Bowles, K. H. (2022). Unmet Caregiving Needs Among Sepsis Survivors Receiving Home Health Care: The Need for Caregiver

Training. Journal of Applied Gerontology., 41(10), 2180–2186.

https://doi.org/10.1177/07334648221104084

- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2016). *Measuring patient harm in Canadian hospitals*. https://secure.cihi.ca/free_products/cihi_cpsi_hospital_harm_en.pdf
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2022, November 3). *National health expenditure trends, 2022-snapshot.* https://www.cihi.ca/en/national-health-expenditure-trends-2022snapshot#:~:text=Total%20health%20expenditure%20expected%20to,19%20pandemic% 2C%20particularly%20in%202020
- Castaldo, A. (2022). Factors contributing to medication errors: A descriptive qualitative study of Italian nursing students. *Nurse Education Today.*, *118*.
- Cheragi, M.A., Manoocheri, H., Mohammadnejad, E., & Ehsani, S. R. (2013). Types and causes of medication errors from nurse's viewpoint. *Iranian Journal of Nursing and Midwifery Research*, *18*(3), 228–231.
- Choi, I., Lee, S.-M., Flynn, L., Kim, C.-M., Lee, S., Kim, N.-K., & Suh, D.-C. (2016). Incidence and treatment costs attributable to medication errors in hospitalized patients. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy : RSAP.*, *12*(3), 428–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2015.08.006
- Choo, J., Johnston, L., & Manias, E. (2013). Nurses' medication administration practices at two Singaporean acute care hospitals: Nurses' administration medication practices. *Nursing & Health Sciences*, 15(1), 101–108. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-2018.2012.00706.x
- College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2019). *Medication management*. <u>https://crnnl.ca/site/uploads/2022/03/medication-management.pdf</u>

- Collins, J. (2004). Education techniques for lifelong learning: Principles of adult learning. *Radiographics*, *24*(5), 1483–1489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1148/rg.245045020</u>
- Dionisi, S., & Di Simone, E. (2022). Medication errors' cause analysis in home care setting: A systematic review. Public Health Nursing, 39(4), 876-897.
- Domm, E., Raisbeck, B., & Pearce, M. (2021). Clinical Reasoning to Advance Medication Safety by Senior Nursing Students. *Quality Advancement in Nursing Education*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.17483/2368-6669.1255
- Dubovi, I., Levy, S. T., & Dagan, E. (2017). Now I know how! The learning process of medication administration among nursing students with non-immersive desktop virtual reality simulation. *Computers and Education*, *113*, 16–27.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2017.05.009
- Dyer, P., & Holmes, C. (2013). Diabetes training for nurses: The effectiveness of an inpatient diabetes half-day workshop. *Journal of Diabetes Nursing*, 17(3), 86-94. https://diabetesonthenet.com/wp-content/uploads/jdn17-3-86-94-1.pdf
- Elliott, R. A., Camacho, E., Jankovic, D., Sculpher, M. J., & Faria, R. (2021). Economic analysis of the prevalence and clinical and economic burden of medication error in England. *BMJ Quality & Safet.*, 30(2), 96–105. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2019-010206
- Erickson, S. R., Kamdar, N., & Wu, C.-H. (2020). Adverse medication events related to hospitalization in the United States: A comparison between adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities and those without. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 125(1), 37–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-125.1.37</u>
- Fairbanks, B. (2021, August 24). 7 adult learning theories and principles to enhance your learning. <u>https://www.phoenix.edu/blog/adult-learning-theories-principles.html</u>

- Farag, A. A., & Anthony, M. K. (2015). Examining the Relationship Among Ambulatory
 Surgical Settings Work Environment, Nurses' Characteristics, and Medication Errors
 Reporting. *Journal of Perianesthesia Nursing Official Journal of the American Society of PeriAnesthesia Nurses.*, 30(6), 492–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopan.2014.11.014
- Farag, A., Tullai-McGuinness, S., Anthony, M. K., & Burant, C. (2017). Do Leadership Style, Unit Climate, and Safety Climate Contribute to Safe Medication Practices? *Journal of Nursing Administration.*, 47(1), 8–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NNA.00000000000430</u>
- Ferrah, N., Lovell, J. J., & Ibrahim, J. E. (2017). Systematic Review of the Prevalence of Medication Errors Resulting in Hospitalization and Death of Nursing Home Residents. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society (JAGS)*, 65(2), 433–442. https://doi.org/10.1111/jgs.14683
- Frye, S. K., & Rushanan, S. G. (2023). Promoting Medication Management Skills Among Home Health Occupational Therapists: A Quality Improvement Project. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, 35(2), 108–113. https://doi.org/10.1177/10848223221127438
- Ganaden, R. E., & Mitchell, L. (2018). Implementing a Comprehensive Unit-Based Safety
 Program (CUSP) to Enhance a Culture of Patient Safety and Improve Medication Safety
 in a Regional Home Care Program. *Quality Management in Health Care*, 27(3), 130–135.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/QMH.00000000000180</u>
- George, S., Bell, E. J., Zheng, Y., Kim, R., White, J., Devgan, G., Smith, J., Lal, L. S., Engel-Nitz, N. M., & Liu, F. X. (2021). The Impact of Adverse Events on Health Care Resource Utilization, Costs, and Mortality Among Patients Treated with Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors. *The Oncologist (Dayton, Ohio)*, 26(7), e1205–e1215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/onco.13812</u>

- Gilbert, J., & Jeong-ah, K. (2018). To err is human: medication patient safety in aged care, a case study. *Quality in Ageing*, *19*(2), 126–134. https://doi.org/10.1108/QAOA-11-2017-0048
- Godfrey, C. M., Harrison, M. B., Lang, A., Macdonald, M., Leung, T., & Swab, M. (2013).
 Homecare safety and medication management: a scoping review of the quantitative and qualitative evidence. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports*, *11*(2), 357–371. https://doi.org/10.11124/01938924-201311020-00007
- Goodwin, J., White, S., O'Malley, M., Hurley, E., O'Donovan, A., & Kelly, P. (2022). "It"s good to have the knowledge and the confidence': Mental health student nurses' views of a medication workshop. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 31(4), 1011– 1020. https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.13012
- Hammoudi, B. M., Ismaile, S., & Abu Yahya, O. (2018). Factors associated with medication administration errors and why nurses fail to report them. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, 32(3), 1038–1046. https://doi.org/10.1111/scs.12546
- Holland, A., Smith, F., McCrossan, G., Adamson, E., Watt, S., & Penny, K. (2013). Online video in clinical skills education of oral medication administration for undergraduate student nurses: A mixed methods, prospective cohort study. *Nurse Education Today*, *33*(6), 663–670. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2012.01.006</u>
- Hron, J.D., ManziI, S., Dionne, R., Chiang, V. W., Brostoff, M., Altavilla, S. A., Patterson, A., & Harper, M. B. (2015). Electronic medication reconciliation and medication errors. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, *27*(4), 314–319. https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzv046
- Institute for Safe Medication Practices Canada. (n.d.). *Medication reconciliation*. https://www.ismp-canada.org/medrec/

- Institute for Safe Medication Practices Canada. (2020, December 22). Medications most frequently reported in harm incidents over the past 5 years (2015-2020). *ISMP Canada Safety Bulletin, 20*(11), 1-7. https://ismpcanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/ISMPCSB2020i11-Medications-Reported-Harm.pdf
- Iwasaki, H., Sakuma, M., Ida, H., & Morimoto, T. (2021). The Burden of Preventable Adverse Drug Events on Hospital Stay and Healthcare Costs in Japanese Pediatric Inpatients: The JADE Study. *Clinical Medicine Insights. Pediatrics*, 15, 1179556521995833– 1179556521995833. https://doi.org/10.1177/1179556521995833
- James, J. T. (2013). A New, Evidence-based Estimate of Patient Harms Associated with Hospital Care. *Journal of Patient Safety*, 9(3), 122–128. https://doi.org/10.1097/PTS.0b013e3182948a69
- Jie-hui, X. (2016). Toolbox of teaching strategies in nurse education. *Chinese Nursing Research*, 3(2), 54-57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnre.2016.06.002</u>
- Keers, R. N., Williams, S. D., Cooke, J., & Ashcroft, D. M. (2013). Prevalence and Nature of Medication Administration Errors in Health Care Settings: A Systematic Review of Direct Observational Evidence. *The Annals of Pharmacotherapy*, 47(2), 237–256. https://doi.org/10.1345/aph.1R147
- Knowles, M. S. (1978). Andragogy: Adult Learning Theory in Perspective. *Community College Review*, 5(3), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/009155217800500302
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). *Experiential learning: experience as the source of learning and development*. Prentice-Hall.
- Kuppadakkath, S. C., Olasoji, M., & Garvey, L. (2022). Nurses' experience of medication errors in residential aged care facilities: An exploratory descriptive study. *Collegian : Journal of*

the Royal College of Nursing, Australia., 29(6), 880–886.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colegn.2022.04.006

Levkovich, B. J., Orosz, J., Bingham, G., Cooper, D. J., Dooley, M., Kirkpatrick, C., & Jones, D.
A. (2022). Medication-related Medical Emergency Team activations: a case review study of frequency and preventability. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, *32*(4), 214–.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2021-014185

Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). Naturalistic inquiry. Sage Publications

- Mahat, S., Rafferty, A. M., Vehviläinen-Julkunen, K., & Härkänen, M. (2022). Negative emotions experienced by healthcare staff following medication administration errors: a descriptive study using text-mining and content analysis of incident data. *BMC Health Services Research*, 22(1), 1474–1474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-08818-1</u>
- Makary, M. A., & Daniel, M. (2016). Medical error—the third leading cause of death in the US. *BMJ (Online)*, *353*, i2139–i2139. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i2139
- Mariani, B., Ross, J. G., Paparella, S., & Allen, L. R. (2017). Medication Safety Simulation to
 Assess Student Knowledge and Competence. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *13*(5), 210–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2017.01.003</u>
- Mayahara, M., Paice, J., Wilbur, J., Fogg, L., & Foreman, M. (2014). Common Errors in Using Analgesics by Home-Based Nonprofessional Hospice Caregivers. *Journal of Hospice and Palliative Nursing JHPN : the Official Journal of the Hospice and Palliative Nurses Association.*, 16(3), 134–140. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NJH.00000000000040</u>
- Melnyk, B. M., Orsolini, L., Tan, A., Arslanian-Engoren, C., Melkus, G. D., Dunbar-Jacob, J.,Rice, V. H., Millan, A., Dunbar, S. B., Braun, L. T., Wilbur, J., Chyun, D. A., Gawlik,K., & Lewis, L. M. (2018). A National Study Links Nurses' Physical and Mental Health

to Medical Errors and Perceived Worksite Wellness. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 60(2), 126–131.

https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000001198

- McCarthy, B.C., Tuiskula, K. A., Driscoll, T. P., & Davis, A. M. (2017). Medication errors resulting in harm: Using chargemaster data to determine association with cost of hospitalization and length of stay. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74 *Suppl 4*(23), S102–S107. https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160848
- McDade, S. (2023). Case-Based Patient Scenario Learning Activity on Medication Administration. *Journal of Nursing Education.*, 62(1), 63–64.

https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20221109-09

- Mitchell, M. L., & Courtney, M. (2005). Improving transfer from the intensive care unit: The development, implementation and evaluation of a brochure based on Knowles' Adult Learning Theory. *International Journal of Nursing Practice*, *11*(6), 257–268. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-172X.2005.00533.x
- Mitchell, I., Schuster, A., Smith, K., Pronovost, P., & Wu, A. (2016). Patient safety incident reporting: a qualitative study of thoughts and perceptions of experts 15 years after "To Err is Human." *BMJ Quality & Safety*, 25(2), 92–99. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2015-004405
- Moore, S., Jackson, S., & Yousuf, A. (2022). Medication management for patients with Parkinson's: The impact of a nurse specialist and non-medical prescribing in hospital setting. *Journal of Prescribing Practice*, *4*(5), 200-204.
- Morrudo Garcia, E. Q., De Figueiredo, P. P., Da Silveira, R. S., Tomaschewski Barlem, J. G., De Oliveira, S. G., & Ramos, F. C. (2019). Errors in medicinal therapy and the consequences

for nursing / Erros na terapia medicamentosa e as consequências para a enfermagem. *Revista de Pesquisa, Cuidado é Fundamental Online.*, *11*(1), 88–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.9789/2175-5361.2019.v11i1.88-96</u>

- O'Brien, K., Welsh, D., Lundrigan, E., & Doyle, A. (2013). Transitioning to a new nursing home: One organization's experience. *The Health Care Manager*, *32*(3), 203–211. https://doi.org/10.1097/HCM.0b013e31829d72eb
- Pan, L., Xi, H.-Q., Shen, X.-W., & Zhang, C.-Y. (2018). Toolbox of teaching strategies. *Frontiers of Nursing*, 5(4), 249–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/fon-2018-0033</u>
- Parand, A., Garfield, S., Vincent, C., & Franklin, B. D. (2016). Carers' medication administration errors in the domiciliary setting: A systematic review. *PloS One*, *11*(12), e0167204–e0167204. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167204
- Public Health Agency of Canada [PHAC]. (2014). *Infection Prevention and Control Guidelines: Critical Appraisal Tool Kit*. <u>https://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2014/aspc-phac/HP40-119-2014-eng.pdf</u>
- Quillivan, R. R., Burlison, J. D., Browne, E. K., Scott, S. D., & Hoffman, J. M. (2016). Patient Safety Culture and the Second Victim Phenomenon: Connecting Culture to Staff Distress in Nurses. *Joint Commission Journal on Quality and Patient Safety*, 42(8), 377, AP1– 384, AP2. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1553-7250(16)42053-2
- Rasool, M. F., Rehman, A. ur, Imran, I., Abbas, S., Shah, S., Abbas, G., Khan, I., Shakeel, S.,
 Ahmad Hassali, M. A., & Hayat, K. (2020). Risk Factors Associated With Medication
 Errors Among Patients Suffering From Chronic Disorders. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 8,
 531038–. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2020.531038</u>

- Robertson, J. J., & Long, B. (2018). Suffering in Silence: Medical Error and its Impact on Health Care Providers. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 54(4), 402–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jemermed.2017.12.001
- Schlosser, M. J., Korwek, K. M., Dunn, R., & Poland, R. E. (2020). Reduced post-operative opioid use decreases length of stay and readmission rates in patients undergoing hip and knee joint arthroplasty. *Journal of Orthopaedics.*, 21, 88–93. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jor.2020.03.003
- Seys, D., Wu, A. W., Gerven, E. V., Vleugels, A., Euwema, M., Panella, M., Scott, S. D.,
 Conway, J., Sermeus, W., & Vanhaecht, K. (2013). Health Care Professionals as Second
 Victims after Adverse Events: A Systematic Review. *Evaluation & the Health Professions*, 36(2), 135–162. https://doi.org/10.1177/0163278712458918
- Shamliyan, T. A., & Kane, R. L. (2016). Drug-Related Harms in Hospitalized Medicare Beneficiaries. *Journal of Patient Safety.*, 12(2), 89–107. https://doi.org/10.1097/pts.0000000000000106
- Sharlanova, V. (2004). Experiential learning. Trakia Journal of Sciences, 2(4), 36-39. http://tru.uni-sz.bg/tsj/Volume2_4/EXPERIENTIAL%20LEARNING.pdf
- Shore, C. B., Maben, J., Mold, F., Winkley, K., Cook, A., & Stenner, K. (2022). Delegation of medication administration from registered nurses to non-registered support workers in community care settings: A systematic review with critical interpretive synthesis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *126*, 104121–104121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.104121
- Sim, M. A., Ti, L. K., Mujumdar, S., Chew, S. T. H., Penanueva, D. J. B., Kumar, B. M., & Ang,S. B. L. (2022). Sustaining the Gains: A 7-Year Follow-Through of a Hospital-Wide

Patient Safety Improvement Project on Hospital-Wide Adverse Event Outcomes and Patient Safety Culture. *Journal of Patient Safety*, *18*(1), E189–E195. https://doi.org/10.1097/PTS.000000000000725

- Siva. (2014). *Direct support service core training*. https://www.sivatraining.ca/ourprograms/direct-support-service-core-training/
- Slight, S. P., Seger, D. L., Franz, C., Wong, A., & Bates, D. W. (2018). The national cost of adverse drug events resulting from inappropriate medication-related alert overrides in the United States. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association : JAMIA*, 25(9), 1183–1188. https://doi.org/10.1093/jamia/ocy066
- Statistics Canada. (2015, July 17). Findings. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003x/2008002/article/10565/5202501-eng.htm
- Strube-Lahmann, S., Müller-Werdan, U., Klingelhöfer-Noe, J., Suhr, R., & Lahmann, N. A. (2022). Patient safety in home care: A multicenter cross-sectional study about medication errors and medication management of nurses. *Pharmacology Research & Perspectives*, 10(3), e00953–n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/prp2.953
- Stuijt, CCM., Bekker, C. L., van den Bemt, B. J. F., & Karapinar, F. (2021). Effect of medication reconciliation on patient reported potential adverse events after hospital discharge. *Research in Social and Administrative Pharmacy*, 17(8), 1426–1432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2020.10.012
- Sun, W., Tahsin, F., Abbass Dick, J., Barakat, C., Turner, J., Wilson, D., Reid-Haughian, C., & Ashtarieh, B. (2021). Educating Homecare Nurses about Deprescribing of Medications to Manage Polypharmacy for Older Adults. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 43(11), 1034–1042. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193945920982599

Thomas, C., Kurian, C., Houtmann, S., & Palmisiano, N. (2021). Efficacy of Half-Day Workshops for Internal Medicine Interns in Educating Breaking-Bad-News Discussions. *Palliative Medicine Reports*, 2(1), 132–136. https://doi.org/10.1089/pmr.2020.0097

- Treiber, L. A., & Jones, J. H. (2018). Making an Infusion Error: The Second Victims of Infusion Therapy-Related Medication Errors. *Journal of Infusion Nursing*, 41(3), 156–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NAN.00000000000273</u>
- U.S. Food and Drug Administration. (2019, August 23). *Working to reduce medication errors*. https://www.fda.gov/drugs/information-consumers-and-patients-drugs/working-reducemedication-errors
- Vital, C. J., & Nathanson, B. H. (2023). Effects of the Interruption Management Strategy "Stay S.A.F.E." During Medication Administration. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, 48(2), 65–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/RNJ.000000000000404</u>
- Vrbnjak, D., Denieffe, S., O'Gorman, C., & Pajnkihar, M. (2016). Barriers to reporting medication errors and near misses among nurses: A systematic review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 63, 162–178. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.08.019</u>
- Wagner, E. A. (2022). Engaging Nursing Students in Quality Improvement: Teaching Safe
 Medication Administration. *Journal of Nursing Education.*, 61(5), 268–271.
 https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20220303-01
- Westbrook, J.I., Li, L., Lehnbom, E. C., Baysari, M. T., Braithwaite, J., Burke, R., Conn, C., & Day, R. O. (2015). What are incident reports telling us? A comparative study at two Australian hospitals of medication errors identified at audit, detected by staff and

reported to an incident system. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 27(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzu098</u>

Wolfe, D., Yazdi, F., Kanji, S., Burry, L., Beck, A., Butler, C., Esmaeilisaraji, L., Hamel, C., Hersi, M., Skidmore, B., Moher, D., & Hutton, B. (2018). Incidence, causes, and consequences of preventable adverse drug reactions occurring in inpatients: A systematic review of systematic reviews. *PloS One*, *13*(10), e0205426–e0205426.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0205426

- Wondmieneh, A., Alemu, W., Tadele, N., & Demis, A. (2020). Medication administration errors and contributing factors among nurses: A cross sectional study in tertiary hospitals, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *BMC Nursing*, *19*(1), 4–4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-020-0397-0
- World Health Organization. (2022). *Key facts about medication errors (MEs) in the Who European region*. <u>https://cdn.who.int/media/docs/librariesprovider2/country-</u> <u>sites/medication-error-wpsd-</u>

final.pdf?sfvrsn=e5853e2a_1&download=true#:~:text=The%20rate%20of%20medicatio n%20error,2.1%25%20at%20the%20dispensing%20stage.

- Young, L., Barnason, S., Hays, K., & Do, V. (2015). Nurse Practitioner–led Medication
 Reconciliation in Critical Access Hospitals. *Journal for Nurse Practitioners*, 11(5), 511–518. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nurpra.2015.03.005
- Yousef, A., Abu Farha, R., & Da'meh, K. (2021). Medication administration errors: Causes and reporting behaviours from nurses perspectives. *International Journal of Clinical Practice.*, 75(10), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcp.14541
- Zheng, X., Xiao, L., Li, Y., Qiu, F., Huang, W., & Li, X. (2022). Improving safety and efficacy with pharmacist medication reconciliation in orthopedic joint surgery within an enhanced

recovery after surgery program. *BMC Health Services Research*, 22(1), 448–448. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-07884-9 Appendix B: Literature Summary Tables

Author	Participants/Methods	Results	Comments
Authors: Burgdorf et al.	N: 85, 851 older sepsis	ADE Consequences:	Strength of Design: Weak
(2022)	survivors receiving home	(Survivors who experienced an	
	health care (2013-2016)	ADE versus survivors who did	Quality: Medium
Design: Cross-sectional		not)	
	Country/Setting: United	 Increased impaired 	Comments:
Purpose: To describe the	States/Home Health Care	cognitive function	• Tools assumed to be
prevalence and underlying		(86% vs 79%, p<0.001)	valid and reliable
cause of unmet caregiving	Data Collection:		
needs for sepsis survivors	• Medicare Claims	 Increased need for 	• Lack of information
	Home Health Care	medical	regarding caregiver
	Claims	procedures/treatment	characteristics
	• Outcomes and	(79% vs 75%, p<0.001)	
	Assessment		 Appropriate statistics
	Information Set		used (significant results
	Outcomes:	Required additional	noted)
	ADE Consequences	medical equipment	
	The consequences	(86% vs 84%, p<0.001)	
	Analysis:	 Increased supervision 	
	• Descriptive statistics	and monitoring (89%	
	Chi-Square	vs 86%, p<0.001)	

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 86 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Mayahara et al.	N: 46 patients (prescribed	Caregiver non-adherence to	Strength of Design: Weak
(2014)	PRN pain medication)	pain medication	
		• 21%	Quality: Medium
Design: Cross-sectional	Country/Setting: Chicago,		
	United States/ Hospice	Patient pain related to ADE	Comments:
Purpose: To identify the	Programs	• p= 0.046	Possible selection bias
types of analgesic MEs made		1	(nurse case managers
by non-professional caregivers	Data Collection: Chart review	Common analgesic errors	picked subjects)
and the relationship between	by two trained hospice	• Administrating a	
type of error and patient pain	palliative nurses. Two visits to	sedative instead of an	• Small sample size
level	patient home over 3 days	analgesic	1
		• $n = 0.024$	• Appropriate statistics
	Outcomes:	p 0.021	used (significant results
	• Caregiver non-		noted)
	adherence to PRN		noted)
	regime		
	• Patient pain related to		
	ADE		
	Common analgesic		
	errors		
	Analysis:		
	Descriptive statistics		
	• t-test		
	Linear analysis		
	Multilevel model		
	 Outcomes: Caregiver non-adherence to PRN regime Patient pain related to ADE Common analgesic errors Analysis: Descriptive statistics t-test Linear analysis Multilevel model 	• p= 0.024	• Appropriate statistics used (significant results noted)

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 87 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Shamliyan and Kane	N: 1000 acute care hospitals	Costs of Hospitalization due	Strength of Design: Moderate
 (2016) Design: Cross-sectional Purpose: To examine the national estimates of preventable drug related hospitalizations and in hospital ADE 	Country/Setting: United States/ Acute Care Hospitals Data Collection: Medicare beneficiaries from Nationwide Inpatient Sample Healthcare Cost and Utilization	to ADEs 2000: \$9 billion 2008: \$44 billion Length of stay for inpatient ADE vs outpatient ADE 6.5 days vs 5.6 days p<.0001	Quality: Medium Comments: • Lack of information regarding patient characteristics • Large sample size
	 Outcomes: Cost of hospitalization due to ADEs Length of stay for inpatient ADE vs outpatient ADE Common drugs related to ADEs Treatment costs related to ADEs Analysis: Descriptive Statistics Regression 	Common Drugs Related to ADEs Anticoagulants Cardiovascular Hormones Analgesics Systemic Agents Treatment Costs related to ADEs • \$1 billion	Appropriate statistics used

 Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure;
 88

 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation
 88

Authors: Sim et al. (2022)	N: 430, 860 admissions from 2012-2018	ADE Rates- %, p value • 2012: 11.6% • 2018: 5.4%	Strength of Design: Weak Quality: Medium
Design: Cross-sectional Purpose: To determine if implementation of an effective patient safety strategy improves hospital wide ADE rates, and patient safety culture	Country/Setting: Asia/National University Hospital Data Collection: • Chart Review Outcomes: • ADE rates • Patient Safety Analysis: • Fisher Exact Test • Unpaired Students t test • Simple Linear Regression	 p=0.017 Preventable ADE Rates- %, p value 2012: 5.7% 2018: 2.0% p= 0.006 Category G (permanent harm), H (life-sustaining intervention), I (death) ADE rates- % 2012: 8.4% 2018: 5.6% Hospital Wide Patient Safety Grade-% 2012: 46.5% 2018: 58.3% 	 Comments: Single source recruitment Tools assumed to be valid and reliable Random process used for chart review (minimize risk of bias) Statistics appropriate for level of data (significant results noted)
			1

 Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure;
 89

 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation
 89

Authors: Slight et al. (2018)	N: 40, 990 adult inpatients	Common Medication Alerts	Strength of Design: Weak
Design: Cross-sectional Purpose: To estimate the national cost of ADEs resulting from inappropriate medication alert overrides	 Country/Setting: US/ Brigham and Women's Hospital Data Collection: 2014 National Inpatient Sample Data Outcomes: Common medication alerts ADEs resulting from alert overrides Treatment costs related to ADEs Analysis: Descriptive statistics Regression model 	 Drug-allergy Drug-drug interaction Duplicate drug Drug dosing ADEs resulting from alert overrides 196,600 ADEs from 78.8 million overrides Treatment costs related to ADEs \$871 million to 1.8 billion 	 Quality: Medium Comments: Tools assumed to be valid and reliable Similar baseline characteristics Appropriate statistics used

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 90 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Trieber and Jones	N: 168 nurses (new graduates)	Rate of MEs by Nurses	Strength of Design: Weak
(2018)		• 56% made at least one	
()	Country/Setting: US/Hospital	error	Ouality: Medium
Design: Cross-sectional			
Purpose: To examine second victim syndrome and the	Data Collection: Online survey (Feelings about making a medication error)	Most Common MES Incorrect dose Incorrect route	 Comments: Small sample size (low response rate)
Purpose: To examine second victim syndrome and the impact on nurses	survey (Feelings about making a medication error) Outcomes: • Rate of MES by nurses • Most common MES • Emotional impact Analysis: • Descriptive statistics • Content analysis	 Incorrect dose Incorrect route Incorrect day Emotional Impact Fear Anger Frustration Disappointment Visceral symptoms (vomiting) 	 Small sample size (low response rate) Tools assumed to be valid and reliable (based on questions asked) Possible misclassification bias related to online survey

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 91 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Meinyk et al. (2018)	N: 1790 nurses in clinical	Professional Quality of Life	Strength of Design: Weak
· 、 , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	practice	Scale (Self- Confidence)	
Design: Cross-sectional		• 56.04% scored 0-11	Quality: Medium
	Country/Setting: United	indicating low	
Purpose: To determine the	States/ 10 professional nursing	professional quality of	Comments:
relationship between nurses'	organizations	life and decreased self-	• Large sample size
health and MEs	-	confidence	
	Data Collection: 53-item	connucliee	Possible information
	survey including the		bias related to self-
	professional quality of life		reporting
	scale		reporting
			• Appropriate use of
	Outcomes:		statistics
	 Professional Quality of 		statistics
	Life (Self- Confidence)		
	Analysis		
	Analysis:		
	• Descriptive statistics		
	• Chi-square		
	Multiple logistic		
	regression		

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 92 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Quillivan et al.	N: 170 nurses involved in	Self- Confidence	Strength of Design: Weak
(2016) Design: Cross-sectional Purpose: To assess the influence of patient safety on second victim related distress	direct patient care Country/Setting: US/pediatric hospital Data Collection: • The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Hospital Survey on Patient Culture • Second Victim Experience Support Tool Outcomes: • Self-Confidence Analysis: • Descriptive statistics • Multiple Regression	 Association between decreased self- confidence and ME Poot patient safety culture= decreased self- confidence Non punitive responses associated with increased self- confidence (p=0.001) Organizational support associated with increased self- confidence (p<0.01) 	 Quality: Medium Comments: Tools known to be valid and reliable Small sample size Appropriate statistics used (significant results noted) Possible information bias due to self-reporting

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 93 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Dubovi et al. (2017)	N: 129 BN students	MAP Knowledge (Overall)-	Strength of Design: Strong
		mean, SD, p value	
Design: Non-Randomized	Country/setting: Haifa,	Pre-test:	Quality: Medium
Controlled Trial	Israel/Hospital	• INT (55 ± 17)	
		• CT (51±20)	Comments:
Purpose: To evaluate the	INT: 82 BN students (received		• Recruitment from a
effectiveness of Pharmacology	virtual simulation)	Posttest:	single source
Inter-Leaved Learning Virtual	CT: 47 BN students (received	• INT (93 ± 7)	
Reality Simulation	lectures)	• CT (52±25)	• Strong intervention
	Data collection: MAP	• p<0.001	integrity
	Questionnaire (Pre and		6 5
	posttest)	Medication Administration	• Tools known to be
	Outcomes:	Sequence- mean, SD, p value	valid and reliable
	MAP knowledge	Pre-test:	valid and reliable
	(overall)	• INT (32 ± 24)	• High dropout rate (CT
	Medication	• CT (38 ± 19)	
	administration	Posttest:	group)
	sequence (subscale)	• INT $(83 + 19)$	
	Basic procedural	CT(41+24)	
	concepts (subscale)	• $C1(41\pm 24)$	
	1 ()	• p<0.001	
	Analysis	Basic Procedural Concepts-	
	• Descriptive statistics-	mean, SD, p value	
	Categorical variables	Pre-test:	
	(%, mean, number &	• INT (67 ± 24)	
	SD). Continuous	• $CT(65 \pm 29)$	
	variables (mean,	Posttest:	
	number, %, SD,	• INT (98+ 5)	
	median)	• $CT(57+31)$	
	• Mann-Whitney U test	$-$ C1 (3/ \pm 31)	
	& ANOVA	• p<0.001	

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 94 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 95 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Aiezza et al. (2021)	N: 200 patients > 65 years	Number of medications upon	Strength of Design: Strong
Design: Non-Randomized Controlled Trial Purpose: Evaluate the prevalence and nature of potentially inappropriate medications in a group of hospitalized older patients	 Country/setting: Italy/Antonio Cardarelli Hospital INT: 100 Patients (received MR) CT: 100 Patients (received usual care) Data collection: Interviews and Chart Review Outcomes: Number of medications prescribed upon admission Number of medications after MR Potentially inappropriate drugs (before and after MR) Drug to drug interactions (before and after MR) Analysis Chi-Square 	 Admission – (Mean) Int: 7.5 ± 2.8 CT: 8.0 ± 2.4 Number of medications after MR- (Mean and p value) INT: 6.1 ± 3.1 p= 0.002 INT found to take 2 units less medication at DC versus CT group (p<0.001) Potentially inappropriate Drugs (%) Before MR: 50 After MR: 31 Decreased 38% Drug to drug interactions Before MR: 107 After MR: 38 Decreased 46% 	 Quality: Medium Comments: Similar baseline characteristics Strong intervention integrity No randomization or control for major confounders

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 96 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Assiri et al. (2018)	N: 60 studies (adults > 18	Consequences of ADEs:	Strength of Design: Strong
	years old)	Emergency Room	
Design: Systematic Review		Visits	Quality: High
Design: Systematic Review Purpose: To investigate the prevalence of MEs and ADEs among adults in various healthcare settings	Country/setting: Asia/Australia, Europe, South America, North America/ various healthcare settings Data collection: Self reports, lab testing, chart review Outcomes: • Consequences of ADEs • Risk of ADEs Analysis: • Descriptive Statistics	Visits • Hospitalization • Increased outpatient visits Risk of ADEs • Taking >7 medications (OR= 3.3) • > 80 years old (OR=4.4)	 Quality: High Comments: Comprehensive search for literature Rigorous review process Similar results interpreted in a meaningful way

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 97 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Design: Systematic Review Purpose: To determine the prevalence and impact of ADEs on second victims	 who made a ME Country/Setting: Australia, Germany, England, Scotland, US/Hospital Data Collection: Questionnaires Interviews Focus Groups Outcomes: Self-Confidence Analysis: Descriptive statistics Content analysis 	 Feeling personally responsible Fear of reputation Losing self confidence 	 Quality: High Comments: Rigorous selection process Similar results interpreted in a meaningful way Comprehensive search for literature
--	---	--	--

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 98 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Frye and Rushanan	N: 47 nurses	Overall Competence- mean, p	Strength of Design: Weak
 Authors: Frye and Rushanan (2023) Design: Uncontrolled Before-After Purpose: To evaluate the impact of a medication management education quality improvement project 	 N: 47 nurses Country/setting: United States/ home health organization Data collection: Survey (10- point Likert scale), 16 questions Outcomes: Overall medication management competence Subscales with largest increases 1. Finding information about medications 	Overall Competence- mean, p value• Pre: 99.68• Post: 124.24• $p= 0.006$ Finding information about medications via agency resources- mean, p value• Pre: 4.97• Post: 7.06• $p= 0.004$ Documentation- mean, p value• Pre: 5.57• Post: 7.71• $p= 0.006$	 Strength of Design: Weak Quality: Medium Comments: Strong intervention integrity Risk of information bias (survey mailed) Tools assumed to be valid and reliable based on nature of questions asked Regression used to account for major
	via agency resources 2. Documentation Analysis • Descriptive statistics • One-way ANOA		confounders

 Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure;
 99

 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation
 99

~	
Score-%	
• Pre: 70%	Quality: Medium
 Score-% Pre: 70% Post: 76.8% Confidence ("Others make you feel like a bit of a failure when you make an error")-% Pre: 33.4% agreed Post: 8.3% agreed Incident Reporting- number Pre: 2 Post: 18 54% (name identified) Project Evaluation-% 84% (Good to Excellent) 46% (Very Good) 	 Quality: Medium Comments: Recruited from a single source; small sample Strong intervention integrity Tools known to be valid and reliable Control of major confounders not assessed
Co you wh %	 nfidence ("Others make i feel like a bit of a failure en you make an error")- Pre: 33.4% agreed Post:8.3% agreed cident Reporting- number Pre: 2 Post: 18 54% (name identified) oject Evaluation-% 84% (Good to Excellent) 46% (Very Good)

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 100 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Hron et al. (2015)	N: 146 admissions (received	Non-intercepted MR errors	Strength of Design: Weak
	MR)	• Pre: 59	
Design: Uncontrolled Before-		• Post: 36	Quality: Medium
After	Country/Setting: United	• $p = 0.02$	
	States/ Boston Hospital	p 0.02	Comments:
Purpose: To measure the		ADE related to admission	• Small sample size
impact of electronic MR	Data Collection: Safety Event	MR - (relative risk pre vs post	
implementation on reports of	Event Reporting System	intervention)	• Tools assumed to be
MR errors		• RR= 0.024	valid and reliable
	Outcomes:	• p<0.001	
	Non-intercepted MR	1	• Voluntary reporting
	errors		may lead to
	• ADE related to		information bias
	admission MR		information bias
			• Control for major
	Analysis:		Control for major
	• Descriptive statistics		confounders via
	Poisson Regression		regression

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 101 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 102 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Mariani et al.	N: 86 BN students	Medication Knowledge- %	Strength of Design: Strong
(2017)		passed (≥ 21 questions), p	
	Country/setting: US/private	value	Quality: High
Design: Randomized	university	Pre-test	
Controlled Trial		• INT: 5%	Comments:
	INT: 43 students (received	• CT: 7%	• Strong intervention
Purpose: To determine the	two simulations)		integrity
impact of a medication safety		Post-test	5,
simulation on student	CT: 43 students (received one	• INT: 57%	• Tools known to be
knowledge and competence	simulation)	• CT: 28%	valid and reliable
		• p=0.02	vand and renable
	Data collection:	1	• Significant regults
	Medication Safety	Medication Safety -mean (%),	
	Knowledge Assessment	p value	Iound
	(25 multiple choice)	• INT: 70.4%	
	(• CT: 56.1%	Randomization (control
	Medication Safety	• p=0.028	for major confounders)
	Competence Element	1	
	Charlist (11 items to		
	measure skills and		
	competence		
	Outcomes:		
	Medication Knowledge		
	Modication Safaty		
	• Medication Safety		
	Analysis		
	Chi-Square test		
	• Independent t test		

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 103 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Vital and Nathanson	N: 39 nursing students	Time (secs) to Return to	Strength of Design: Strong
(2023)	Country/Setting: United	Primary Task: Simulation 2	
	States/Simulation Lab	• INT: 11.9	Quality: High
Design: Randomized	INT: 20 nursing students	• CT: 18.9	
Controlled Trial	(received two educational	• p=.007	Comments:
	lectures)	Time (secs) to Return to	• Recruitment from a
Purpose: to measure the	CT: 19 nursing students	Primary Task (simulation 1.	single source; baseline
impact of the stay S.A.F.E	(received one educational	2. 3)- mean. p value	characteristics similar
intervention on nursing	lecture)	• INT: 30.1 vs 12.0 vs	
students management of	Data Collection:	13.0	• Objective measures
interruptions during	• Eye Tracker	n = < 0.001	used; strong
medication administration	NASA Task-Load	Inannronriata response	intervention integrity
	Index	(taking report)(simulation 1	
	Facilitator (Observed	(43, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10, 10	• Control for major
	for clinical errors and	value	confounders
	procedural errors)	INT	
	Outcomes:	• 64.7% vs 5.0% vs 5.6%	• Tools shown to be
	• Return time to primary	• $p=0.002$	valid and reliable
	task	CT	
	Appropriate	• 43.8% vs 36.8% vs	
	Interruption Response	26.3%	
	Analysis:	p = 0.008	
	• Student's t test	Magn Frustration Scores	
	• Mann-Whitney U test	(simulation 1 2 3)- mean n	
	Chi-square test	value	
	 Fisher evact test 	INT:	
	MaNamar tast	• 23.4 vs 19.3 vs 12.4	
	• IVICINEIRAL LESI	• n=0.034	
	• Wilcoxon matched-	CT·	
	pairs signed ranks test	• 14 5 vs 24 5 vs 14 7	
	• ANOVA	- 11.0 10 2 1.0 10 17.7	

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 104 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation
Authors: Stuijt et al. (2021)	N: 221 patients	ADEs Post Discharge-	Strength of Design: Strong
		median, p value	
Design: Randomized	Country/setting:	• INT: 1.1	Quality: High
Controlled Trial	Europe/Hospital in the	• CT: 2.1	
	Netherlands	• p<0.0001	Comments:
Purpose: To assess the effect		p 0.0001	• Strong intervention
of a MR on potential AEs post	INT: 83 patients (received	Potential for ADEs (INT	integrity
discharge	MR)	group)- RR value	
		• RR=0.5	• Tools assumed to be
	CT: 138 patients (did not	Deterrish for ADEs (second second	valid and reliable
	receive MR)	Potential for ADEs (previous	
		aumission)- KK value	
	Data collection:	• KK=1.3	• Control for major
	 Interviews 		confounders
	Questionnaire		contoundors
	Chart Review		 Data collectors trained
			• Data concetors trained
	Outcomes:		
	• AEs post discharge		
	Potential AEs		
	Analysis		
	 Descriptive statistics- 		
	Independent t test		
	Mann-Whitney U-test		
	• Universite regression		
	analysis, ANOVA		

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 105 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Zheng et al. (2022)	N. 65 patients (orthopedic	Length of Stav	Strength of Design: Strong
Authors: Zheng et al. (2022)	11. 05 patients (orthopedie	DIT 1(21	Strength of Design. Strong
	surgery)	• $IN1: 16.3$ days	
Design: Randomized		• CT: 20.7 days	Quality: Medium
Controlled Trial	INT: 33 (received MR)	• $n=0.03$	
		• p 0.05	Comments:
Purpose: To investigate the	CT: 32 (did not receive MR)	Readmission	 Strong intervention
impact of MR through			integrity.
anipact of wirk, through	Country/Sotting Ching/	• 1111.0	integrity
avoidance of medication	Country/Setting: China/	• CT: 3	
discrepancies, on enhanced	Large Tertiary Care Hospital		• Tools assumed to be
recovery after surgery		Time Between First	valid and reliable
	Data Collection: Medical	Admission and New	vand and renable
	Charts	Prosthesis	
		• INT: 57 3 days	No blinding used which
	Outcomes	OT 70 5 1	may contribute to
	Outcomes:	• C1: /0.5 days	information bias
	• Length of Stay	• $p=0.002$	
	Readmission	-	
	• Time between first		
	admission and new		
	prosthesis		
	Analysis:		
	• Descriptive statistics		
	• Fisher's Exact Test		
	• Fisher's Exact Test		

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 106 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: McCarthy et al.	N: 3,521 patients	Drug classifications related	Strength of Design: Moderate
(2017) Design: Case-control Purpose: To determine the economic impact of ADEs resulting in patient harm on hospitalization costs and length of stay	 Case: 242 patients experienced ADE Control: 3,279 patients who did not experience an ADE Country/Setting: United States/University of Chicago Medicine Data Collection: Hospital patient database Hospital accounting database Outcomes: Drug classifications related to medication errors Length of stay related to drug classifications Analysis: Descriptive statistics Mann-Whitney U Test 	to MEs Chemotherapy (38%) Corticosteroids (14%) Opioids (11%) Length of stay (days) related To drug classifications: Chemotherapy Case: 5.0-11 Control: 4.0-7.0 p=0.005 Corticosteroids Case: 4.0-7.8 Control: 3.7-5.3 p=0.235 Opioids Case: 14.8-16.0 Control: 4.2-7.2 p= 0.251	 Quality: Medium Comments: Similar baseline characteristics Some control of major confounders Appropriate statistics used (significant results noted)

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 107 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Choi et al. (2016)	N: 57, 554 patients	Treatment costs associated	Strength of Design: Moderate
Design: Retrospective case control	Country/Setting: United States/Two Hospitals in New Jersey	 with medication errors \$8439- 8898 per two hospitals 	Quality: Medium Comments:
incidence, types, and causes of MR, as well as attributable costs in the hospital setting	 Data Collection: Voluntary error reports Hospital database Outcomes: Treatment costs associated with MEs Analysis: Descriptive statistics Chi-Square test Generalized linear 		 Small Sample size Possible information bias due to voluntary error reporting Control for major confounders
	model		

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 108 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Levkovich et al. (2022)	N: 628 MET activations (adults >18 years old)	Consequences of MET activations related to ADEs	Strength of Design: Moderate Quality: Medium
Design: Case Series Purpose: To estimate the incidence and preventability of medication related MET activations and associated ADEs	Country/Setting: Melbourne, Australia/ two academic health services Data Collection: Hospital Database and medical records Outcomes: • Consequences of MET activations related to ADEs Analysis: • Descriptive statistics • Mann-Whitney U test	 Tachycardia (10.9%) Hypotension (9.8%) Inappropriate use of antihypertensives (10.9%) 	 Comments: Small sample size Trained research assistants and blinding used Possible information bias due to use of secondary information

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 109 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Schlosser et al.	N: Review of 51,824 hip and	Length of Stay	Strength of Design: Moderate
(2020) Design: Retrospective analysis Purpose: To determine length of stay and 30-day readmission rate associated with reduced patient opioid use after him and knee arthroplasty	 knee arthroplasty Country/Setting: US/ Large HealthCare System Data Collection: Chart Review Outcomes: Length of Stay 30-day readmission rates Opioid use and ME Analysis: Descriptive statistics Ordinal logistic regression 	 Low dose morphine associated with decreased length of stay (p<0.001) Low dose morphine associated with increased chance of discharge 1 dy post-op versus high dose morphine (41.2% vs 19.6%) 30- Day Readmission Rate Low dose morphine = 15.3% reduction in readmission Opioid Use and ME Low dose morphine = decreased medication errors (p<0.001) 	 Quality: Medium Comments: Tools assumed to be valid and reliable Similar baseline characteristics Control for major confounders Large sample size

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 110 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Moore et al. (2022)	N: 31 patients (admitted with	Average length of stay	Strength of Design: Moderate
	Parkinson's)	• 2010: 24 days	
Design: Retrospective		• 2014: 12 days	Quality: Medium
observational	Country/Setting: United	• 2015: 9 days	
	Kingdom/District Hospital		Comments:
Purpose: To determine the		Costs per patient per average	• Small sample size
impact of a nurse practitioner	Data Collection: Chart	length of stay	
for non-medical prescribing for	Review	• 24 days: \$9190.32	• Tools assumed to be
patients admitted with		• 12 days: \$4595.16	valid and reliable
Parkinson's	Outcomes:	• 9 days: \$446.37	
	• Average length of stay	y augus \$110.07	
	• Costs per patient per	Costs per 30 patients per	 Statistics appropriate
	average length of stav	average length of stay	for level of data
	 Costs per 30 patients 	• 24 days: \$275,709.60	for lever of data
	per average length of	• 12 days: \$137, 854.80	
	eter	• 9 days: \$103, 391,10	
	stay	y augus \$100,091110	
	Analysis:		
	• Descriptive statistics		

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 111 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: George et al. (2022)	N: 15,152 patients diagnosed	Length of Stay (ADE)-	Strength of Design: Moderate
Design: Retrospective Cohort Purpose: To determine the association between ADEs and healthcare costs	 with cancer Country/Setting: United States/ Buffalo cancer center Data Collection: Medical and Pharmacy claims Outcomes: Length of stay related to ADE Treatment costs of length of stay related to ADE ADE treatment costs Analysis: Descriptive Statistics Cox Regression 	 Hazard Ratio Increased risk of in patient stay (HR= 2.2) 80% higher risk of emergency room visit (HR=1.8) Length of Stay Costs- (6-month total costs) ADE: \$99,037 No ADE: 74,756 P<0.001 ADE treatment costs \$2359 ± 7496 per patient per month, 89.9% related to inpatient visits 	 Quality: Medium Comments: Large sample size Possible residual confounders Tools assumed to be valid and reliable Similar baseline characteristics

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 112 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Morrudo Garcia et	N: 4 nurses, 3 auxiliaries, 19	Impact of MEs on Nurses	Trustworthiness: High
al. (2020)	nursing technicians	Administrative	_
		proceedings (dismissal,	Comments:
Design: Descriptive-	Country/Setting: Brazil/	verbal, written)	Triangulation
exploratory	Medical/Clinic Unit	• Withdrawal from work	
Down ages To identify the	Data Callestians Sami	for training	• Data saturation
Purpose: To identify the	structured interviews (Sent Oct	• Being exposed to the	
therapy from pursing point of	2016)	entire team	• Verbatim transcription
view	2010)		
	Outcomes:	Emotional Impact	• Search for confirming
	• Impact of medication	• Fear	evidence
	errors (nurses)	• Shame	
		• Uncertainty	
	Analysis:		
	Content Analysis		

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 113 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Mahat et al. (2022)	N: 72, 390 incident reports	Negative Emotions	Trustworthiness: High
		Expressed by Healthcare	
Design: Qualitative descriptive	Country/Setting:	Staff	Comments:
	England/Hospital	• Stress	• Use of a codebook
Purpose: To determine		 Devastation 	
negative emotions expressed	Data Collection: Incident	• Questioning	• Verbatim transcription
by healthcare staff in their	reports from the National	competence	
reporting of MEs	Reporting and Learning System	• Decreased self- confidence	• Data saturation
	Outcomast	connucleo	• Search for confirming
	• Negative emotions		evidence
	expressed by healthcare		
	staff		Triangulation
	Stuff		
	Analysis:		
	• Content analysis		

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 114 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Design: Qualitative descriptive Purpose: To determine the impact of a quality improvement project examining nurse medication interruptions on nursing student	cohorts) Country/setting: 32-bed pulmonary medical-surgical ward Data collection: • Focus group (open- ended questions) Outcomes: • Frequency of interruptions • Prioritization and reasoning • Decision-making learning • QI in practice Analysis • Thematic analysis	 Increased awareness regarding the number of interruptions Recognized the importance of minimizing these disruptions Prioritization and Reasoning Identify priority situations that require medication administration task to stop Able to delegate when a task is not essential Decision-Making Learning Able to identify when patient safety may have been compromised Increased knowledge of medication management tips QI in Practice Improved attitude toward medication safety Increased awareness of safety aspects Increased awareness of Increased awareness of	 Strengths: Member checking used to evaluate responses De-briefing session Recording and verbatim transcription Prolonged engagement Limitations: Lack of detail about data saturation No evidence of triangulation
--	--	---	---

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 115 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

(2022) Design: Phenomenological Purpose: To understand student nurses' views of a medication management workshop	 students Country/Setting: Europe/ nursing school Data Collection: Focus groups Semi-structured interview guide Outcomes: Developing confidence Reflective learning Enhanced awareness Analysis: Reflexive thematic analysis 	 Reflected on lack of competence Able to identify knowledge deficits Increased communication with service users Reflective Learning Enjoyed active/participatory learning Able to relate knowledge to clinical practice Vast amount of knowledge gained Enhanced Awareness Clarity about reporting Able to acknowledge the importance of safe medication practices 	 Strengths: Data saturation Triangulation Audit trail Recording and verbatim transcription Transcription rigor
---	---	--	--

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 116 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Kuppadakkath et al. (2022) Design: Phenomenological Purpose: To explore nurses' experiences of MEs and suggestions to reduce these errors in residential aged care facilities	 N: 12 Registered Nurses (Residential Aged Care Facilities) Country/Setting: Victoria, Australia/ Residential Aged Care Facilities Data Collection: Semi- structured interviews Outcomes: Psychological Impact Analysis: Thematic analysis 	 Difficulty engaging with patients Frustrated Stressed Leaving Job Dissatisfied family members 	Comments: • Use of codebook • Audit trail • Interview guide • Data saturation • Triangulation
---	---	---	--

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 117 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Authors: Athanasakis (2019)	N: 8 studies (nurses who	Moral Impact:	Strength of Design: Strong
Design: Meta-Synthesis	experienced MEs; >6 months experience)	• Unsure whether to report or not	Quality: High
Design: Meta-Synthesis Purpose: To examined nurses' lived experiences of MEs	experience) Country/Setting: United Kingdom/Nottingham University Hospital Data Collection: Interviews, group discussions Outcomes: • Moral Impact • Emotional Impact Analysis: • Thematic Analysis	report or not Professional identity impacted Feelings of guilt Emotional Impact: Fear Anger Stress Trauma Suicide	 Quality: High Comments: Comprehensive search for literature Clear interpretation of findings Rigorous review process

Note. ADE: Adverse Drug Effect; BN: Bachelor of Nursing; CT: Control; DC: Discharge; INT: Intervention; MAP: Medication Administration Procedure; 118 ME: Medication Error; MET: Medical Emergency Team; MR; Medication Reconciliation

Appendix C: Consultation Report

Development of a Medication Management Program for Developmental Support Workers Consultation Report

Medication errors are a common health care issue which can have negative consequences on patients, nurses, and the healthcare system (Godfrey et al., 2013). This includes increased length of stay for patients, increased healthcare costs, and poor caregiver mental health (McCarthy et al., 2017; Sim et al., 2022; Treiber & Jones, 2018). However, these negative consequences of medication errors can be prevented through effective management of medication. Medication management is a part of client-centered care and involves more than just the administration of medication, but instead a combination of knowledge, skill, critical thinking, and decision-making (The College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador [CRNNL], 2019). Two high-quality randomized controlled trials (RCT) examined the effectiveness of medication management training among nursing students ((Mariani et al., 2017, Vital & Nathanson, 2023). The authors of both studies found statistically significant results associated with medication knowledge/skills and simulation among the intervention groups after the training. For instance, Mariani et al. (2017), reported that there was a statistically significant difference between the number of students who passed the medication skills knowledge assessment in the group who received two simulations (57%), compared to the group who only received one simulation (28%) (p=.02). Furthermore, the group with two simulations also scored significantly higher in medication safety critical element checklist (70.4%) compared to the group with one simulation (56.1%) (p=.028). Similarly, Vital and Nathanson (2023) found that the group who received two PowerPoint presentations had a shorter return time (seconds) to primary task (medication administration) in simulation two versus the group who only had one PowerPoint presentation (11.9 vs 18.9, respectively) (p=.007). The training in both studies was

delivered via various methods including simulation, lecture, and case scenarios. In relation, Dubovi et al. (2017) also found a statistically significant difference in overall mean knowledge pre-and post-test scores between the group who received virtual simulation training (55 vs 93) versus normal lectures (51 vs 52) (p<0.001). Additionally, the mean pre and post-test score for basic procedural concepts for the simulation group were 67 vs 98, compared to 65 vs 57 in the normal lecture group (p<0.001, which was also considered statistically significant.

Although medication management training has been shown to be effective in preventing medication errors in healthcare workers, various types of caregivers such as unlicensed caregivers (i.e., home support workers [HSWs], developmental support workers [DSWs]) do not receive the same level of medication management training as a licensed caregiver. As a result, medication errors could be a common issue among this population (Berland & Bentsen, 2017; Burgdorf et al., 2022; Godfrey et al., 2013). For instance, at Momentum Developmental Support, DSWs only receive one hour of medication management training during their orientation. This may not be enough time to ensure that DSWs have the necessary knowledge and skills to manage medications effectively. In addition, many of the DSWs at Momentum are international students who may not have the knowledge and skills related to medication management, as they have no medical background, and they are not familiar with the process of medication administration in Canada. The purpose of this project is to develop a medication management program to 1) increase medication management knowledge and skills among DSWs, 2) improve medication management practices among DSWs, and 3) reduce medication errors at Momentum Developmental Support. This medication management program will be developed based on the findings from the literature review, consultations plan, and environmental scan.

To support the development of this resource, consultations were completed with

managers and DSWs at Momentum Developmental Support using an online questionnaire. The goal of the consultations was to determine if a medication management program is necessary, the level of training that is required, and the preferred mode of delivery. In this report, I will present the findings from the consultations with DSWs and managers at Momentum Developmental Support. I will discuss the results of the qualitative and quantitative data, and implications for this data.

Specific Objective(s) for the Consultations

There were five specific objectives for these consultations:

- 1. Explore employees' (i.e., DSWs & managers) opinions about medication management training at Momentum Developmental Support.
- 2. Examine employees' perceptions about the need for a medication management educational resource.
- 3. Explore current medication management practices among employees.
- 4. Determine the learning needs of employees.
- 5. Identify the preferred mode of delivery for this program.

Sample & Methods

The sample for these consultations involved three managers and 28 DSWs at Momentum Developmental Support among three regions in Newfoundland (Western, Eastern, Northern Peninsula). It was important to consult the DSWs as they are the target population for the development of this program. Their feedback is to take into consideration when determining content and mode of delivery for this program. The managers also needed to be consulted because they are responsible for ensuring medication management practices are followed diligently. Furthermore, they can access medication incident reports and determine root causes for any medication errors. As a result, managers can provide valuable input regarding the educational content by identifying medication management practices that are not being followed properly and outlining aspects of medication management that require further training.

Data Collection

It was noted by a member of the management team at Momentum Developmental Support that previous online questionnaires had a low response rate (less than 20%); therefore, the use of a large sample was necessary to ensure enough data was collected. This also helped provide diverse perspectives which is essential for designing an educational resource to meet the needs of all employees.

Data was collected using a questionnaire. This questionnaire was developed using Microsoft Forms and consisted of four closed-ended and 14 open-ended questions based on my consultation plan objectives. The questionnaire was developed on Microsoft Forms and the online link for the questionnaire was sent via email to the training manager. The training manager emailed the link to all managers and DSWs at Momentum. Employees who volunteered to complete the questionnaire clicked the online link and completed the questionnaire which took approximately 15 minutes. A total of 275 surveys were distributed to DSWs and managers at Momentum, and only 31 completed the online survey. Once questionnaires were completed, responses were available for me to view in Microsoft Forms. The link for the questionnaire remained open for 24 hours. To ensure quality of data, the questionnaire was set up so consultants could only view their own responses. This was done when developing the questionnaire, by enabling permissions in Microsoft Forms. This minimized the risk of response bias. In addition, the questionnaire was anonymous, and did not include any personal information. A copy of the survey can be found in Appendix A of this report and the letter that accompanied the surveys can be found in Appendix B.

Data Management and Analysis

Quantitative data was managed using Microsoft Forms, while qualitative data was managed using Excel. Microsoft Forms automatically analyzed answers for closed-ended questions on the questionnaire and provided a response summary using descriptive statistics, which was discussed in the results section. Data from the open-ended questions was manually input into excel and analyzed using content analysis (Bengtsson, 2016). First, the open-ended responses from the questionnaire were transferred from Microsoft forms to Excel. The responses were carefully analyzed to determine meaning units and condensed meaning units with a description close to text. Condensed meaning units were carefully reviewed to identify subthemes. Finally, common themes were established based on the sub-themes.

Results

Overall, there were 31 employees who chose to volunteer to complete the questionnaire, yielding a low response rate of 11%. Of these participants, 28 (90%) were DSWs and three (10%) were managers at Momentum Developmental Support. As noted in Table 1, the majority of participants were from the eastern region (58%), while the rest were from the western region (35.5%) or preferred not to say (6.5%). Furthermore, 32% of employees had <1 year experience, and 32% had 1-5 years experience. The most reported education level was a college diploma (48%) followed by a bachelor's degree (23%). The results below reflect the quantitative and gualitative findings from DSWs and managers at Momentum Developmental Support.

Table 1

Participants' Characteristics

Participants' Characteristics	<u>(31) 11%</u>

Position at Momentum Developmental Support		
Managers	(3) 10%	
Developmental Support Workers	(28) 90%	
Regions of Work		
Eastern	<u>(18) 58%</u>	
Western	<u>(11) 35.5%</u>	
Prefer not to say	(2) 6.5%	
Level of Education		
College Diploma	(15) 48%	
Bachelor's Degree	(7) 23%	
Years of Experience		
< 1 year	(10) 32%	
1-5 years	(10) 32%	

Quantitative Results (DSWs and Managers)

As shown in Table 2, the majority of participants (90%) who completed this questionnaire were DSWs, while only 10% were managers. This was beneficial as the medication management program is tailored to the DSW population. Many DSWs rated the current medication management training at Momentum as good (46%) or excellent (39%), while all managers (100%) rated it as fair. It was noted by 71% of DSWs that the current medication training at Momentum adequately prepares employees to perform medication management skills. In comparison, 66% of managers indicated that the orientation at Momentum does not adequately prepare employees to perform medication management skills. The majority of DSWs reported feeling very comfortable engaging in medication tasks such as medication preparation (75%), administration (82%), documentation (82%), and storage (85%). However, 66% of managers reported a lower comfort level (somewhat comfortable) for medication preparation, administration, documentation, and storage. While 28% of DSWs had made one or two medication errors while working at Momentum, 44% indicated that it was very unlikely these medication errors were related to lack of medication management training. Similarly, 33% of managers reported making a medication error while working at Momentum, and all managers (100%) noted that a lack of proper medication training was very unlikely associated with these errors. Overall, 46% of DSWs reported experiencing a co-worker make a medication error, with two or three times being the most common occurrence of these errors (42%). Meanwhile, all managers (100%) indicated that they experienced a co-worker make a medication error at least once (66%).

Table 2

Medication Management Program (DSWs and Managers)

Questions	<u>DSWs</u>	<u>Managers</u>
	<u>(28) 90%</u>	<u>(3) 10%</u>
Current Medication Management	<u>Training Rating</u>	
Good	(13) 46%	<u>(0) 0%</u>
Excellent	(11) 39%	<u>(0) 0%</u>
		2 1 000 <i>(</i>
Fair	(0) 0%	<u>3 100%</u>
The current medication management training adequately prepares employees to perform		
medication management skills		

Agree	(20) 71%	(1) 34%
Disagree	(9) 29%	<u>(2) 66%</u>
Feel very comfortable engaging in	the following medication task	<u>(S</u>
Medication Preparation	(21) 75%	(0) 0%
Medication Administration	(23) 82%	(0) 0%
Medication Documentation	(23) 82%	(0) 0%
Medication Storage	(24) 85%	(0) 0%
Feels somewhat comfortable engage	ging in the following medication	on tasks
Medication Preparation	<u>(0) 0%</u>	(2) 66%
Medication Administration	(0) 0%	(2) 66%
Medication Documentation	(0) 0%	<u>(2) 66%</u>
Medication Storage	(0) 0%	(2) 66%
Medication errors while working a	at Momentum	
One or two	(8) 28%	<u>(1) 33%</u>
Employees who think medication errors made were not related to medication		
management training		
	(13) 44%	<u>(3) 100%</u>
Experienced a co-worker make a medication error		
	(13) 46%	(3) 100%
Number of Times witnessed co-wo	rker make an error	
Two or Three Times	(13) 42%	(0) 0%
At least once	(0) 0%	(2) 66%

Qualitative Results (DSWs)

Qualitative data analysis was conducted using Bengtsson (2016) content analysis method. There were four common themes identified among the open-ended questions completed by DSWs. Interestingly, the findings from the qualitative data were not consistent with the quantitative data. The qualitative data illustrated a greater need for a medication management program at Momentum than the quantitative data. The four common themes identified were safe medication procedures, DSW knowledge and competence, educational strategies, and classroombased learning.

Safe Medication Procedures

Safe medication procedures were a common theme identified by DSWs used to define medication management. There were many similar responses related to aspects of medication management such as proper storage, labelling, administration, documentation, and monitoring patient outcomes. Additionally, there was a focus on the eight rights of medication administration and the importance of following these rights when engaging in medication management skills to ensure patient safety and avoid medication errors. There was a common connotation that engaging in safe medication procedures was the key to effective medication management. One DSW stated, "It's important to administer to the right patient, right drug, right time, right dose because we are responsible for our client's wellbeing". Another DSW indicated that "medication management is the proper protocol for preparing, administering, and documenting the proper medications so our client's get the proper care". The recurrence of this theme throughout the data indicates that DSWs have an accurate understanding of medication management. Additionally, this theme is consistent with the literature which indicates that medication management involves several procedures such as selection, delivery, administration, documentation, and monitoring of medication to ensure high-quality patient care and safety

(Bakhshi et al., 2021).

DSW Knowledge and Competence

The second common theme, DSW knowledge and competence, was related to the need for a medication management program at Momentum. The majority of DSWs agreed that a medication management program was necessary at Momentum because many DSWs lack knowledge and competence related to medications. A DSW stated, "yes, new hires or people who may be incompetent may need the training program. Also, people who have been working awhile, a refresher is most definitely needed". Similarly, another DSW responded, "yes, I believe no one understand the medications, what they do, and proper storage". Specifically, there were concerns about new DSWs and their ability to safely prepare, administer and document medication without assistance from a senior DSW. In relation, DSWs reported that a medication management program would increase knowledge and competence, as well as confidence. Similar findings were reported in Godfrey et al. (2013) and Parand et al. (2016) which indicated lack of knowledge and competence as a contributing factor for a wide range of medication errors (12%-92.7%) among unlicensed caregivers (i.e., DSWs).

Educational Strategies

Incorporating a variety of educational strategies was a common theme that was identified related to content that should be included in a medication management program. While participants focused more on the strategies used to deliver the content, there were a couple suggestions related to individual content. This included hands-on content such as proper administration and documentation procedures, as well as lecture content such as proper packaging and preservation of medication, and common uses/side effects of medication. Participants were interested in the educational techniques used to deliver content, as opposed to

the individual medication management content. However, this finding is important to take into consideration when planning educational content. One DSW reported that "hands-on practice" was needed, whereas another DSW stated "more awareness about the usage and intensity of certain medications so that we know if a particular medication is skipped mistakenly, how much disturbance it can cause to the client". Goodwin et al. (2022) reported comparable findings from students who attended a medication management workshop which involved a variety of educational strategies (i.e., lecture and problem-based learning). Students enjoyed having practical and theoretical components implemented into the workshop, as well as several educational strategies. This also had a positive impact on student competence in relation to mediation management.

Classroom-Based Learning

Classroom-based learning was the final common theme identified by DSWs which was connected to how they learn best. The majority of participants reported that they enjoy learning via face-to-face interaction or in a classroom. DSWs stated, "I would like to learn in a classroom setting" and "I am interested in learning face-to-face with a specialist, if that is possible". This was closely related to the educational strategies theme, as DSWs wanted content that could be implemented using a variety of educational methods, which typically works best in a classroom setting. Moreover, DSWs indicated that they like having access to paper resources which are often distributed during classroom training sessions. Comparably, Oducado et al. (2021) noted that many caregivers prefer to learn face-to-face, as online learning is stressful and has a negative impact on academic performance. Furthermore, there is low satisfaction associated with online learning.

Qualitative Results (Managers)

Qualitative data analysis was conducted using Bengtsson (2016) content analysis method. There were three common themes identified among the open-ended questions that were completed by managers. These themes support the findings from the quantitative data indicating that changes are needed to further improve the current medication management training at Momentum. The three common themes identified were *safe medication skills, standardized procedures, and experiential learning*.

Safe Medication Skills

Similar to the DSW findings, safe medication skills was a common theme that occurred when managers were asked to define medication management. Common answers were provided such as safe storage, administration, documentation, and monitoring of medications. One manager stated that medication management involves "managing the safe storage, administration, and documentation of client's medications". In relation, another manager stated, "proper storage, labeling, administration, and documentation". All managers reported on the skills required for medication management with an emphasis on safety when engaging in these skills. These responses indicates that managers are able to comprehend the various aspects of medication management. These findings were consistent with the definition of medication management provided by CRNNL (2019) which indicates that medication management involves more than just the administration of medication, but instead a combination of knowledge, skills, and critical thinking to ensure safe client-centered care.

Standardized Procedures

Standardized procedures was a common theme related to the need for medication management training at Momentum. All managers indicated that a medication management training program is needed due to lack of efficient and standardized training. In relation, many

noted that the lack of standardized procedures contributes to confusion during medication training; therefore, leading to medication errors which can have long-lasting impacts on clients. A Managers stated, "yes, I think it needs to be a standardized procedure which is simple, safe, and effective. Currently too many steps in the procedure are what causes the errors because no one will ever spend the time to go through each step. Hence why it needs to be safe, simple, but efficient". Another manager responded, "yes, medication is the most important part of many of our client's behavioral management. Missed doses, incorrect doses, or improper administration can likely cause serious long-lasting harm to our clients". It was evident that implementation of standardized training procedures would allow for simplicity in medication management training; thus, improving medication management procedures. Erickson et al. (2020) reported that many unlicensed caregivers have trouble understanding complex drug regimens; therefore, they require simplified training. In relation, Berland and Bentsen (2017) found that medication management training in home care is not held to high standards. As a result, there are inconsistencies noted in training due to a lack of standardized procedures (Godfrey et al., 2013).

Experiential Learning

Experiential learning was a common theme related to what managers felt should be included in a medication management training program and how they would like to learn. Recurrent suggestions for content to include in a medication management training program reflected that participants want more "experience by doing" as they proposed content which focused on documentation, hands-on learning, and protocols for common clinical situations (i.e., medication is missing from blister pack). One manager suggested, "a focus on how to management medication that may not come in standard blister pacts. Proper protocols for if a medication goes missing, or if you find a wrong type of medication in what was delivered". In

relation, all managers reported they would like to learn about medication management in a classroom setting to engage in discussion, ask questions, etc., which is also linked to experiential learning. Another manager indicated that training should involve "a dedicated orientation session conducted by someone who has been extensively trained to teach proper medication management". This theme is consistent with findings from the literature as Vital and Nathanson (2023) used experiential learning methods (i.e., lecture, simulation, problem-based learning) for medication management training and noted statistically significant results.

Ethical Considerations and Confidentiality

To complete the online questionnaire, permission was obtained from the training manager at Momentum Developmental Support. Participation was voluntary; therefore, those who completed the questionnaire indicated their consent. To ensure confidentiality and data security, responses were anonymous, no personal information such as names were collected, and data was stored in a password protected file on my computer. In addition, the information was used solely for the development of this practicum project, and only shared with my supervisor. When the practicum project was completed, this file was permanently deleted from my computer. The Health Research Ethics Authority (HREA) screen tool has been completed (refer to Appendix C), and based on the assessment, this project is deemed exempt from Health Research Ethics Board approval. It falls under the category of a quality improvement initiative within the normal scope of educational standard.

Implications for the Practicum Project

While the response rate for this survey was quite low, it is the typical response rate for questionnaires distributed at this agency. Despite inconsistencies among some of the data, it is evident that there is room for improvement for medication management training at Momentum.

The implication of these findings suggests that there is a different perception of the need for a medication management training program between managers and DSWs. However, despite inconsistencies among some of the quantitative data, the qualitative data suggests that the medication management training at Momentum is not flawless, and there is room for improvement. These findings can help me tailor the medication management program to ensure it is beneficial for these DSWs. For example, the themes identified through the qualitative data identified that participants prefer classroom training that involves a variety of educational strategies and experiential learning. This will help me plan activities and content that can be delivered using these methods (i.e., simulation, case scenarios, reflection exercises). In relation, the quantitative data illustrated that medication errors are a common occurrence among many employees at this agency. This allows me to understand the extent of the medication management issues and can help me focus the content of this program (i.e., ensuring medication checks are completed before administering, how to document a medication error). These findings will also be compared to the findings from the literature review and environmental scan to identify similarities and differences, which will aid in the overall development of the medication management program.

Conclusion

There were some similarities and differences in the results of the questionnaire for managers and DSWs. As the role of a manager and front-line employee (DSW) are quite different, it is not surprising that there would be differing opinions and experiences. Overall, the most differences were noted among the quantitative data collected from DSWs and managers. Quantitative data collected from DSWs indicated that the current medication management program at Momentum is adequate to meet employee and client needs, and many DSWs feel

very comfortable engaging in medication management skills. Meanwhile, the quantitative data collected from managers indicated a slightly lower comfort level when engaging in medication management skills, and a need for further improvement in the medication management training offered at Momentum. As managers do not engage in medication management skills daily, this may be related to the lower confidence level. However, managers have access to more information (i.e., incident reports) which may account for the differences in perception of the need of a medication management program.

There were many similarities noted among the qualitative data from managers and DSWs. While there were different themes uncovered between both groups, collectively, these themes illustrate the need for a medication management program at Momentum. It was evident that all employees have an accurate understanding of what medication management entails, but DSWs lack the knowledge and competence to perform these skills and there is currently a lack of standardized training. Furthermore, all employees emphasized the importance of having a medication management training program that meets a variety of needs by incorporating components of the experiential learning theory and several educational strategies in a classroombased setting. The goal of this project is to use these findings to develop a medication management program that eliminates the gaps of the current training program and provides consistency for DSWs.

References

- Bakhshi, F., Mitchell, R., Nikbakht Nasrabadi, A., Javadi, M., & Varaei, S. (2021). Clinician attitude towards safety in medication management: a participatory action research study in an emergency department. *BMJ Open*, *11*(9), e047089–e047089.
 https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-047089
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *NursingPlus Open, 2*, 8-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001
- Berland, A., & Bentsen, S. B. (2017). Medication errors in home care: a qualitative focus group study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(21-22), 3734–3741. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13745
- Burgdorf, J. G., Chase, J.-A. D., Whitehouse, C., & Bowles, K. H. (2022). Unmet caregiving needs among sepsis survivors receiving home health care: The need for caregiver training. *Journal of Applied Gerontology.*, 41(10), 2180–2186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/07334648221104084</u>

- College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2019). *Medication management*. <u>https://crnnl.ca/site/uploads/2022/03/medication-management.pdf</u>
- Erickson, S. R., Kamdar, N., & Wu, C.-H. (2020). Adverse medication events related to hospitalization in the United States: A comparison between adults with intellectual and developmental disabilities and those without. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 125(1), 37–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1352/1944-7558-125.1.37</u>
- Godfrey, C. M., Harrison, M. B., Lang, A., Macdonald, M., Leung, T., & Swab, M. (2013).
 Homecare safety and medication management: a scoping review of the quantitative and qualitative evidence. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports*, *11*(2), 357–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.11124/01938924-201311020-00007</u>

- Goodwin, J., White, S., O'Malley, M., Hurley, E., O'Donovan, A., & Kelly, P. (2022). "It"s good to have the knowledge and the confidence': Mental health student nurses' views of a medication workshop. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, 31(4), 1011– 1020. https://doi.org/10.1111/inm.13012
- Mariani, B., Ross, J. G., Paparella, S., & Allen, L. R. (2017). Medication Safety Simulation to
 Assess Student Knowledge and Competence. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *13*(5), 210–216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2017.01.003</u>
- McCarthy, B.C., Tuiskula, K. A., Driscoll, T. P., & Davis, A. M. (2017). Medication errors resulting in harm: Using chargemaster data to determine association with cost of hospitalization and length of stay. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74 *Suppl 4*(23), S102–S107. <u>https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160848</u>
- Oducado, R. M. F., & Estoque, H. (2021). Online Learning in Nursing Education During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Stress, Satisfaction, and Academic Performance. *Journal of Nursing Practice (Online)*, 4(2), 143–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.30994/jnp.v4i2.128</u>
- Parand, A., Garfield, S., Vincent, C., & Franklin, B. D. (2016). Carers' medication administration errors in the domiciliary setting: A systematic review. *PloS One*, *11*(12), e0167204–e0167204. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0167204
- Sim, M. A., Ti, L. K., Mujumdar, S., Chew, S. T. H., Penanueva, D. J. B., Kumar, B. M., & Ang,
 S. B. L. (2022). Sustaining the Gains: A 7-Year Follow-Through of a Hospital-Wide
 Patient Safety Improvement Project on Hospital-Wide Adverse Event Outcomes and
 Patient Safety Culture. *Journal of Patient Safety*, *18*(1), E189–E195.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/PTS.000000000000025

- Treiber, L. A., & Jones, J. H. (2018). Making an Infusion Error: The Second Victims of Infusion Therapy-Related Medication Errors. *Journal of Infusion Nursing*, 41(3), 156–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NAN.00000000000273</u>
- Vital, C. J., & Nathanson, B. H. (2023). Effects of the Interruption Management Strategy "Stay S.A.F.E." During Medication Administration. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, 48(2), 65–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/RNJ.000000000000404</u>

Appendix A : Medication Management Questionnaire

Part A

Please answer the following questions:

1. What is your position at Momentum Developmental Support?

Manager

- Developmental Support Worker
- 2. Which region do you work?

Eastern	region
---------	--------

Northern Peninsula



3. What is your highest level of education achieved?

High school diploma or equivalent

College Diploma





Other (please specify)

4. How long have you worked at Momentum Developmental Support?

1 year or less

1-5 years

5-10 years

15 or more years

5. How would you rate the current medication management training at Momentum

Developmental Support?

Excellent

Good

Undecided/ Unsure

🗌 Fair

Poor

- 6. How comfortable do you feel engaging in medication preparation?
 - Extremely comfortable

Somewhat comfortable

Undecided/Unsure





7. How comfortable do you feel engaging in medication administration?

Extremely comfortable





Somewhat un	ncomfortable
-------------	--------------

Very uncomfortable

8. How comfortable do you feel engaging in medication documentation?





Undecided/Unsure
	Somewhat uncomfortable
	U Very uncomfortable
9.	How comfortable do you feel engaging in medication storage?
	Extremely comfortable
	Somewhat comfortable
	Undecided/Unsure
	Somewhat uncomfortable
	Very uncomfortable
10.	Do you feel the orientation at Momentum Developmental Support adequately prepares
	employees to perform medication management skills?
	Yes
	🗌 No
	Undecided/ Unsure
11.	How many medication errors have you made while working at Momentum
	Developmental Support? (Note: if you have made a medication error, please answer
	question #12 as well)
	None
	1-3
	3-5
	5+
12.	If you have made a medication error(s) while working at Momentum Developmental

Support, how likely is it that a lack of proper medication management training was a contributing factor to this error(s)?

Extremely likely	y
------------------	---

Somewhat likely

Undecided/Unsure



Urry unlikely

13. Have you ever experienced a co-worker make a medication error while working at

Momentum Developmental Support? (Note: if you answer yes to this question, please

answer question #14 as well)

Yes

14. How often have you experienced a co-worker make a medication error while working at

Momentum Developmental Support?

Once

2-3 times

______ 4-5 times

More than 5 times

Part B

15. What does medication management mean to you?

16. Do you think a medication management educational program is needed at Momentum	
Developmental Support? Please explain why or why not.	
17. What would you like to see included in a medication management educational program	l?
18. How would you like to learn about medication management?	

Thanks for agreeing to participate in this project!

Appendix B: Example of Recruitment Letter

Dear Managers/DSWs,

My name is Julia and I am a student in the Master of Science in Nursing program at Memorial University, Faculty of Nursing. I am currently in the process of completing my practicum project, which involves the development of a resource. I plan to develop a medication management program for developmental support workers (DSWs) at Momentum Developmental Support. The main goal of this project is to improve the medication management skills of the DSWs; thus, improving the quality of care provided to clients. Through a recent review of the literature, I found that medication management training and education has a significant impact on preventing medication errors, which relates to patient safety. Consulting with employees at Momentum will allow me to determine if there are consistencies between the literature and this agency.

I am writing you today to ask if you would like to take part in this project by completing an online questionnaire. The purpose of the questionnaire is to gather some information regarding the current medication management training available to DSWs, and the type of educational content you would like included in a medication management program. The questionnaire will be completed online using Microsoft Forms and should only take approximately 15 minutes to complete. All responses will be anonymous. The information gathered from this questionnaire will only be reviewed with my supervisor, The results of the questionnaires will be shared in my practicum report, without any identifying information. I aim to start the consultation process around July 10th, 2023 and appreciate you taking the time to complete this questionnaire. If you have any questions, do not hesitate to contact me at any time. I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely, Julia Bennett, BNRN Registered Nurse, Momentum Developmental Support MScN Student, Memorial University of Newfoundland 709-640-9484 jeb524@mun.ca

Appendix C: Health Research Ethics Authority (HREA) Screening Tool

Student Name: Julia Bennett

Title of Practicum Project: Development of a Medication Management Program for Developmental Support Workers

Date Checklist Completed: June 2, 2023

This project is exempt from Health Research Ethics Board approval because it matches itemnumber3from the list below.

- 1. Research that relies exclusively on publicly available information when the information is legally accessible to the public and appropriately protected by law; or the information is publicly accessible and there is no reasonable expectation of privacy.
- 2. Research involving naturalistic observation in public places (where it does not involve any intervention staged by the researcher, or direct interaction with the individual or groups; individuals or groups targeted for observation have no reasonable expectation of privacy; and any dissemination of research results does not allow identification of specific individuals).
- 3. Quality assurance and quality improvement studies, program evaluation activities, performance reviews, and testing within normal educational requirements if there is no research question involved (used exclusively for assessment, management or improvement purposes).
- 4. Research based on review of published/publicly reported literature.
- 5. Research exclusively involving secondary use of anonymous information or anonymous human biological materials, so long as the process of data linkage or recording or dissemination of results does not generate identifiable information.
- 6. Research based solely on the researcher's personal reflections and self-observation (e.g. auto-ethnography).
- 7. Case reports.
- 8. Creative practice activities (where an artist makes or interprets a work or works of art).

For more information please visit the Health Research Ethics Authority (HREA) at https://rpresources.mun.ca/triage/is-your-project-exempt-from-review/

Appendix D: Environmental Scan Report

Development of a Medication Management Program for Developmental Support Workers Environmental Scan Report

Medication errors are a common healthcare issue worldwide which have many negative impacts on patients, caregivers, and the healthcare system (Godfrey et al., 2013). This includes increased length of stay for patients, increased healthcare costs, and poor caregiver mental health (McCarthy et al., 2017; Treiber & Jones, 2018; Sim et al., 2022). These negative consequences of medication errors can be prevented with effective management of medications. Medication management is an important aspect of quality client-centered care which involves more than just the administration of medication, but instead a combination of knowledge, skill, critical thinking, and decision-making (The College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador [CRNNL], 2019). While mostly licensed professionals engage in medication management tasks in hospital-based care, most of community-based care is provided by unlicensed caregivers. Unlicensed caregivers are permitted to engage in medication management tasks with proper education and training (Shore et al., 2022). Although proper education and training is essential for client safety, medication management in home care is not held to high standards (Godfrey et al., 2013). As a result, caregivers are not educated about medication management properly and are at high risk of making medication errors (Burgdorf et al., 2022). This has a significant impact on client safety, putting them at risk of an adverse drug event (ADE) (Assiri et al., 2018).

At Momentum Developmental Support, unlicensed caregivers such as developmental support workers (DSWs) provide care for clients with intellectual disabilities. As part of onboarding and orientation, DSWs receive only an hour of medication management training. This is not nearly enough time or educational content to ensure DSW's are well versed in medication management. According to Harrison and Graham (2021), environmental scans are used to identify any resources that may be available to guide strategies or interventions for a particular issue, and it also provides a way to customize best practice to a local context. The goal of this project is to create a medication management program for DSWs based on the experiential learning theory and Knowles' adult learning principles. The content and the mode of delivery of this program will be based on findings from a literature review, consultations, and an environmental scan.

The environmental scan was conducted to determine if there were any existing educational resources related to medication management being utilized by local community-care agencies. An additional purpose of the environmental scan was to identify the best possible format, implementation process, evaluation measures, and common content themes to help guide the development of a medication management workshop for developmental support workers at Momentum Developmental Support.

For this project, several local community-care agencies were consulted to determine current medication management practices, and if there were any available medication management resources. In addition, the director/manager of these community care agencies were asked about any barriers associated with any current medication management training. Furthermore, a review of the literature was completed to determine if there were any medication management resources available in Canada or Newfoundland and Labrador (NL). Completing an environmental scan through consults with local community-care agencies, examining the available resources, and reviewing the literature provided me with some resources that I can use for the development of the medication management program. In addition, the results of this environmental scan also allowed me to compare similarities and differences among these resources; therefore, determining the most appropriate ones to use for the development of this

project.

Specific Objective(s) for the Environmental Scan

There were three objectives for the environmental scan:

- Identify existing medication management resources available within Newfoundland and Labrador or Canada
- Consult with local community care agencies to determine if they have any medication management resources available
- Analyze data collected from the environmental scan and use relevant information to inform project development
- Identify the educational content and the mode of delivery for any medication management resources available.

Methods

Setting and Sample

The setting for this medication management project was Momentum Developmental Support located in St. John's and Corner Brook. The environmental scan involved searching the literature, consultations with two local community care agencies: Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health, as well as searching for resources provided by these community care agencies. The purpose and methods used in the environmental scan are provided in detail within this report. The data collected from the environmental scan was assessed using content analysis to identify themes (Bengtsson, 2016). To find medication management resources available in the literature, four websites with information pertaining to medication management in NL and Canada were searched. The websites are 1) The College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador (CRNNL) (2019), 2) The Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP) Canada (2020), 3) Alberta Health Services (2022) and 4) The College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta (n.d.). The following key words were used: "*direct support professional*", "*medication management*", "*training programs*", "*unlicensed caregiver*", "*home support worker*",

"workshop", "education", and "strategies". In addition to these four websites, two community care agencies were contacted for consultation including Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health. These organizations were chosen because they hire unlicensed caregivers, and they provide care for clients with intellectual disabilities. Therefore, any resources these agencies had available would likely be applicable to the employee and client population at Momentum Developmental Support. To consult with these agencies, an emailed letter was sent to the director/manager of each organization to inform them of my project and inquire about engaging in consultation via email or virtual meeting (See Appendix A).

Data Collection

Literature Search

For the purpose of this scan, data was collected from the literature search by searching four health-related websites in NL and Canada. While searching these websites, I looked for resources applicable to medication management including important medication management tips, medication management programs, information about medication management practices, learning activities, and case scenarios about medication errors/medication management. I focused my search on resources that could be adapted to unlicensed caregivers and the various levels of education among this population. Resources such as self-study medication management course and medication assistance program manual were obtained from the literature search of these four websites, whereas case-based scenarios were obtained from consultations with the two local community-care agencies (Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health).

Consultations with Community-Care Agencies

The information collected from community-care agencies was collected via email, as this was the preferred method by the director of both agencies (Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health). A questionnaire was used for these consultations (See Appendix B). The questionnaires were emailed to the directors to ask them about their current medication management training (i.e., mode of delivery, content included, barriers, and resources). To document my findings from the consultations, a copy of the emailed responses and any shared resources were saved in a password-protected file on my computer. These resources were able to be extrapolated to unlicensed caregivers and contained a variety of medication management information and educational strategies, which was pertinent to the development of my resource.

Data Management and Analysis

Literature Search

For data management of the resources obtained from the four above discussed websites and two community-care agencies, important aspects of the resources such as medication management tips and activities were highlighted. The highlighted aspects were then categorized in Excel, and themes were identified through content analysis (Bengtsson, 2016) (See Appendix C). Common themes from all resources were compared to identify which information may be the most beneficial to include in the medication management program.

Consultations with Local Community- Care Agencies

Data from consultations with two community-care agencies were analyzed using content analysis (Bengtsson, 2016). First, the responses from consultations with local community-care agencies were entered into Excel. Then I coded the responses according to meaning unit, and provided a condensed meaning unit that was close to the text. Through these condensed meanings, sub-themes were identified. Finally, common themes were uncovered (See Appendix D). These common themes were used to identify current medication practices, mode of delivery, and barriers associated with medication training among these agencies.

Results

There were two themes identified through the resources obtained from the literature and community care agencies, and three themes identified through consultations with two local community care agencies.

Literature Review and Community Care Agency Resources Themes

There were two themes identified through the resources obtained from the literature search. These two themes are *educational strategies* and *lecture content*, which I discuss in the next section.

Educational Strategies

Data collected from The College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta (n.d.) and Alberta Health Services (2022) had medication management resources that incorporated a variety of educational strategies. Resources obtained from The College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta (n.d.) included a self-study module with activities such as simulation, problem-based learning, and quizzes. Meanwhile, a medication management program manual with case scenarios was obtained from Alberta Health Services (2022). These resources will help learners stay engaged and practice applying medication theory, instead of just learning about it.

Lecture Content

All the literature resources obtained had some information that could be used for lecture content. This includes information about the eight rights of medication administration, documentation, storage, etc. For instance, The College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta

(n.d.) had several self-study modules that included information about medication tips, safety, etc., which could be incorporated into lecture content. Meanwhile, The College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador (CRNNL) (2019), The Institute for Safe Medication Practices (ISMP) Canada (2020), and Alberta Health Services (2022) also had resources with information related to medication administration, documentation, medication errors, etc. that would be important to include in a lecture for my medication management program.

Community-Care Agency Themes

There were three themes identified through the consultations with the two local community-care agencies (Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health). These three themes are *theoretical and practical learning, classroom-based learning*, and *difficulty with online learning*.

Theoretical and Practical Learning

Theoretical and practical learning was the first common theme identified through consultations with local community-care agencies. It was reported that both agencies have a medication management training program for employees which involves theory about medication management (i.e., rights of medication administration, documentation procedures), and practical skills (i.e., preparing and administering medication). One manager stated, "Employees are provided with both theory and practical training".

In-Person Learning

In-person learning was the second most common theme identified through consultations with local community-care agencies. Both agencies reported that in-person learning is a component of their medication management training, specifically for practical skills. At Parallel Health, employees complete the theoretical component online and then meet with a nurse 1:1 to complete the practical skills (i.e., preparing, administering, and documenting medication). One

manager stated, "The theory consists of training modules followed by hands-on training with a nurse". In comparison, Blue Sky Family Care employees must complete an online theory course and get 100% in the medication quiz before moving to the in-person learning session. During the in-person learning session, a lecture is used to review important theoretical material before completing practical skills. Another manager said, "this is completed in day two orientation so employees can practice hands on". Employees are also provided with problem-based scenarios during the in-person learning session, so they can practice critical thinking skills.

Difficulty With Online Learning

The last common theme identified through consultations was difficulty with online learning, which was also considered a barrier. Both agencies commented on the difficulty employees have with online learning. This includes the amount of time it takes to complete the online course, lack of insight into questions that are wrong on the medication quiz, and no access to a trainer/manager to ask questions. One managed noted, "Some find the online course difficult as Practicare does not let them know which questions they have wrong on the test if they do not get 100% on the first try. This leads many to be agitated and second guess their answers". Meanwhile, another manager stated, "depending on the complexity of the client and the learning needs of the trainee, the online learning can be cumbersome".

Ethical Considerations

To obtain permission from local community care agencies, I had to contact the director of each agency via email to see if they were willing to share any resources with me. In this email I identified myself and informed them of my project. I asked if they would be willing to participate in a consultation with me via email or a virtual meeting to discuss medication management at their agency. I also disclosed information related to privacy and confidentiality in

this email. For any resources obtained from the literature, permission was assumed if it was publicly available. Consent for consultation was assumed by agencies who volunteered to participate and share resources. To ensure confidentiality and data security, participants were informed that the resources may be shared with my supervisor and used in the development of my practicum project, a password protected file would be used, and no identifying information would be disclosed. The Health Research Ethics Authority (HREA) screen tool was completed (See Appendix E) and this project was exempt from Health Research Ethics Board approval as it is part of a quality improvement project that is within normal educational standards.

Implications

There were several implications for the findings from the environmental scan. Consulting with Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health gave me some insight into other medication management programs, including areas of strength and opportunity for these programs. For instance, Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health have an online theoretical component; however, there are some barriers associated with having an online component, such as the inability to ask questions. Since online learning has been considered a barrier for these agencies, this helped me make a decision about the best mode of delivery for incorporating theoretical-based content into my program, such as a lecture. In addition, the results of this scan were compared to the literature review and consultations to identify similarities and differences. This helped me determine what resources were necessary to include for adequate training and education. For instance, content of my medication training program should include theory and practical skills. The theory should include information related to medication management (i.e., common medications, eight rights of medication administration, commonly confused medications), while the practical component should include preparing, administering, and

documenting medication as per the medication management programs at Blue Sky Family Care and Parallel Health. However, the educational strategies used to deliver this content will be different from these agencies. Instead, I will use strategies that ensure a variety of learning needs are met and keep employees engaged such as lectures, case-scenarios, and simulation, as these strategies have been shown to be effective for medication management training in the literature. As both agencies reported that it takes approximately 3-3.5 hours to complete medication management training, a half-day workshop will be sufficient to deliver this program.

Conclusion

The results of this environmental scan helped identify medication management resources that are available throughout the literature and two local community care agencies. The environmental scan gave me a vast range of resources to draw upon when developing the medication management program. The findings from the environmental scan also helped me identify similarities and differences in medication management training resources. As a result, similar resources and findings were used to inform the development of the medication management workshop for DSWs. As there is a lack of consistent medication management training among unlicensed caregivers, the findings from the environmental scan can help inform the development of this medication management workshop, which may be a leader in the transformation of training available to unlicensed caregivers. Developing an effective resource requires extensive knowledge and resources which is acquired from an environmental scan.

References

Alberta Health Services. (2022). *Medication assistance program manual*. https://www.albertahealthservices.ca/assets/info/seniors/if-sen-map-program-inalberta.pdf

- Assiri, G. A., Shebl, N. A., Mahmoud, M. A., Aloudah, N., Grant, E., Aljadhey, H., & Sheikh, A. (2018). What is the epidemiology of medication errors, error-related adverse events and risk factors for errors in adults managed in community care contexts? A systematic review of the international literature. *BMJ Open*, 8(5), e019101–e019101. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019101
- Burgdorf, J. G., Chase, J.-A. D., Whitehouse, C., & Bowles, K. H. (2022). Unmet Caregiving Needs Among Sepsis Survivors Receiving Home Health Care: The Need for Caregiver Training. *Journal of Applied Gerontology.*, 41(10), 2180–2186.

https://doi.org/10.1177/07334648221104084

- Canadian Institute for Health Information. (2016). *Measuring patient harm in Canadian hospitals*. <u>https://secure.cihi.ca/free_products/cihi_cpsi_hospital_harm_en.pdf</u>
- College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2019). *Medication management*. <u>https://crnnl.ca/site/uploads/2022/03/medication-management.pdf</u>
- College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberta. (n.d.). *Medication administration self-study course*. https://studywithclpna.com/medicationadministration/
- Godfrey, C. M., Harrison, M. B., Lang, A., Macdonald, M., Leung, T., & Swab, M. (2013).
 Homecare safety and medication management: a scoping review of the quantitative and qualitative evidence. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports*, *11*(2), 357–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.11124/01938924-201311020-00007</u>

- Graneheim, U.H., & Lundman, B. (2004). Qualitative content analysis in nursing research: concepts, procedures and measures to achieve trustworthiness. *Nurse Education Today*, 24(2), 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nedt.2003.10.001
- Harrison, M. B., & Graham, I. D. (2021). *Knowledge translation in nursing and healthcare: a roadmap to evidence-informed practice*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Institute for Safe Medication Practices Canada. (2020, December 22). Medications most frequently reported in harm incidents over the past 5 years (2015-2020). *ISMP Canada Safety Bulletin, 20*(11), 1-7. https://ismpcanada.ca/wp-content/uploads/ISMPCSB2020i11-Medications-Reported-Harm.pdf
- McCarthy, B.C., Tuiskula, K. A., Driscoll, T. P., & Davis, A. M. (2017). Medication errors resulting in harm: Using chargemaster data to determine association with cost of hospitalization and length of stay. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74 *Suppl 4*(23), S102–S107. https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160848
- Shore, C. B., Maben, J., Mold, F., Winkley, K., Cook, A., & Stenner, K. (2022). Delegation of medication administration from registered nurses to non-registered support workers in community care settings: A systematic review with critical interpretive synthesis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *126*, 104121–104121.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.104121
- Sim, M. A., Ti, L. K., Mujumdar, S., Chew, S. T. H., Penanueva, D. J. B., Kumar, B. M., & Ang, S. B. L. (2022). Sustaining the Gains: A 7-Year Follow-Through of a Hospital-Wide Patient Safety Improvement Project on Hospital-Wide Adverse Event Outcomes and Patient Safety Culture. *Journal of Patient Safety*, *18*(1), E189–E195. https://doi.org/10.1097/PTS.000000000000725

Treiber, L. A., & Jones, J. H. (2018). Making an Infusion Error: The Second Victims of Infusion Therapy-Related Medication Errors. *Journal of Infusion Nursing*, 41(3), 156–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NAN.00000000000273</u>

Appendix A: Letter for Community-Care Agencies

Dear (name of manager/director at each chosen agency),

My name is Julia and I am a student in the Master of Science in Nursing program at Memorial University. I am currently in the process of completing my practicum project, which involves the development of a resource.

Through a recent review of the literature, I found that medication management training and education has a significant impact on prevention of medication errors, which relates to patient safety. Therefore, I am planning to develop a medication management program for developmental support workers (DSWs) at Momentum Developmental Support. The main goal of this project is to improve the medication management training offered to DSWs; thus, improving the quality of care provided to clients.

Momentum Developmental Support provides 24-hour care to individuals with intellectual disabilities. I have noted that your agency offers similar community-based care. As a result, I am wondering if you have any medication management resources available that you would be willing to share with me. In addition, I would like to know about the current mode of delivery for any medication management training offered at your agency, as well as any identified barriers. Any information or resources you have will be beneficial to the development of this program. We can consult via email or virtually, depending on what works best for you. This is an informal discussion and should only take approximately 15-20 minutes.

The information gathered will be reviewed with my supervisor, and may be shared in my practicum report, without any identifying information. The information will be kept in a password protected file on my computer and deleted upon completion of my practicum project. Please let me know at your earliest convenience if you are willing to participate in this discussion. If you have any questions, do not hesitate to contact me at any time. I look forward to hearing from you.

Sincerely,

Julia Bennett, BNRN Registered Nurse, Momentum Developmental Support MScN Student, Memorial University of Newfoundland 709-640-9484 jeb524@mun.ca

Appendix B: Consultation Questions for Local Community Care Agencies

- 1. Do you have a medication management training program for employees?
- 2. What content is included in your medication management training for employees?
- 3. What mode of delivery is used to deliver this training?
- 4. How long does it take to delivery your medication management training?
- 5. Are there any barriers identified with the current medication management training offered at your agency?
- 6. Do you have any medication management resources you would be willing to share for the development of a medication management program for developmental support workers at Momentum Developmental Support?

Appendix C: Example of Content Analysis for Literature Search and Resources Obtained from Community Care Agencies



Appendix D: Example of Content Analysis for Community Care Consultations

AutoSave 💽	6 B 9 · C ···	Data Analysis- Environ	nmental Scan- Consultations — Saved ~				Q &		
Home Insert Draw Page Layout Formulas Data Review View Automate 🖓 Tell me						□ Comments	; 🖻 Share		
Calibri (Body)	\sim 12 \sim A [*] A [*] $\equiv \equiv \equiv$	≫ v c Wrap Text v	Custom ~	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •					
Paste 🥩 B I U 🗸	• 🖽 • 💁 • 🛕 • 🛛 🚍 🚍 3	←= →= Merge & Center ∨	\$ ~ % 9 ← 0 .00	Conditional Format Cell Formatting as Table Styles	Insert Delete	Format Sort & Find & Find & Select	Analyze Data		
$ \begin{array}{ c c c } A9 & & \\ \hline \\ & \\ \hline \\ & \\ \end{array} \\ \hline \\ & \\ & \\ \hline \\ & \\ & \\ \hline \\ & \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ & \\ \\ \\ & \\ \\ \\ & \\ \\ \\ \\ & \\$									
А	В			С	D	E	F		
1 Community-Care Agency	Meaning Unit		Condensed Meaning Unit Description Close to Text		Sub-Theme	Theme			
2 Blue Sky Family Care	Employees have to complete the medication training online before classroom training		There is online and classroom training		Content	Theoretical and Practical Learning			
3 Parallel Health	The theory consists of training modules followed by hands-on training with a nurse		There are online training and training with a nurse Mode of De		Mode of Delivery	In-Person Learning			
4 Parallel Health	The online learning can be cumbersome depending on the needs of the trainee		Online learning can be challenging for some employees		Frustration	Diffulty With Online Leaning			

Appendix E: Health Research Ethics Authority (HREA) Screening Tool

Student Name: Julia Bennett

Title of Practicum Project: Development of a Medication Management Program for Developmental Support Workers

Date Checklist Completed: June 2, 2023

This project is exempt from Health Research Ethics Board approval because it matches itemnumber3from the list below.

- 1. Research that relies exclusively on publicly available information when the information is legally accessible to the public and appropriately protected by law; or the information is publicly accessible and there is no reasonable expectation of privacy.
- 2. Research involving naturalistic observation in public places (where it does not involve any intervention staged by the researcher, or direct interaction with the individual or groups; individuals or groups targeted for observation have no reasonable expectation of privacy; and any dissemination of research results does not allow identification of specific individuals).
- 3. Quality assurance and quality improvement studies, program evaluation activities, performance reviews, and testing within normal educational requirements if there is no research question involved (used exclusively for assessment, management or improvement purposes).
- 4. Research based on review of published/publicly reported literature.
- 5. Research exclusively involving secondary use of anonymous information or anonymous human biological materials, so long as the process of data linkage or recording or dissemination of results does not generate identifiable information.
- 6. Research based solely on the researcher's personal reflections and self-observation (e.g. auto-ethnography).
- 7. Case reports.
- 8. Creative practice activities (where an artist makes or interprets a work or works of art).

For more information please visit the Health Research Ethics Authority (HREA) at https://rpresources.mun.ca/triage/is-your-project-exempt-from-review/

Appendix E: Medication Management Resource

MEDICATION MANAGEMENT FOR DEVELOPMENTAL SUPPORT WORKERS

Workshop Instructor Manual

Julia Bennett BN RN

Table of Contents

Introduction168	8
Instructor Preparation173	3
Workshop Content	5
References	4
Appendix A: Notification of Educational Workshop180	6
Appendix B: Attendance Sheet188	8
Appendix C: PowerPoint	0
Appendix D: Agenda	5
Appendix E: Ice Breaker Activity	8
Appendix F: Medication Management Questionnaire (Pre-test & Post-test)23	1
Appendix G: Case Studies	5
Appendix H: Simulation243	3
Appendix I: Medication Administration Record25	7
Appendix J: Reflection259	9
Appendix K: Workshop Evaluation262	2
Appendix L: Certificate	6

Introduction

Medication errors are a worldwide health care issue which poses a risk to patients, caregivers, and the healthcare system (Godfrey et al. 2013). Effective management of medications can prevent medication errors and the negative consequences associated with these errors. Although unlicensed caregivers are permitted to engage in medication management tasks with proper education and training (Shore et al., 2022), education and training in the home care setting is not held to high standards (Godfrey et al., 2013). As a result, caregivers are not educated about medication management properly and are at high risk for making medication errors (Burgdorf et al., 2022).

At Momentum Developmental Support, unlicensed caregivers called developmental support workers (DSWs) provide care for clients with intellectual disabilities. As part of onboarding and orientation, DSWs receive only an hour of medication management training. This is a gap in training at it is not nearly enough time or educational content to ensure DSW's are well versed in medication management.

The Half-Day Workshop

The half-day workshop "Medication Management for Developmental Support Workers" was designed for DSWs at Momentum. This workshop was developed based on Knowles' (1978) adult learning theory and Kolb's (1984) experiential learning theory. A variety of educational strategies were incorporated into this workshop such as:

1. Lecture

2. Case Studies

3. Simulation

The overall goal is to provide an interactive training session that would assist DSWs in the development of medication management skills. Three learning objectives are considered to achieve this goal:

- 1. Discuss the importance of proper medication management
- 2. Demonstrate practical medication management skills
- Identify the appropriate action(s) to take when a medication management issue is encountered

Notification of Training

• An email outlining details of the workshop (Appendix A) will be sent by the training manager to all participants registered for each workshop. This email will contain details about the location, time, instructor, etc.

Number of Participants

• To ensure efficient learning, the workshop is designed for a maximum of 12 participants and a minimum of 4 participants. Each participant will be required to sign the attendance sheet to be paid (Appendix B).

Workshop Instructors

• A nurse or another professional who has a clinical background should deliver this workshop. New instructors are required to attend a workshop prior to instructing to ensure consistent teaching. The resource manual provides detailed descriptions of each learning activity. Before each workshop, the instructor should thoroughly review the resource manual and the PowerPoint (Appendix C).

Time of the Workshop

• Training will be offered on a monthly basis to ensure all DSWs have the opportunity to attend. The training will be offered from 9 am- 12:30 pm, with a 20-minue coffee break throughout and an additional 10-minute break.

Theoretical Frameworks

There were two theories (Knowles' (1978) adult learning theory and Kolb's (1984) experiential learning theory) used to guide the development of this manual, as well as the selection of educational strategies.

Knowles' Adult Learning Theory

Knowles' adult learning theory contains a set of principles that are applicable to adult learners (Collins, 2004) (see Figure 1). Knowles' adult learning theory can be applied to support DSWs in learning about medication management by recognizing that adults learn best when the material is relevant to their lives and when they can apply what they learn immediately (Knowles, 1978). Therefore, incorporating real-life scenarios based on current practice into the workshop using case studies and simulation allow participants to engage in self-directed discussion, relate to practice, and share experiences, which is beneficial. Furthermore, adult learners often connect prior life experience and knowledge to the learning process, so acknowledging and incorporating their existing knowledge into the training via a pre-test questionnaire can promote engagement and allow participants to determine areas of opportunity. As adult learners are self-directed, providing an opportunity for a reflection exercise with questions related to the simulation experience can allow participants to determine their future learning goals for medication management and develop a plan to meet these goals. Finally, adults appreciate a positive learning environment, so accommodating for different learning styles via various educational strategies further support the application of Knowles' adult learning theory in medication management training for DSWs.

Figure 1

Diagram of Knowles' Adult Learning Theory



The Kolb's Experiential Learning Theory

The Kolb's (1984) experiential learning theory involves four domains including experience, perception, cognition, and behavior, where learning is viewed as a holistic approach, as opposed to an intellectual or physical approach. According to Sharlanova (2004), this theory involves a cyclical process which involves doing, observing, thinking, and planning (see Figure 2). The doing phase involves actively completing a task either individually or as a group. The observing phase involves reflecting on the task that was completed to determine feelings about the task and what could be done differently. The thinking phase is when the learner tries to make sense of the task that was completed, while the planning phase involves planning to test a theory differently for future. This theory was mainly used to inform the different educational strategies for the medication management workshop such as simulation (doing phase), reflection (observing phase), case studies (thinking phase), and lecture (planning phase). The experiential learning theory guides participants in practicing hands-on skills, but also in the development of learning through reflection and critical thinking.

Figure 2



Diagram of Kolb's Experiential Learning Theory

Instructor Preparation

Before the workshop, the instructor must:

- 1. Review the resource manual which includes PowerPoint slides (Appendix C). A digital copy of the PowerPoint must be obtained from the training manager.
- 2. Confirm participant attendance list with training manager
- 3. Book a training room and ensure equipment is functioning (i.e., computer)
- 4. Ensure enough chairs for instructor and participants
- 5. Ensure enough mannequins for simulation exercise
- 6. Save PowerPoint to jump drive
- 7. Set up tables, chairs, & mannequin stations
- 8. Place a copy of PowerPoint slides and agenda at the table for each participant
- 9. Place the attendance sheet on the table

Print the following:

- Attendance sheet (one copy) (Appendix B)
- PowerPoint slides for each participant (without speaker notes) (max 12 participants) (Appendix C)
- Agenda for each participant (max 12 participants) (Appendix D)
- Icebreaker activity (questions need to be cut and placed in bag) (one copy) (Appendix E)
- Medication management questionnaire (enough for each participant pre and post-

test) (maximum 12 participants) (Appendix F)

- One copy of answers for medication management quiz (instructor only) (Appendix F)
- Case studies (A separate case study for each group) (maximum 4 groups) (Appendix G)
- One copy of answers for case studies (instructor only) (Appendix G)
- Simulation exercises (A separate exercise for each group) (maximum 4 groups) (Appendix H)
- One copy of answers for simulation exercises (instructor only) (Appendix H)
- Blank copies of the medication administration record (instructor will write in the required medications for the simulation exercise) (Appendix I)
- Reflection exercise (enough for each participant) (maximum 12 participants) (Appendix J)
- Workshop evaluation form (enough for each participant) (maximum 12 participants) (Appendix K)

Additional Supplies:

- Pens/pencils
- Blank 8.5 x 11 paper
- Blister packs x 4
- Medication cups

Workshop Content

- 1. Starting with Introductions/Ice Breaker Activity
- 2. Completing the Medication Management Pre-Test
- 3. Discussing the Medication Management Lecture
- 4. Completing the Case Studies
- 5. Practicing via Simulation
- 6. Learning through Reflection
- 7. Completing the Medication Management Post-Test/Workshop Evaluation

Starting with Introductions/Ice Breaker Activity

Learning Objectives

By the end of this session, participants will:

- 1. Understand the purpose of the workshop
- 2. Feel comfortable communicating and interacting with others in the workshop
- 3. Be prepared to engage in learning activities

The instructor should:

- Introduce self, title, and the overall goal of the workshop
- Ensure participants sign the attendance sheet
- Review housekeeping items
- Remind participants they each have a copy of the PowerPoint slides and agenda on their table to review and follow along throughout the workshop
- Engage in a discussion with the participants regarding the learning objectives for the workshop
- Allow participants to introduce themselves and complete icebreaker activity (Appendix E)
- For the icebreaker activity, ask each participant to put their hand in the bag (without looking) and pull out a question to answer as part of their introduction.
Completing the Medication Management Pre-Test

Learning Objectives

By the end of this session, participants will:

- 1. Assess baseline medication management knowledge
- 2. Recognize their level of medication management knowledge and competence
- 3. Identify learning priorities for the workshop

- Distribute a copy of the medication management questionnaire (Appendix F) to all participants
- Allow participants approximately 10 minutes to complete the questionnaire
- Do not provide answers until the post-test

Discussing the Medication Management Lecture

Learning Objectives

By the end of this session, participants will:

- 1. Identify proper medication management skills (i.e., preparation, storage, administration, and documentation)
- 2. Discuss medication errors and contributing factors
- 3. Examine the role of the DSW regarding medication management

- Provide an overview of the lecture content. The content is covered in approximately 1 hour.
- Review lecture slides in PowerPoint (Appendix C) and answer any questions participants may have
- Take time to model practical skills for medication preparation, administration, and documentation while reading through this portion of the lecture

Completing the Case Studies

Learning Objectives

By the end of this session, participants will:

- 1. Identify solutions for complex medication management scenarios
- 2. Apply theoretical knowledge via critical thinking and decision-making
- 3. Examine alternate ideas and solutions via group discussion and engagement

- Assign participants into groups of 3 or 4
- Each group should be assigned one case study (Appendix G). Every group will have a different case study.
- Allow each group 15 minutes to read and answer the assigned questions
- After 15 minutes, each group will choose one participant to read their assigned case study, questions, and answers to the class. There will be 3-4 minutes assigned for a participant from each group to present and allow discussion among the class.
- The instructor should review the answers for the case studies (Appendix G) and discuss any points about the case study that the group/class may have missed.

Practicing via Simulation

Learning Objectives

By the end of this session, participants will:

- 1. Apply theoretical knowledge to practice via hands-on skills
- 2. Demonstrate practical medication management skills (i.e., medication preparation, administration, documentation)
- 3. Discuss solutions for complex medication management scenarios

- Assign participants into groups of 3 or 4
- Each group should be assigned a different simulation exercise (Appendix H)
- The instructor will write the following medications on a medication administration record (Appendix I) and make four copies (one for each group):
 0800: Citalopram 10 mg once daily; Fluoxetine 20 mg once daily
 1200: Metformin 500 mg twice daily (with lunch and dinner)
 1400: Lorazepam 1 mg once daily; Metoprolol 25 mg once daily
 1700: Metformin 500 mg twice daily (with lunch and dinner)
- Each group should also be given blank paper to write any required notes
- A blister pack should be provided to each group and medication cups
- Each participant will be responsible for preparing, administering, and documenting at least one medication in their assigned groups

- Each group will work together to solve any issues that arise throughout their assigned simulation exercise
- The instructor will provide guidance and feedback to each group as needed. The instructor should review answers to the simulation exercises (Appendix H) and discuss any points that groups may have missed.

Learning through Reflection

Learning Objectives

By the end of this session, participants will:

- 1. Consider their learning experience via simulation
- 2. Identify areas of strength/opportunity in practicing medication management skills
- 3. Construct a plan for ongoing medication management learning

- Pass out a copy of the reflection exercise to each participant (Appendix J)
- Remind participants that this is an individual activity and answers do not need to be shared with the class
- Allow participants 10 minutes to quietly complete the reflection exercise

Completing the Medication Management Post-

Test/Workshop Evaluation

Learning Objectives

By the end of this session, participants will:

- 1. Compare their pre and post-test to evaluate knowledge learned
- 2. Determine level of competence and confidence regarding medication management
- 3. Discuss workshop experience and provide feedback

- Pass a copy of the medication management questionnaire (Appendix F) and workshop evaluation to all participants (Appendix K)
- Allow participants approximately 15 minutes to complete the questionnaire and the workshop evaluation
- Once participants have completed the questionnaire, each participant will correct their pre and post-test. The instructor will share answers aloud so they can be corrected as a group (Appendix F)
- Participants should compare their pre and post-test quiz to determine differences in scores
- The instructor will collect all quizzes and written evaluations once complete for feedback purposes
- Remind participants that they will receive a certificate of completion for the workshop via email (Appendix L)

References

- Assiri, G. A., Shebl, N. A., Mahmoud, M. A., Aloudah, N., Grant, E., Aljadhey, H., & Sheikh, A. (2018). What is the epidemiology of medication errors, error-related adverse events and risk factors for errors in adults managed in community care contexts? A systematic review of the international literature. *BMJ Open*, 8(5), e019101–e019101. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019101
- Burgdorf, J. G., Chase, J.-A. D., Whitehouse, C., & Bowles, K. H. (2022). Unmet Caregiving Needs Among Sepsis Survivors Receiving Home Health Care: The Need for Caregiver Training. *Journal of Applied Gerontology.*, 41(10), 2180–2186.

https://doi.org/10.1177/07334648221104084

- College of Registered Nurses of Newfoundland and Labrador. (2019). *Medication management*. <u>https://crnnl.ca/site/uploads/2022/03/medication-management.pdf</u>
- Collins, J. (2004). Education techniques for lifelong learning: Principles of adult learning. *Radiographics*, 24(5), 1483–1489. <u>https://doi.org/10.1148/rg.245045020</u>
- Godfrey, C. M., Harrison, M. B., Lang, A., Macdonald, M., Leung, T., & Swab, M. (2013).
 Homecare safety and medication management: a scoping review of the quantitative and qualitative evidence. *JBI Database of Systematic Reviews and Implementation Reports*, 11(2), 357–371. <u>https://doi.org/10.11124/01938924-201311020-00007</u>
- Knowles, M. S. (1978). Andragogy: Adult Learning Theory in Perspective. *Community College Review*, 5(3), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.1177/009155217800500302
- Kolb, D. A. (1984). *Experiential learning: experience as the source of learning and development*. Prentice-Hall.

- McCarthy, B.C., Tuiskula, K. A., Driscoll, T. P., & Davis, A. M. (2017). Medication errors resulting in harm: Using chargemaster data to determine association with cost of hospitalization and length of stay. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 74 *Suppl 4*(23), S102–S107. <u>https://doi.org/10.2146/ajhp160848</u>
- Sharlanova, V. (2004). Experiential learning. Trakia Journal of Sciences, 2(4), 36-39. http://tru.uni-sz.bg/tsj/Volume2_4/EXPERIENTIAL%20LEARNING.pdf
- Shore, C. B., Maben, J., Mold, F., Winkley, K., Cook, A., & Stenner, K. (2022). Delegation of medication administration from registered nurses to non-registered support workers in community care settings: A systematic review with critical interpretive synthesis. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *126*, 104121–104121. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.104121
- Sim, M. A., Ti, L. K., Mujumdar, S., Chew, S. T. H., Penanueva, D. J. B., Kumar, B. M., & Ang,
 S. B. L. (2022). Sustaining the Gains: A 7-Year Follow-Through of a Hospital-Wide
 Patient Safety Improvement Project on Hospital-Wide Adverse Event Outcomes and
 Patient Safety Culture. *Journal of Patient Safety*, *18*(1), E189–E195.

https://doi.org/10.1097/PTS.000000000000725

Treiber, L. A., & Jones, J. H. (2018). Making an Infusion Error: The Second Victims of Infusion Therapy-Related Medication Errors. *Journal of Infusion Nursing*, 41(3), 156–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/NAN.00000000000273</u> **Appendix A: Notification of Educational Workshop**

Notification of Educational Workshop

Dear (DSW name),

Medication management is an important part of quality care and has been recognized as a training need among this agency. Therefore, we will be offering a mandatory half-day educational workshop titled "Medication Management for Developmental Support Workers" for all DSWs working at Momentum. You have been chosen to attend the first workshop which will be held on (*insert date*) at (*insert location*). This is a paid workshop and will continue to be offered monthly on a year-round basis, so all DSWs have the opportunity to attend. We are excited for this new training opportunity and look forward to improving client outcomes, as well as DSW competence, knowledge, and work satisfaction. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to reach out to me.

Sincerely,

(Training manager signature)

Appendix B: Attendance Sheet

Attendance Sheet

Medication Management Half-Day Workshop

Date	Name (Print)	Signature

Appendix C: PowerPoint



Introduce myself



The instructor should introduce themselves, title, and their goal for the workshop.



Inform participants where the washroom facilities and fire exits are located. Ask participants to turn cellphones on vibrate or silent and to step outside the classroom if a phone call must be taken. Remind participants that this is a safe and respectful place to learn (i.e., raise hand to ask a question, no talking among each other when someone else is speaking, arrive back from break on time). The duration of the workshop is approximately 3.5 hours. Participants must attend the entire workshop to receive a certificate at the end. A 20-minute coffee break with light refreshments will be provided half-way through the workshop, with an additional 10-minute break throughout. Remind participants to sign the attendance sheet.



Each participant has a copy of the agenda to follow.

Learning Objectives

By the end of the workshop, Developmental Support Workers will:

1. Discuss the importance of proper medication management

2. Demonstrate practical medication management skills

3. Identify the appropriate action(s) to take when a medication management issue is encountered



Participants will introduce themselves and tell the group how long they have worked at Momentum. They will also complete the icebreaker activity.



Remind participants not to panic! This questionnaire is used to test their baseline knowledge and there is no pass or fail score. Students have 10 minutes to complete this quiz. Answers will be corrected after the post-test and compared.





Medication management is a part of client-centered care. While many people think medication management involves the administration of medication, there are many other components to be considered such as knowledge, skill, critical thinking and decision making. To be competent in medication management, all skills must be integrated. As caregivers, it is important to understand the basis of medication management to practice safely and effectively. Proper medication management leads to safe, quality care for clients (CRNNL, 2019).



Medication errors are often linked to poor medication management skills (Godfrey et al., 2013). According to Assiri et al. (2018), a medication error is a preventable event that results when medications are not managed properly, which may lead to inappropriate medication use or patient harm. In Canada, approximately 7531 medication incidents were reported from 2015-2020 among long-term care, hospitals, community pharmacy, and home/community care (The Institute for Safe Medication Practices [ISMP], 2020). Based on the literature, the most commonly reported medication errors are wrong dose, wrong time, and wrong medication.



These are some of the most common organizational and individual factors that contribute to medication errors. **One of the most common factors for unlicensed caregivers (i.e., Developmental Support Workers) is lack of knowledge and training (Godfrey et al., 2013). There are many inconsistencies in medication management training offered to unlicensed vs licensed caregivers. As a result, this can lead to increased medication errors throughout community care environments (Berland & Bentsen, 2017).



Clients, the healthcare system, and caregivers are all impacted of medication errors. A preventable ADE is a drug event that is caused by medication errors such as omission, incorrect dose, time, or medication. This may include an allergic reaction, fluctuations in blood sugar or blood pressure, anemia, rash, kidney damage, etc., (Wolfe et al., 2018). As a result, this often leads to hospitalization and an increased length of hospital stay and healthcare costs associated with the length of stay and treatment (Moore et al., 2022). Although clients are often the main priority when a medication error has occurred, caregivers may also feel the impact of these errors for an extended period of time. Consequently, this has a negative impact on caregiver mental health and self-confidence (Athanasakis, 2019; Melnyk et al., 2018).



Medications for clients are typically delivered by the pharmacy or picked up by DSWs. Once medications are received from the pharmacy, they should be checked for accuracy by two employees and then stored in the secure location. To avoid confusion, only current medication should be stored in the medication storage area. Any medications that are discontinued or expired, must be returned to the pharmacy for proper disposal. If a refrigerator for medications is used, daily temperature checks must be completed and documented to ensure the temperature is between 2°C- 8°C (Momentum Developmental Support, 2017).



Medications for clients are typically delivered by the pharmacy or picked up by DSWs. Once medications are received from the pharmacy, they should be checked for accuracy by two employees and then stored in the secure location. To avoid confusion, only current medication should be stored in the medication storage area. Any medications that are discontinued or expired, must be returned to the pharmacy for proper disposal. If a refrigerator for medications is used, daily temperature checks must be completed and documented to ensure the temperature is between 2°C- 8°C (Momentum Developmental Support, 2017).



PacMed bags have a perforated line so they can be opened easily and poured into a medication cup.



Blister Packs have a perforated line so they can be separated from the rest of the pack. Once the correct blister is chosen, the label easily peels back to pour into a medication cup.

Medication Preparation

Three checks must be completed for medication preparation:

Check #1: Before preparing the medication

Check #2: While preparing the medication

Check #3: After preparation is completed and before administration (Callege of Licensed Practical Names of Alberts (CLPRN), n.d.)

The first check is completed before the medication is removed from the packaging. The DSW will compare the medication administration record to the blister pack or PacMed to identify the correct medication to tear from the PacMed or blister pack. The second check is completed while preparing the medication. The DSW will compare the detached PacMed or blister pack to the medication administration record before opening the pack to pour. Once accuracy has been confirmed, the medication can be poured into a medication cup. The final check is completed after all medication has been poured. The DSW will check the blister pack or PacMed before discarding the packaging to ensure accuracy with the medication administration record. Once the final check is complete and accuracy has been confirmed, the DSW can begin administration. * High alert medication (i.e., insulin) and controlled substances (i.e., narcotics) must be checked by two DSWs.



- 1. Right Patient- check patient identification
- 2. Right Medication- ensure correct medication is being administered (3 checks)
- 3. Right Dose- ensure correct dose of medication is being administered (3 checks)
- 4. Right Route- is the medication given by mouth, sublingual (under tongue), or injection?
- Right Time- ensure correct medication is being administered at the correct time (3 checks)
- Right Reason- Is the medication being administered for the right reason? (i.e., Tylenol for a headache)
- Right Response- is the client have the intended response for the medication (i.e., decreased pain)
- 8. Right Documentation- ensure all administered medication is documented on the medication administration record

*Note: demonstration of medication administration should be shown by instructor during these slides.



All clients must be identified using two identifiers before medication administration. Medication must not be left in the possession of clients. DSWs need to directly observe clients taking medications to document accurately.



DSWs must only sign the medication administration record after administration. If an error is made on the medication administration record, do not use whiteout. Instead draw a single line through the entry and write "mistaken entry" with your initials.

*Note: demonstration of medication documentation should be shown by instructor during these slides.



Explain how to sign the medication administration record. The medications are listed in the first column, and the time in the second. Find the medication and the time you administered then go across to the date and write your initials in the box (e.g. JB). On the bottom of the medication administration record, write your full signature and your initials once on every record for identification purposes.

Medical Incident Report (Documenting a Medication Error)

F- Medication Error

A- DSW Jenny had just administered client's 1000 medication. When DSW returned to the office to sign the medication administration record, she noticed that she had taken the medication from the wrong blister pack (administered 1700 medication instead).

I-DSW monitored the client and called the pharmacy to notify them of the error. Once DSW ensured client was stable, DSW called home manager to notify them as well.

R- Pharmacy indicated to continue to monitor the client; however, she should not have any side effects. Pharmacy advised to administer 1000 medication, but do not give another dose of 1700 medication. DSW administered 1000 medication and signed medication administration record. Client stable and no medical intervention needed.

All medication errors must be reported using a medical incident report. We use the acronym FAIR to write notes. F= Focus, A= Assessment, I= Intervention, R= Response. Here is an example of how to write a note for a medication error.
Medical Incident Report (Medication Refusal)

F- Medication Refusal

A-DSW attempted to administer client's 1700 medication at 1630. Client refused and said he would take them later.

- DSW continued to offer 1700 medication at 15-minute intervals until the end of the window period for this medication (1645, 1700, 1715, 1730, 1745, 1800). Client refused all times stating, "that medication makes me feel worse".

R-DSW signed the medication administration record with an "R" and initials and put medication in a Ziplock bag to be disposed at the pharmacy.

This is an example of how to document a medication refusal on a medical incident report.



- If a client initially refuses medication, staff continue to attempt to administer within the window period for that medication. Once the window period has passed, the DSW will place the medication in a bag and ensure it is returned to the pharmacy. The medication administration record will be marked with an "R" and the DSW initials to indicate that the client refused. A medical incident report must also be completed to provide details of the client refusal.
- If the DSW makes a medication error, the priority is to monitor the client and determine if medical treatment is needed. The pharmacy should also be contacted for instruction. Once the client is determined to be stable, the DSW will ensure the medication error is documented on a medical incident report, as well as communicated to the manager.
- 3. If a client is nauseated/vomiting, the DSW should still attempt to administer the medication at the scheduled time. If the client vomits after taking the medication, the DSW should call the pharmacy for further instruction. A medical incident report should be completed by the DSW indicating details of the incident
- 4. If a medication is missing from the blister pack or PacMed bag, the DSW should call the pharmacy for further instruction. A medical incident report should be completed by the DSW indicating details of the incident (Momentum Developmental Support, 2017).

Role of the Developmental Support Worker Attend all medication management training sessions Apply your training to practice

Remember to ask questions/seek clarification if you are uncertain

If you observe other DSWs engaging in unsafe medication practices, report this to your manager

(Momentum Developmental Support, 2017)

As a DSW, it is your responsibility to ensure clients receive prescribed medication safely. Before administering medication, all DSWs must attend in-person training. It is important to ask questions/seek clarification when needed. Remember, that client safety is your top priority and seeking help is a way to prevent medication errors. If you observe your co-workers engaging in medication practices that were not covered in this training session, please reach out to your manager !





Participants should divide themselves into groups of 3 or 4. Each group should be handed a copy of a case study. Participants will be given approximately 15 minutes to read the case study and answer the questions. After 15 minutes, one participant from each group will read their case study and share their answers. Other participants can join in the discussion as well. See answer key for case studies to determine discussion points that should be covered.





Participants should divide themselves into groups of 3 or 4. Each group should be handed a copy of a simulation exercise. Ask each group to read the instructions and begin. The instructor will walk around the room to monitor and provide guidance when necessary. See answer key for simulation problems to ensure groups are meeting required points to solve their problems.



Hand out a copy of the reflection exercise to participants and give them 10 minutes to complete independently.



Again, Remind participants not to panic! Hand out a questionnaire to all participants. This questionnaire is used to test how much they have learned from the workshop by comparing their pre and post test scores. There is no pass or fail score. After 15 minutes, the instructor will read answers aloud and participants will correct their own quiz. The instructor should also hand out a course evaluation form to all participants and ask them to complete. At the end of the workshop, participants can put their feedback form on the instructor desk face down to ensure anonymity. The instructor will collect pre and post test from all participants to review.



Thank participants for attending the workshop. Tell participants they will receive a certificate of completion via email in approximately 24 hours.

References

Ali, L., Saifan, A., Ahimawai, I., & Atout, M. (2021). Nursus' perceptions toward factors that cause medication errors in Jordan: A qualitative analy. Perspectives in Psychiatric Care, 37(5), 1417–1428. https://doi.org/10.1111/pps.12707 Astrif, G. A., Sheb, N. A., Mahmoud, M. A., Alondah, N., Grartz, E., Ajabaye, H., & Shahk, A. (2015). What is the epidemiology of medication errors, interactive address events and risk factors for errors in solidin managed in community cars content? A systematic review of the international linearance. 34(6), 06, 8(6), 902101-045101. https://doi.org/10.1184/00002002-0017-01010

Athanasakis, E. (2019). A meta-synthesis of how registered nurses make sense of their lived experiences of medication errors. Journal of Clinical Nursing., 28(1718), 3077–3095. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/journ.14917</u>

Bengrisson, M., Ekschhl, A.-B. I., & Sjöström, K. (2021). Errors inhied to medication management in nursing homes: an interview study. BMC Nursing, 20(1), 60-69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1156/17931-021-00375-9</u>
 Berland, A., & Baema, S. B. (2017). Medication errors in home cars: a qualitative focus group study. Journal of Clinical Nursing, 26(21-22), 3734-3741. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocu.1725</u>

Billignant, A., Costas, S. K., Kloppe, H. C., & Ellis, S. M. (2017). Medication administration errors and related deviations from safe practice: an observational analy. Journal of Clusteri Neursing, 20(21-22), 3410–3623. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13723</u>). Castado, A. (2022). Fectors contributing to madication errors: A descriptive qualitative study of Italian nursing andents. Neuro Education Today, 118. Chargid M.A., Monocheri, H., Mohammadhujid, E., & Patensi, S. R. (2013). Types and causes of medication errors from nurse's viewpoint. Iranian Journal of Neuroing and Midwifery Research, 16(5), 228–231.

Ches. Law. S.-M. They, L. Kun, C. Call, and J. Kim, N. K. So Sah, D. C. (2017). If Graddens and transmisst costs, amplituible to medication agrows in Law S.-M. They are a strained for the strained strained between the formatory of the Sam Sam Sam Sam Sam Sam Sa College of Licensed Practical Nurses of Alberts. (no.1). Medication administration solid study correct https://taujuwith.tipus.com/sedicationadministration/

References

Collage of Registered Neurosci of Neurosci Neurosci and Labrador. (2019). Medication monogeneous, <u>https://www.icen.org/10.1016/j.col.2017.001/j.col.2017.00</u>

autoreconstruction of the second s

Policy-Medication-Strongs.pdf
Institute for Split Additions-Strongs.pdf
Canada Splity Multima, Split Additions-Brough (2002) Describer 22), Madicating man for according to provide in human incidents over classification and produced splits Multima, Split Additional Splits (2002) 11:5486
Conside Splits Multima, Split Coals, 2 (2002) Describer 22), Madicating and Economy (2002) Providence adopted to provide the split of th

AA



Appendix D: Agenda

Agenda

- 0900-0915: Introduction/ Ice Breaker Activity
- 0915-0925: Medication Management Questionnaire (pre-test)
- 0925-1025: Medication Management (lecture)
- 1025-1045: Coffee Break (light refreshments provided)
- 1045-1115: Case Studies
- 1115-1125: Break
- 1125-1205: Simulation
- 1205-1215: Reflection
- 1215-1230: Medication Management Questionnaire (post-
- test)/Workshop Evaluation



Appendix E: Ice Breaker Activity

Ice Breaker Activity Questions

If you could only eat one food for the rest of your life,

what would it be?

What is the best superpower?

What is a weird fact you know?

What is your favorite holiday?

What is the best piece of advice you have ever gotten

at work?

What was your first job?

Which beverage goes best with pizza?

If you could try any food, what would it be?

What bucket list item do you want to check off next?

What movie made you laugh hard?

What was your best class in school?

Are you more productive in the morning or at night?

Appendix F: Medication Management Questionnaire (Pretest & Post-test)

Medication Management Questionnaire

Name:

Directions: Please read the questions carefully and circle your answer.

1. What steps can the DSW take to prevent a medication error? (select all that apply)

- a. Complete three checks before administering medication
- b. Prepare medication in a room that is dimly light with distractions present
- c. Identify the client using two identifiers
- d. Sign the medication record before administering
- e. Prepare medication for one client at a time
- 2. An adverse drug event (ADE) is one of the impacts of medication errors on clients?
 - a. True
 - b. False

3. What temperature should medications that require refrigeration be stored at?

- a. 2°- 8° C
- b. 0°- 5° C
- c. 3°- 9° C
- d. 1°- 6° C

4. When should the DSW check medications during medication preparation? (select

all that apply)

- a. Before pouring
- b. After administering
- c. While pouring
- d. The DSW does not need to check medications at anytime

e. After pouring (before administering)

5. Which of the following are considered part of the eight rights of medication administration (select all that apply)?

- a. Right dose
- b. Right response
- c. Right knowledge
- d. Right reason
- e. Right client
- 6. When there is more than one client in a residence, the DSW should always prepare medications for both clients at the same time.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 7. The medication administration record should always be signed before administering the medication.
 - a. True
 - b. False
- 8. All medication errors must be reported, regardless of the outcome.
 - a. True
 - b. False

9. When a medication error is made, what is the priority?

- a. Document the error
- b. Examine the client and determine if medical attention is required
- c. Call the manager

d. Nothing, making a medication error is not a big deal

10. If a client refuses medication, what should the DSW do with the medication?

- a. Flush it down the sink or toilet
- b. Put it in a Ziploc bag and bring it to the pharmacy for disposal
- c. Put it back in the secure location and administer it next time
- d. Throw it in the garbage

Medication Management Questionnaire- Answer Key

- 1. A, C, E
- 2. A
- 3. A
- 4. A, C, E
- 5. A, B, D, E
- 6. B
- 7. B
- 8. A
- 9. B
- 10. B

Appendix G: Case Studies

Medication Documentation

Jane is a new DSW who is working her first night shift at a local residence with two clients. Jane is shadowing another DSW, Annie, for her first shift. Jane has completed her required medication management training but has not had the opportunity to administer medication yet. Annie tells Jane that she will give prepare and administer the clients' medication tonight but advises Jane that she can go ahead and sign the medication administration record.

- 1. Should Jane sign the medication administration record? Why or why not?
- 2. When should the medication administration record be signed (before or after medication administration)? Why?

Medication Preparation & Administration

Jack is the only DSW on shift at a local residence with two clients today. At 1000, he begins medication preparation for his clients. To save time, he decides to prepare medications for both clients at the same time. Once the medications are prepared, Jack signs the medication record for both clients before administering so he won't forget. Jack is a new casual DSW and has not worked at this home before. The outgoing DSW introduced him to the clients, but now he can't remember who client KW is and who client TT is. Jack thinks that KW had blonde hair, while TT had black hair. He assumes he is correct and administers their medication.

- Did Jack follow protocol for preparing, administering, and documenting medication? Why or why not?
- 2. When Jack assumed the identity of KS and JJ, was he at risk of making a medication error? What should he have done to ensure correctly identify each client?

Rights of Medication Administration

Daisy is a DSW on shift today at a local residence with one client. This client was prescribed amoxicillin 500 mg twice daily last evening for suspected pneumonia. Daisy is supposed to administer the first tablet at 1000 this morning. The client has not taken amoxicillin before, so Daisy knows she must closely monitor the client.

- 1. Which of the eight medication rights is Daisy adhering too?
- 2. If the client develops a reaction (i.e., hives, swelling), what should daisy do first?

Medication Administration (The Challenging Client)

Luke is the DSW on shift at a local residence with one client. Since Luke is new to this residence, he reads the client information before starting his shift. He reads a note in her chart that states "client will hoard medications in her mouth or elsewhere (if given the opportunity). At 1000, Luke prepares the client's medication and goes to the living room to administer to the client. The client states "I'm not ready to take my medication yet, just leave it on the table for me".

- 1. Should Luke leave her medication on the table without monitoring? Why or why not?
- 2. If this client is known to hoard medication in her mouth, what should Luke do following medication administration?

Case Study Discussion Points- Answer Key

Medication Documentation

- Jane should not sign the medication administration record
- She did not administer the medication, so she should not sign a legal document indicating that she did
- The medication administration record must be signed after medication administration. This indicates that the medication was actually administered. The client may refuse, vomit, etc., and in this case the medication administration record would need to be signed differently.

Medication Preparation & Administration

- Jack did not follow protocol for preparing, administering, and documenting medication.
 He prepared medication for more than one client at a time, he signed the medication
 record before administering and did not seek appropriate identification.
- Jack was at risk of making a medication error when he assumed the identify of both clients. He should have looked at their pictures on their chart and asked them their name.

Rights of Medication Administration

- Daisy is adhering to the "right response" medication right
- If the client develops a reaction, daisy's first priority should be to monitor the client and determine if medical treatment is needed

Medication Administration (The Challenging Client)

• Luke should not leave the medication on the table without monitoring, as this client is known to hoard medication and DSWs are responsible for all medication administered.

As per policy, DSWs must see the client take the medication so he can sign the medication administration record.

• Luke should ask the client to open her mouth after administering to ensure she did not hide the medication in her cheeks or under her tongue.

Appendix H: Simulation

Vomiting After Medication Administration

The aim of this scenario is to allow Development Support Workers to practice the essential medication checks required to ensure safe and accurate administration to residents in the Momentum care facility. In this simulation scenario, you are a Development Support Worker (DSW) responsible for administering medication to a client in a Momentum residence. You are required to perform three vital medication checks before administering any medication to ensure the resident's safety and well-being.

In your group, determine who will be DSW #1, DSW #2, DSW #3, and DSW #4 (if required). Each DSW is assigned a medication time below. DSW's will be required to read the medication administration record to determine which medications they are responsible for administering and follow the scenario steps listed. Before you begin, please read the case study as a group to get some background information about your client. Once each DSW has administered their required medications, work together as a group to solve the medication management problem described below. Note: If you need to document additional notes, please use the blank paper provided.

Scenario Steps:

Step 1: Check medication order

- You receive a medication administration task from your supervisor.
- You are given access to the medication cart, a medication administration record (MAR), and the prescribed medication for the resident.

Step 2: Prepare medication for administration

- Begin by gathering the necessary supplies, including the medication, a medication cup, a glass of water, and gloves.
- Ensure that you have identified the correct resident using two patient identifiers, such as their name and date of birth.

- Examine the medication label to verify that it matches the MAR. Three checks must be completed (before pouring, while pouring, after pouring).
- Confirm the resident's name and date of birth on the MAR match the details on the medication label.
- Ensure that the medication is in the correct form (e.g., tablet, liquid) as prescribed.
- Review the medication's purpose, dosage, and any special instructions on the MAR.
- Cross-reference this information with what is written on the medication label.
- Confirm that you understand the medication's purpose and potential side effects.
- Reconfirm the resident's identity by asking them their name and checking their wristband or identification.
- Ensure that the resident is aware of the medication they are about to receive.
- Ask the resident about any known allergies or previous adverse reactions to medications

Step 3: Administer the Medication

• If all checks are successful and there are no concerns, proceed to administer the medication according to the prescribed method (e.g., with food, without food).

Step 4: Document & Follow-Up:

- Document the administration on the MAR, including the date, time, and your initials.
- Store the medication securely and return any unused medication to the designated storage area.
- Ensure the resident is comfortable and address any immediate questions or concerns.

Case Scenario

Jane Doe is a 35-year-old female with an intellectual disability and major depression. She has

been living in a local residence provided by Momentum for approximately 2.5 years. She

requires one DSW 24/7 to meet her needs. Her medications times are:

0800 - assigned to DSW #1

1200- assigned to DSW #2

1400- assigned to DSW #3

1700- assigned to DSW #4

Problem: After administering Jane Doe's 0800 medication, she vomits immediately and tells the DSW she is not feeling well today. What would you do in this situation?

Refusing Medication

The aim of this scenario is to allow Development Support Workers to practice the essential medication checks required to ensure safe and accurate administration to residents in the Momentum care facility. In this simulation scenario, you are a Development Support Worker (DSW) responsible for administering medication to a client in a Momentum residence. You are required to perform three vital medication checks before administering any medication to ensure the resident's safety and well-being.

In your group, determine who will be DSW #1, DSW #2, DSW #3, and DSW #4 (if required). Each DSW is assigned a medication time below. DSW's will be required to read the medication administration record to determine which medications they are responsible for administering and follow the scenario steps listed. Before you begin, please read the case study as a group to get some background information about your client. Once each DSW has administered their required medications, work together as a group to solve the medication management problem described below. Note: If you need to document additional notes, please use the blank paper provided.

Scenario Steps:

Step 1: Check medication order

- You receive a medication administration task from your supervisor.
- You are given access to the medication cart, a medication administration record (MAR), and the prescribed medication for the resident.

Step 2: Prepare medication for administration

- Begin by gathering the necessary supplies, including the medication, a medication cup, a glass of water, and gloves.
- Ensure that you have identified the correct resident using two patient identifiers, such as their name and date of birth.
- Examine the medication label to verify that it matches the MAR. Three checks must be completed (before pouring, while pouring, after pouring).

- Confirm the resident's name and date of birth on the MAR match the details on the medication label.
- Ensure that the medication is in the correct form (e.g., tablet, liquid) as prescribed.
- Review the medication's purpose, dosage, and any special instructions on the MAR.
- Cross-reference this information with what is written on the medication label.
- Confirm that you understand the medication's purpose and potential side effects.
- Reconfirm the resident's identity by asking them their name and checking their wristband or identification.
- Ensure that the resident is aware of the medication they are about to receive.
- Ask the resident about any known allergies or previous adverse reactions to medications.

Step 3: Administer the Medication

• If all checks are successful and there are no concerns, proceed to administer the medication according to the prescribed method (e.g., with food, without food).

Step 4: Document & Follow-Up:

- Document the administration on the MAR, including the date, time, and your initials.
- Store the medication securely and return any unused medication to the designated storage area.
- Ensure the resident is comfortable and address any immediate questions or concerns.

Case Scenario

John Doe is a 65-year-old male who has been living in a residence provided by Momentum for 4

years. He is diagnosed with an intellectual disability, anxiety, and schizophrenia. His medication

times are:

0800 - assigned to DSW #1

1200- assigned to DSW #2

1400- assigned to DSW #3

1700- assigned to DSW #4
Problem: When John Doe is approached with his 1700 medication, he tells the DSW he is not taking it because it makes the voices in his head worse. What should the DSW do?

Medication Error

The aim of this scenario is to allow Development Support Workers to practice the essential medication checks required to ensure safe and accurate administration to residents in the Momentum care facility. In this simulation scenario, you are a Development Support Worker (DSW) responsible for administering medication to a client in a Momentum residence. You are required to perform three vital medication checks before administering any medication to ensure the resident's safety and well-being.

In your group, determine who will be DSW #1, DSW #2, DSW #3, and DSW #4 (if required). Each DSW is assigned a medication time below. DSW's will be required to read the medication administration record to determine which medications they are responsible for administering and follow the scenario steps listed. Before you begin, please read the case study as a group to get some background information about your client. Once each DSW has administered their required medications, work together as a group to solve the medication management problem described below. Note: If you need to document additional notes, please use the blank paper provided.

Scenario Steps:

Step 1: Check medication order

- You receive a medication administration task from your supervisor.
- You are given access to the medication cart, a medication administration record (MAR), and the prescribed medication for the resident.

Step 2: Prepare medication for administration

- Begin by gathering the necessary supplies, including the medication, a medication cup, a glass of water, and gloves.
- Ensure that you have identified the correct resident using two patient identifiers, such as their name and date of birth.

- Examine the medication label to verify that it matches the MAR. Three checks must be completed (before pouring, while pouring, after pouring).
- Confirm the resident's name and date of birth on the MAR match the details on the medication label.
- Ensure that the medication is in the correct form (e.g., tablet, liquid) as prescribed.
- Review the medication's purpose, dosage, and any special instructions on the MAR.
- Cross-reference this information with what is written on the medication label.
- Confirm that you understand the medication's purpose and potential side effects.
- Reconfirm the resident's identity by asking them their name and checking their wristband or identification.
- Ensure that the resident is aware of the medication they are about to receive.
- Ask the resident about any known allergies or previous adverse reactions to medications.

Step 3: Administer the Medication

• If all checks are successful and there are no concerns, proceed to administer the medication according to the prescribed method (e.g., with food, without food).

Step 4: Document & Follow-Up:

- Document the administration on the MAR, including the date, time, and your initials.
- Store the medication securely and return any unused medication to the designated storage area.
- Ensure the resident is comfortable and address any immediate questions or concerns.

Case Scenario

Suzy is a 40-year-old female who has been living in a residence provided by Momentum for 6

years. She is diagnosed with an autism, anxiety, and depression. Her medication times are:

0800 - assigned to DSW #1

1200- assigned to DSW #2

1400- assigned to DSW #3

1700- assigned to DSW #4

Problem: After administering Suzy's 1400 medication, the DSW notices that they made a mistake and took the wrong blister (1700 medications instead). What should the DSW do?

Missing Medication

The aim of this scenario is to allow Development Support Workers to practice the essential medication checks required to ensure safe and accurate administration to residents in the Momentum care facility. In this simulation scenario, you are a Development Support Worker (DSW) responsible for administering medication to a client in a Momentum residence. You are required to perform three vital medication checks before administering any medication to ensure the resident's safety and well-being.

In your group, determine who will be DSW #1, DSW #2, DSW #3, and DSW #4 (if required). Each DSW is assigned a medication time below. DSW's will be required to read the medication administration record to determine which medications they are responsible for administering and follow the scenario steps listed. Before you begin, please read the case study as a group to get some background information about your client. Once each DSW has administered their required medications, work together as a group to solve the medication management problem described below. Note: If you need to document additional notes, please use the blank paper provided.

Scenario Steps:

Step 1: Check medication order

- You receive a medication administration task from your supervisor.
- You are given access to the medication cart, a medication administration record (MAR), and the prescribed medication for the resident.

Step 2: Prepare medication for administration

- Begin by gathering the necessary supplies, including the medication, a medication cup, a glass of water, and gloves.
- Ensure that you have identified the correct resident using two patient identifiers, such as their name and date of birth.

- Examine the medication label to verify that it matches the MAR. Three checks must be completed (before pouring, while pouring, after pouring).
- Confirm the resident's name and date of birth on the MAR match the details on the medication label.
- Ensure that the medication is in the correct form (e.g., tablet, liquid) as prescribed.
- Review the medication's purpose, dosage, and any special instructions on the MAR.
- Cross-reference this information with what is written on the medication label.
- Confirm that you understand the medication's purpose and potential side effects.
- Reconfirm the resident's identity by asking them their name and checking their wristband or identification.
- Ensure that the resident is aware of the medication they are about to receive.
- Ask the resident about any known allergies or previous adverse reactions to medications.

Step 3: Administer the Medication

• If all checks are successful and there are no concerns, proceed to administer the medication according to the prescribed method (e.g., with food, without food).

Step 4: Document & Follow-Up:

- Document the administration on the MAR, including the date, time, and your initials.
- Store the medication securely and return any unused medication to the designated storage area.
- Ensure the resident is comfortable and address any immediate questions or concerns.

Case Scenario

Bob is a 53-year-old male who has been living in a residence provided by Momentum for 2

years. He is diagnosed with autism, ADHD, and bipolar. His medication times are:

0800 - assigned to DSW #1

1200- assigned to DSW #2

1400- assigned to DSW #3

1700- assigned to DSW #4

Problem: Upon preparing Bob's 1200 medication and completing the three medication checks, the DSW notices that one of the required medications listed on the medication administration record is missing from the blister pack. What should the DSW do?

Simulation Exercises- Group Problem Solving Answers

Vomiting After Medication Administration

For the problem in this simulation, group members should discuss calling the pharmacy for further instruction. DSWs would be required to follow the pharmacy instructions and document details of the incident via a medical incident report.

Refusing Medication

For the problem in this simulation, group members should discuss reattempting to administer the medication to the client within the specified window period. If the client continues to refuse and the window period is ended, DSWs must write an "R" on the medication administration record and their initials and document the refusal on a medical incident report. The medication will be placed in a Ziploc bag and returned to the pharmacy for disposal.

Medication Error

For the problem in this simulation, group members should discuss monitoring the client as the main priority and determine if medical treatment is necessary. DSWs would be required to follow pharmacy instruction. The residence manager should also be informed. Finally, a medical incident report would be completed with details of the medication error.

Missing Medication

For the problem in this simulation, group members should discuss calling the pharmacy for further instruction. DSWs would be required to follow the instructions and document details of the incident on a medical incident report.

Appendix I: Medication Administration Record

MEDICATION ADMINISTRATION RECORD

NAME OF RESIDENT _____

PAGE _____ OF _____

Month/Year:

MEDICATION	TIME	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29	30	31

Appendix J: Reflection

Reflection Exercise

Directions: Please take 10 minutes to think about the simulation exercise you just completed and answer the following questions. This is for your personal learning and does not need to be shared with the group or the instructor.

- 1. How confident do you feel administering medication to clients after completing the simulation exercise?
 - a. Very confident
 - b. Somewhat confident
 - c. Neutral
 - d. Somewhat unconfident
 - e. Very unconfident
- 1. What did you do well during this simulation exercise?

2. What did you not do well during this simulation exercise?

3. How can you improve your medication management skills?

Appendix K: Workshop Evaluation

Course Evaluation

Medication Management Half-Day Workshop

Course Instructor:

Date:_____

Please put a checkmark in the box to indicate your choice.

	Strongly	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly
	Agree				Disagree
The training met my					
expectations					
The training objectives					
were clearly identified					
and followed					
The content was					
organized and easy to					
follow					
There was adequate time					
for discussion and					
questions					
The materials					
distributed were					
pertinent to my learning					

The training room was			
comfortable and			
conducive to my			
learning			
The instructor was			
knowledgeable about			
the topic			
The instructor			
communicated			
effectively			
I had enough time to			
practice skills			
I will be able to apply			
this training to practice			

What did you enjoy most about this workshop?

What did you enjoy least about this workshop?

How can this workshop be improved?

Appendix L: Certificate

Certificate of Completion

This certificate is awarded to

for the completion of

Medication Management Half-Day Workshop

for Developmental Support Workers

Instructor Signature

Date